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CORPORATE
INFORMATION

AUDIT COMMITTEE*
Chew Yock Fat
Chairman / Independent Non-Executive Director
(retired on 28 July 2020)

Lim Hock Aun 
Chairman / Independent Non-Executive Director
(appointed on 21 October 2020)

Chu Kan
Member / Independent Non-Executive Director

Hau Hock Khun
Member / Independent Non-Executive Director 

Rita Tai Lai Ling 
Member / Independent Non-Executive Director 

Note:-
* �The Board of Directors had on 22 January 2021 
merged the Audit Committee and Risk Management 
Committee into a single committee known as the 
Audit and Risk Management Committee.
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Chu Kan
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Hau Hock Khun
Member / Independent Non-Executive Director
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(retired on 28 July 2020)
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Unit 30-01, Level 30, Tower A
Vertical Business Suite, Avenue 3
Bangsar South, No 8, Jalan Kerinchi
59200 Kuala Lumpur.
Tel : (03) 2783 9191
Fax : (03) 2783 9111

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
No. 6, Jalan TSB 1
Taman Industri Sungai Buloh
47000 Sungai Buloh
Selangor Darul Ehsan.
Tel : (03) 6157 6339
Fax : (03) 6156 8918
Email : info@hlhightech.com
Website : www.hlhightech.com
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Boardroom Share Registrars Sdn Bhd
11th Floor, Menara Symphony
No. 5, Jalan Prof, Khoo Kay Kim
Seksyen 13 
46200 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor Darul Ehsan.
Tel : (03) 7890 4700
Fax : (03) 7890 4670
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Grant Thornton Malaysia PLT
Chartered Accountants
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Hong Leong Bank Berhad
CIMB Bank Berhad
OCBC Bank (Malaysia) Berhad
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Main Market of the Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad 
Stock Name : HIGHTEC
Stock Code : 7033

TAN LYE HUAT
Group Executive Chairman & Managing Director

TAN SOOK YEE
Executive Director

CHU KAN
Independent Non-Executive Director

HAU HOCK KHUN
Independent Non-Executive Director

RITA TAI LAI LING 
Independent Non-Executive Director 

LIM HOCK AUN
Independent Non-Executive Director
(appointed on 21 October 2020)

CHEW YOCK FAT 
Independent Non-Executive Director
(retired on 28 July 2020)

BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Hau Hock Khun
Chairman / Independent Non-Executive Director 

Rita Tai Lai Ling
Member / Independent Non-Executive Director

Chu Kan
Member / Independent Non-Executive Director

Chew Yock Fat 
Member / Independent Non-Executive Director
(retired on 28 July 2020)

RISK MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE*
Tan Sook Yee 
Chairperson / Executive Director

Chu Kan			 
Member / Independent Non-Executive Director

Rita Tai Lai Ling 			 
Member / Independent Non-Executive Director 

Hau Hock Khun
Member / Independent Non-Executive Director 

Chew Yock Fat 
Member / Independent Non-Executive Director
(retired on 28 July 2020)

COMPANY SECRETARIES
Ng Bee Lian 
[SSM PC NO. 201908003459 (MAICSA 7041392)]

Wong Wai Foong 
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Yap Sit Lee
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INVESTOR RELATIONS
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CORPORATE
STRUCTURE

KUMPULAN H & L HIGH-TECH 
BERHAD

Investment Holdings.

H & L HIGH-TECH SDN BHD
Manufacture and sale of precision 
engineering moulds, jigs, fixtures, 
tools and other machine parts.

H & L HIGH-TECH PROPERTIES 
DEVELOPMENT SDN BHD
Properties development.

STC TECHNOLOGY 
SDN BHD
Dormant.

PLASTIK STC SDN BHD
Manufacture and sale of customised 
precision engineering plastic 
injection moulded thermoplastic and 
thermosett parts and components for 
electrical and electronic industry.

HLH DESA COALFIELDS 
SDN BHD
Dormant.

H & L HIGH-TECH 
DECO SDN BHD
Oil palm plantation.

H & L HIGH-TECH 
PROPERTIES SDN BHD
Letting of properties 
and property investment.



KUMPULAN H &  L  HIGH-TECH BERHAD

4

5 YEARS’ FINANCIAL
HIGHLIGHTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 OCTOBER
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

RM 000 RM 000 RM 000 RM 000 RM 000

Group Revenue  19,127  22,179  24,578  22,619 18,507
Profit Before Tax  4,422  6,990  6,626  4,337 2,766
Profit Attributable to Shareholder  3,458  5,570  3,521  3,358 2,431
Paid Up Capital  40,612  40,612  40,612  40,612 40,612
Total Assets  96,100  103,961  107,163  115,284 124,580
Shareholders’ Equity  83,763  90,827  92,789  94,924 96,464
Net Earnings per Share (sen)* 9.45 15.23 9.63 9.18 6.65
Net Tangible Assets per Share (RM)*  2.29 2.84  2.93 3.15 2.64
Dividend (sen)  3.50  3.50  1.50  3.50 3.00

FYE 2017 & FYE 2018 restated in FYE 2019’s report
* Excluding treasury shares

2016

2016

2016

2016

0

0

0

0

5,000

20,000

1,500

5

10,000

40,000

3,000

10

15,000

60,000

4,500

15

20,000

80,000

6,000

20

25,000

100,000

7,500

25

30,000 9,000

18
,5
07

96
,4
64

6.
65

2,
76
6

2017

2017

2017

2017

19
,1
27

83
,7
63

9.
45

4,
42
2

2018

2018

2018

2018

22
,1
79

90
,8
27

15
.2
3

6,
99
0

2019

2019

2019

2019

24
,5
78

92
,7
89

9.
63

6,
62
6

2020

2020

2020

2020

22
,6
19

94
,9
24

9.
18

4,
33
7

GROUP REVENUE
(RM’000)

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(RM’000)

PROFIT BEFORE TAX
(RM’000)

NET EARNINGS PER SHARE
(sen)



ANNUAL  R EPORT  2 0 2 0

5

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

OVERVIEW OF CORE BUSINESSES

The principal activities of Kumpulan H & L High-Tech Berhad in the financial year ended 31 October 2020 (“FY2020” or “2020”) are 
divided into three business segments and there are no changes since the year before:

•	 Manufacturing and sale of precision engineering moulds (PEM) and machine parts, and customisation of precision 
engineering plastic injection moulds and components catering to sectors such as automotive, consumer, electrical, industrial 
and medical.

•	 Property investment and property development
•	 Cultivation of oil palm plantation

OVERVIEW OF THE GROUP’S BUSINESS IN FY2020

Manufacturing

The overall revenue contribution from our manufacturing business reduced from RM17.44 million to RM12.73 million with a 
decline of segment profit of 67.7%, from RM2.66 million in FY2019 to RM0.86 million in FY2020. The major impact came from 
a drastic decline in our precision engineering moulding (PEM) segment due to the Movement Control Order (MCO) and the 
Covid-19 which affected our production and export capacity. Furthermore, the reduction in consumer spending and industrial 
demand due to the global economic slowdown as a result of the pandemic had severely shrunk our manufacturing revenue.

The exports of our products to our international market segments in Europe and Southeast Asia suffered from shipment 
disruptions and delays. The plastic segment also experienced a slowdown due to reduced demand from the automotive, 
consumer, electrical and industrial sectors. Although there was an increase in demand from the medical sector due to the 
Covid-19 healthcare crisis, it was minimal and insufficient to make up for the revenue shortfall from our manufacturing 
business.

Up to the date of this report, manufacturing segment turned profitable as we will continue to strive for better cost management 
by constantly reviewing our operations and adopting more cost-efficient processes in order to compete in current highly 
competitive market.

Property investment 
and property development Plantation

The property investment segment saw slightly lower income 
as a result of rental discounts given to certain tenants affected 
by the Covid-19 pandemic and the Movement Control Order. 
For property development, there are a few unsold units left 
in our Ipoh project, thereby this segment recorded a decline 
in profits.

Few years back, we have bought few pieces of adjoining land 
in Selangor near Desa Coalfields and expecting this land 
bank will contribute to the group’s revenue in near future by 
collaborate with experienced developer.

Fresh Fruit Bunch (FFB) production for 2020 improved with 
6,579 metric tonnes (MT) recorded, showing an increase 
of 6.9% in 2020 compared to 2019. Despite the Covid-19 
pandemic which hampered travel and movement, and 
caused disruptions to the supply chain, production of Fresh 
Fruit Bunch (FFB) in the first half of 2020 saw a healthy 
increase. In the second half of 2020, Crude Palm Oil (CPO) 
exports increased and this drove CPO prices up which was 
favourable to our business and this segment recorded a 
revenue increase of 49.5% compared to the preceding year.

We expect the FFB production to continue the uptrend as 
more acreage of trees start bearing fruits from new leases 
of land since 2018 and up to the date of this report (for 
first quarter ended 31 January 2021) the weighted average 
FFB selling price has increased by 35.9% to RM696 per MT 
compared to RM512 for the quarter ended 31 January 2020.
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FINANCIAL AND OPERATION PERFORMANCE 
OF THE GROUP

The group achieved a total revenue of RM18.51 million which 
is a decline of 18.2% compared to 2019. This had consequently 
resulted in a 36.2% drop in Profit Before Tax (PBT) to RM1.57 
million. The losses were mainly due to the manufacturing 
segment which suffered from lower sales of RM4.70 million. 
Profit After Tax (PAT) also suffered a major decline by 
approximately RM0.93 million in 2020.

For the financial year ended on 31 October 2020, the precision 
moulds manufacturing segment revenue declined by RM2.20 
million, the manufacturing of plastic category saw revenue 
declined by 17.6% and the PAT reduced by 29.8%. Both the 
precision moulds and precision plastic were affected by the 
lower industrial demand caused by the Covid-19 pandemic.

In the property investment and property development segment, 
the revenue decreased by 15.1% or RM0.46 million to RM2.59 
million. This was mainly due to lower sales from the remaining 
unsold units.

In the plantation segment, we saw our revenue increased by 
49.5%, or RM1.05 million. This was due to an increase in Fresh 
Fruits Bunch (FFB) output and a higher weighted average selling 
price of RM483 per metric tonne, an increase of 39.8%. 

OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL AND OPERATION 
PERFORMANCE

The group achieved a total revenue of RM18.51 million, which 
was RM4.11 million lower from RM22.62 million in 2019, 
signifying a decline of 18.2%. With the revenue decline, profit 
before tax (PBT) fell RM1.57 million or 36.2%. 

The factors for the decline are the lower revenue from the 
manufacturing business of about RM4.70 million, lower sales 
from property development, lower fair value adjustment 
compared to 2019 at RM0.01 million and lower rental income 
due to the discounts given to tenants during the Movement 
Control Order. Despite the increase in revenue of plantation 
segment by 49.5%, equivalent to RM1.05 million, and the 
increase in financial income of 5.2%, these were insufficient to 
compensate for the decrease in revenue in the manufacturing 
segment.

Profit After Tax is at RM2.43 million, which is lower by RM0.93 
million versus 2019, mainly due to reduction in turnover in the 
manufacturing segment despite increase in plantation.

WORKING CAPITAL

Total current assets stood at RM33.43 million with a working 
capital ratio of more than 9 times, better than 8 times in 2019. 
The group continues its prudence policy on working capital 
management. 

Total liquid assets stood at RM26.78 million versus total 
borrowings of RM10.01 million. The biggest component of 
working capital besides liquid cash was receivables which 
stood at RM2.72 million versus RM2.85 last year. The average 
collection period is 63 days, 11 days higher than 2019. Despite 
higher collection days, there have been no bad debts written off 
or provision of doubt debts.

Cash and cash equivalent at the end of October 2020 was 
RM26.78 million, reporting an increase of RM0.88 million, or 
3.4%, compared to the cash equivalent of RM25.90 million in 
2019. Total long term and short-term borrowings for the same 
period was RM10.01 million, a reduction of RM1.04 million 
compared to last year.

CAPITAL INVESTMENT

There were no major capital investments incurred during 
FY2020 and it is the strategy of the capital management to 
maintain a maximum gearing ratio of 50%.

The gearing ratio (total borrowing/equity) is at 10.37%, an 
improvement from 11.64% in 2019 mainly due to increase in 
equity and repayment of loan.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS IN 2021

The World Bank projects Malaysia’s economy to grow by 
6.7%, subject to the vaccine rollout and smart containment of 
outbreaks of Covid-19. The growth projection is second only to 
the projections for China and Vietnam within the same region. 
The biggest factor which impeded our manufacturing and 
property businesses in 2020 was the pandemic which affected 
local and global markets. With the vaccine being rolled out 
in stages and economic activities picking up pace, the group 
is expecting a recovery in its businesses but is observing a 
cautious and tempered attitude with regards to growth.

Manufacturing

With global market economies and trade resuming, the 
manufacturing business is anticipated to record more profits 
this year with a gradual return to our full manufacturing 
capacity. The recovery is expected to accelerate starting from 
the second half of 2021 when our main markets in the United 
States of America and Europe and its population receive the 
vaccinations completely. 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(CONT’D)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(CONT’D)

Property investment and development

Property investment is expected to be stable as the group 
employs measures to retain current tenants and ensure that 
empty units are rented out as soon as possible. As for property 
development, the group is not optimistic with the sale of unsold 
units in its property in Ipoh as it will take a few years for the 
economy to bounce back to its full strength and this is subject 
to the political situation in the country. 

Plantation

The outlook for the Malaysian palm oil industry is expected to 
be better in 2021 with business resuming, improved production 
by producers and higher consumption in traditional markets. 
Global demand for palm oil is expected to gain greater recovery 
by the second half of 2021. At present, crude palm oil (CPO) 
prices are rising and are priced at above RM3,000 per tonne 
since late last year. 

The group has low lease commitments because in 2019, it 
entered into 11 cancellable Renting Agreements with an 
incremental increase of rent after 3 years. The group will be 
exempted from rental charges if the oil palm trees are infected 
by disease, thus reducing the risk on the plantation business.

RISK FACTORS

Trade War between China and the US

Although the US and China signed a new trade agreement in 
January 2020 to balance the trading between both countries, 
not much improvement was seen as it took place right before 
the pandemic hit globally in March 2020. This had a dampening 
effect on our manufacturing and palm oil production. Although 
China sought produce imports from nearby Asian countries 
and Malaysia enjoyed a marginal increase in exports, it had a 
negligible impact on our industries. It is hoped that the new 
US Administration led by President Joe Biden will introduce 
positive changes to stop the trade war and reinitiate trade 
relations between both countries.

Coronavirus (Covid-19) Pandemic 

The Movement Control Order imposed by the Government 
of Malaysia to control the spread of the pandemic shut down 
most businesses for a period of approximately 2 months. 
During this period, our Group adopted new ways of conducting 
our business. We incorporated work-from-home and remote 
working for the staff based in the management office. In our 
manufacturing facilities, we implemented the recommended 
Standard Operating Procedures (SOP) of regular sanitation, 
monitoring of our staff’s health and daily records, as well as to 
adhere to social distancing requirements.

By early May, we resumed our operations after receiving the 
green light from the Ministry of International Trade and Industry 
(MITI) which allowed certain economic sectors to operate at full 
capacity workforce. Although our operations were not severely 
affected, our manufacturing output suffered some delays 
due to travel restrictions and logistical hiccups caused by the 
lockdowns.

In 2021, with the vaccine being rolled out in stages all over 
the world and borders gradually opening up, there may be a 
slight recovery for our manufacturing demand. However, this 
is subject to global economic growth and the containment of 
the Covid-19 virus worldwide. Overall, the group is maintaining 
a cautious and conservative outlook and adopting a defensive 
strategy.  

Manpower Shortage

The manufacturing and plantation segments are heavily reliant 
on foreign workers. With the Covid-19 pandemic which caused 
a freeze on the hiring of foreign workers and suspended travel 
across borders, the group is facing shortage of manpower for our 
business operations in 2020. With the vaccines being rolled out 
globally in stages, it will take a period of time for inter-borders 
travel to commence. In the meantime, we are retraining our 
manpower with new skills and doing our best to retain talents.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The declaration of interim dividends and the recommendation 
of final dividends (if applicable) are subject to the discretion 
of the Board and any final dividend for the year is subject to 
shareholders’ approval.

We have not formulated a dividend policy or payout ratio 
but historically the company has been distributing dividends 
regularly.

We recognise that it is important to reward our investors with 
dividends. Therefore, it is our intention to declare dividends and 
recommend final dividends in the future to allow shareholders 
to enjoy the profits, subject to various factors including, financial 
performance and cash flow requirement.
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PROFILE OF THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

& KEY SENIOR MANAGEMENT

TAN LYE HUAT
Group Executive Chairman and Managing Director

• Key Senior Management

TAN SOOK YEE
Executive Director

• Key Senior Management

Tan Lye Huat (Mr Tan), Malaysian, Male, aged 67, was appointed 
as Group Executive Chairman and Managing Director of 
Kumpulan H & L High-Tech Berhad (H & L or the Company) 
on 2 September 1997. Mr Tan is also one of the Key Senior 
Management and he is a businessman by profession and the 
founder of H & L High-Tech Sdn Bhd (HHT), Plastik STC Sdn Bhd 
(PSSB), H & L High-Tech Deco Sdn Bhd (HHTD), H & L High-Tech 
Properties Sdn Bhd (HHTP) and H & L High-Tech Properties 
Development Sdn Bhd (HHPD).

He founded Hup Lee Engineering Works (HLEW) in 1976 as a 
partnership in the mould and dies industry and incorporated 
the partnership under HHT on 9 November 1988.

With more than 40 years’ experience of closely managing the 
production and marketing operations of HHT and HLEW, Mr Tan 
possesses in-depth knowledge and experience in the overall 
operations of HHT as well as the industry in general. 

He sits on the Board of all companies under the H & L Group 
and also holds directorships in a number of other private limited 
companies. He has no conflict of interest with the Company. His 
daughter Tan Sook Yee is Director of H & L. 

He has no conviction for any offences within the past 5 years 
(other than traffic offences, if any) and there was no public 
sanction or penalty imposed by the relevant regulatory bodies 
during the financial year.

Tan Sook Yee (Ms Tan), Malaysian, Female, aged 40, was 
appointed as Non-Independent Executive Director of H & L on 
30 June 2006. She is also one of the Key Senior Management.
 
Ms Tan graduated with a Bachelor of Manufacturing Engineering 
(Honours) and Bachelor of Commerce from the University of 
Melbourne.
 
She joined H & L Group as a Customer Support Engineer in 
2004 and is now the Business Development Director of which 
her primary role is to develop new projects for the Group and 
manage the Group’s international businesses.  Ms Tan is also the 
Quality Management Representative for the H & L Group.  She 
sits on the Board of H & L and all its subsidiaries. She also holds 
directorships in a number of other private limited companies. 

She has no conflict of interest with the Company. She is the 
daughter of Mr Tan Lye Huat, Chairman and Managing Director 
of H & L.  She has no conflict of interest with the Company. 

Ms Tan was previously the Chairperson of Risk Management 
Committee of the Company which was subsequently merged 
with Audit Committee on 22 January 2021 to form a single 
committee, known as the “Audit and Risk Management 
Committee”.

She has no conviction for any offences within the past 5 years 
(other than traffic offences, if any) and there was no public 
sanction or penalty imposed by the relevant regulatory bodies 
during the financial year.
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RITA TAI LAI LING 
Independent Non-Executive Director

Rita Tai Lai Ling (Ms Rita), Malaysian, Female, aged 55, was 
appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of H & L 
on 23 June 2009. She is a Chartered Accountant of the Malaysian 
Institute of Accountants, a Certified Public Accountant of the 
Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a holder 
of Capital Market Services License issued by the Securities 
Commission.
 
Ms Rita began her career in 1989 as an Accountant with MST 
Industrial System Sdn Bhd. In 1990, she joined Coopers & 
Lybrand (now known as PriceWaterHouseCoopers) as an audit 
assistant and thereafter was promoted to the position of an 
Audit Manager. Subsequently in 1994, she joined a licensed Asset 
Management company as the Head of Finance and Corporate 
Affairs. In 1997, Ms Rita joined Hwang DBS Securities Sdn. Bhd. 
(now known as Hwang DBS Investment Bank Bhd.) as a Dealer’s 
Representative. Later in 2001, she transferred her Dealer’s 
Representative licence to Kenanga Investment Bank Berhad and 
has been with the company until end of 2011. In January 2012, 
she transferred her Dealer’s Representative licence to Malacca 

Securities Sdn Bhd. The years of experience that she gained 
in the audit and business advisory services as well as in the 
securities industry has equipped her with extensive knowledge 
in the operations of the stockbroking, manufacturing, banking, 
insurance, trading and plantation sectors.

She is the Chairperson of the Remuneration Committee and 
a member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee and 
Nomination Committee of the Company.
 
She does not have any family relationship with any director and/
or major shareholder of the Company and there is no conflict of 
interest with the Company.

She has no conviction for any offences within the past 5 years 
(other than traffic offences, if any) and there was no public 
sanction or penalty imposed by the relevant regulatory bodies 
during the financial year.

CHU KAN 
Independent Non–Executive Director

Chu Kan (Mr Chu), Malaysian, Male, aged 77, was appointed as 
an Independent Non-Executive Director of H & L on 2 September 
1997. He has been a member of the Institute of Internal Auditors 
since 1980 and he became a professional member of the 
National Institute of Accountants, Australia in 2003. In 1969, Mr 
Chu began his career as an office manager cum accountant with 
General Ceramic Bhd (now known as General Corporation Bhd). 
Mr Chu left in 1986 as the assistant group internal auditor. 

In 1987, he joined Redland Prestige Ceramic Sdn Bhd, a wholly 
owned subsidiary of Johan Holdings Bhd, which is principally 
involved in manufacturing of ceramic tiles, as a finance and 
administration manager. He retired from employment in early 
1997 and currently sits on the Board of several private limited 
companies.

He also sits on the Audit and Risk Management Committee, 
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee of the 
Company. He does not have any family relationship with any 
director and/or major shareholder of the Company and there is 
no conflict of interest with the Company.

He has no conviction for any offences within the past 5 years 
(other than traffic offences, if any) and there was no public 
sanction or penalty imposed by the relevant regulatory bodies 
during the financial year.

PROFILE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
& KEY SENIOR MANAGEMENT

(CONT’D)
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PROFILE OF THEBOARD OF DIRECTORS
& KEY SENIOR MANAGEMENT

(CONT’D)

LIM HOCK AUN
Independent Non-Executive Director

HAU HOCK KHUN 
Independent Non-Executive Director

Lim Hock Aun (Mr Lim), Malaysian, Male, aged 61, was appointed 
as Independent Non-Executive Director of H & L on 21 October 
2020. He is a member of Malaysian Institute of Accountant, and 
a member of Institute of Chartered Accountants, England and 
Wales.

Mr Lim has more than 25 years of experience in the Malaysian 
Financial Industry. He was previously the Senior Vice President, 
Head of Group Basel and Sustainability Reporting in AMMB 
Holdings Berhad Group (AmBank Group) until his retirement 
in July 2020. Prior to his accomplishments in the Malaysian 
Financial Sector, Mr Lim had served across Accounting, Audit 
and Tax Industries in the United Kingdom (UK) from September 
1980 to July 1991. Upon his return from the UK in 1991, he joined 
Ban Hin Lee Bank Berhad (BHLB Berhad) as Accountant. He was 
then promoted to Manager of Financial Control Department 
and subsequently assumed the role of Senior Manager/Head of 
Financial Control Department in 1992 and 1995, respectively. 

In 2000, Mr Lim was appointed as Head of Group Finance upon 
the merger of Southern Bank Berhad and BHLB Berhad. In 
July 2001, he joined AmAssurance Berhad, the insurance arm 
of AmBank Group as Head of Finance, Corporate and Planning 
and had since held various positions within AmBank Group as 
follows: Head of Finance and Administration of AmBank (M) 
Berhad and AmIslamic Bank Berhad, Head of Group External 
Reporting, Head of Group Accounting Policy and Malaysian 
Financial Reporting Standards Projects, and finally Head of 
Group Basel and Sustainability Reporting.  

He is the Chairman of Audit and Risk Management Committee of 
the Company. He does not have any family relationship with any 
director and/or major shareholder of the Company and there is 
no conflict of interest with the Company.

He has no conviction for any offences within the past 5 years 
(other than traffic offences, if any) and there was no public 
sanction or penalty imposed by the relevant regulatory bodies 
during the financial year.

Hau Hock Khun (Mr Hau), Malaysian, Male, aged 48, was 
appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of H & L 
on 5 August 2009. He holds a Bachelor of Law (L.L.B.) from Bond 
University, Australia, MBA (Total Quality Management) from 
Newport University, USA and International Diploma Computer 
Science NCC, UK.

He was called to the Malaysian Bar on 31 May 1998 and is 
admissible to the Queensland Solicitors’ Board (Australia), 
and currently is the Advocate & Solicitor of the High Court 
of Malaya. He is also a Mediator registered with the panel of 
Malaysia Mediation Centre and the Associate Member of the UK. 
Chartered Institute of Arbitrators. 

Mr Hau is currently a Managing Partner in Messrs H K Hau, 
Advocates and Solicitors and also a Consultant for various 
organisations for property and project development planning, 
property investment & development and real estate related 
matters.

He is proficient and well versed in various law fields with 
specialisation and experience in shipping, company 
restructuring, franchising, trademark, patents, industry design, 
corporate and commercial law, banking and civil litigationas 
well as in the property and real estate related matters.

He is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee and a 
member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee and 
Remuneration Committee of the Company.

He does not have any family relationship with any director and/
or major shareholder of the Company and there is no conflict of 
interest with the Company.

He has no conviction for any offences within the past 5 years 
(other than traffic offences, if any) and there was no public 
sanction or penalty imposed by the relevant regulatory bodies 
during the financial year.
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SUSTAINABILITY
STATEMENT

Kumpulan H & L High-Tech Berhad acknowledges itself as 
a member of the local and global community and its joint 
responsibility in working together towards sustainability. 
Always looking towards the future, we have been in business 
for over 40 years and plan to continue practising corporate 
sustainability for many more.

PERIOD & SCOPE OF REPORTING 

The reporting period aligns with our fiscal year, from 1st 
November 2019 until 31st October 2020, and focuses on the 
main business activity of the Group with its manufacturing 
facilities in the State of Selangor, Malaysia.

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE 

Our Board of Directors (the Board) determines and oversees 
sustainability strategies, policies and performance, and is 
supported by management and various executives in the 
identifying, evaluating, implementing, monitoring and 
reporting of such.

The Board regularly reviews the strategic direction and progress 
of operations, taking into account changes in the business, 
political and communal environment and various risk factors.

OUR VALUES 

We believe in collaborations that create value, both internally 
and externally.

The Board recognises the value of diverse expertise and skills 
of personnel, and is committed to maintaining an inclusive 
and synergistic working environment. As for recruitment, we 
look for a good mix of capabilities and experience that can 
complement our existing workforce and do not discriminate 
based on gender, race nor religion.

We have a core of very experienced personnel whom we 
continuously engage and nurture, and who continually train 
new personnel and pass on their proficiencies, cultivating more 
skilled workers.

We work hard to add value for our customers and work together 
with some of the largest global companies in electrical and 
automotive, a few of which are at the forefront of drive for 
sustainability.

DIVERSITY REPORT OF WORKFORCE

DIVERSITY REPORT OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(CONT’D)

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholder Types Engagement Methods Typical Issues / Areas of Discussion

Shareholders & 
Investors

▸  �Annual General Meetings
▸  �Conference Calls
▸  �On-Site Visits (not applicable during the 
on-going pandemic)

▸  �Accurate disclosure
▸  �Future direction
▸  �Recent performance
▸  �Sustainability

Employees ▸  �Annual Team-Building & Dinner (not 
applicable during on-going pandemic)

▸  �Annual performance appraisal
▸  �Occupational Health and Safety 
Committee meetings

▸  �Regular communications from and 
meetings with Human Resource 
Department

▸  �Direct whistle-blowing channels to 
Executive Directors

▸  �Compensation & Benefits
▸  Personal Development
▸  Insurance & Medical
▸  Health & Safety
▸  Efficiency & Comforts
▸  Environment & Waste
▸  Sustainability

Customers ▸  �Annual Survey & Feedback
▸  �Regular communications
▸  �Complaints channel
▸  �Regular Audits
▸  �On-Site Visits (not applicable during the 
on-going pandemic)

▸  Quality & Pricing
▸  On-time Deliveries
▸  Problem-solving
▸  Environment & Safety
▸  Sustainability

Suppliers ▸  Annual Review & Feedback
▸  Regular communications
▸  Complaints channel
▸  �On-Site Visits (not applicable during the 
on-going pandemic)

▸  Quality & Pricing
▸  On-time Deliveries
▸  Problem-solving
▸  Environment & Safety
▸  Sustainability

Regulators ▸  �Active participation in industry 
associations

▸  Meetings with Government Agencies
▸  Regular Audits & Inspections

▸  Health & Safety
▸  Good & Fair Governance
▸  Legal Compliance
▸  Environment & Waste Management



ANNUAL  R EPORT  2 0 2 0

13

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(CONT’D)

SUSTAINABILITY INITIATIVES

1.	 Sourcing

	 We work closely with our suppliers to ensure RoHS and 
REACH compliance for relevant raw materials.

	 We conduct regular reviews of and together with our 
suppliers, for better collaboration and to identify any 
emerging risks.

2.	 Production

	 We work hard to ensure safe and reliable production 
processes, embodied in the stringent procedures we 
included in our various quality management systems like 
ISO9001 and ISO13485, which are regularly audited by the 
external parties.

	 We manufacture some critical products for the electrical, 
automotive and medical industries, using a range of 
engineering plastics and it is both our business and 
sustainability responsibility to keep any waste to the 
minimum and to keep our production processes as 
efficient as possible.

3.	 Marketing & Sales

	 We regularly seek feedback from our customers on various 
aspects, including products, services and sustainability 
concerns.

4.	 Personal Development

	 Other than internal work-related training, we regularly 
engage with the external trainers for developmental 
learning on various topics, such as better health and 
communication.

	 As part of our social responsibility, we actively encourage 
and subsidise health insurance and medical care 
coverage for all personnel, including the option to cover 
their families. With the increase of the medical costs 
and general lack of preparedness, this should ease 
some worries and offer peace of mind, even should any 
accidents or medical emergencies occur outside of work.

	 As one of the leaders in our industry, we are regularly 
approach for and we have regularly accepted internships 
– offering targeted training and critical work experience 
throughout the year.

	 We usually organise a team-building event over 
several days, with everyone’s family invited to join, but 
unfortunately this is unfeasible at the moment with the 
on-going pandemic.

5.	 Industry Development

	 We are actively involved in industry associations and 
related government agencies, contributing our part in 
exchanging knowledge and ideas to face ever-changing 
conditions and implementing new ideas and better 
technologies. 

6.	 Adopting Technologies

	 We are gradually incorporating various technologies to 
improve sustainability in our facilities. In addition to 
continually replacing older machines with cleaner and 
more efficient machines, we have also replaced many 
older lighting systems with newer energy saving systems, 
and have replaced all external lighting with solar-
powered lights.

	 We invested in solar panels to generate renewable energy. 
Operational starting mid-September 2020, the system has 
produced 23kWh of electricity over 1.5 months, saving up 
to 16 metric tons of avoided carbon dioxide emissions.

	 We implemented a printing quota for all personnel, as 
an active measure to discourage printing when other 
options are available. When printing is unavoidable, 
we encourage the use of double-sided printing to save 
wastage.

7.	 Malaysia Sustainable Palm Oil (MSPO)

	 Our Oil Palm plantation is certified to MSPO standards, 
which includes stakeholder engagement, sustainable 
plantation practices and waste management, and is 
audited annually.

8.	 Local Community Development 

	 We regularly contribute to the schools and communities 
nearby to our Oil Palm Plantation, and help to repair and 
maintain the main access road to the nearby village.

9.	 Workplace Safety

	 From early identification of risk factors such as the 
pandemic and continually improving safe practices from 
observation and in discussion with relevant stakeholders, 
we are pleased to announce that there have been 0 
incidents of work-related injuries and 0 incidents of 
COVID-19 infections to date. We have qualified first aiders 
who attend refresher courses every 3 years.
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The Board of Directors (“the Board”) of Kumpulan H & L High-Tech Berhad (“KHLHT” or “the Company”) is committed to uphold the 
high standards of corporate governance (“CG”) through the Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) with the ultimate objective 
of realising long-term shareholder value while taking into consideration the interest of other stakeholders. 

This CG Statement sets out the extent to which the Company has applied the practices encapsulated in the Principles of the 
Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance (“MCCG”) except where stated otherwise, during the financial year ended 31 October 
2020.

Details of the Group’s application of each practices set out in the MCCG are disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report, which is 
available together with this Report in Bursa website and the Company’s website at www.hlhightech.com.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
OVERVIEW STATEMENT

Stakeholder

Board of Directors

Board Committees

Remuneration Committee (“RC”) Nomination Committee (“NC”)Audit and Risk Management 
Committee (“ARMC”)*

GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

Note:
*  �The Board of the Company has on 22 January 2021 approved the merger of the Audit Committee (AC) and Risk Management 
Committee (RMC) of the Company into a single committee known as the “Audit and Risk Management Committee”.

ADOPTION OF CG CODE

The Board considers that the Company has adopted the CG practices and applied the main principles of the CG Code for FY2020 
except:

•	 Practice 1.3 (Chairman and CEO are held by different individuals)
•	 Practice 4.5 (Gender Diversity) [although the Company has fulfilled the threshold of 30% but the company does not have 

specific policies and target on Gender Diversity]
•	 Practice 7.2 (The Board discloses on a named basis the top five (5) senior management’s remuneration in bands of RM50,000)
•	 Practice 12.3 (Levaraging technology to facilitate voting in absentia and remote shareholders’ participation at general 

meetings)
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BOARD COMPOSITION

By Category By Gender By Tenure of Independent Non-Executive

33.33% Executive 
66.67% Independent 
Non-Executive

33.33% Female
66.67% Male

25% More than 12 years
50% More than 9 years but less than 12 years
25% Less than 9 years

Change to the composition of the Board during FY2020

Chew Yock Fat
Retired on 28 July 2020

Lim Hock Aun
Appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director on 21 October 2020

BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS
Board Leadership, Roles and Responsibilities

Directors’ Core Areas of Expertise
Board Evaluation
Board Effectiveness Review Cycle
Appointment to the Board, Succession Planning and Diversity

MEETING ATTENDANCE IN FY2020

Our Board and Board Committees members have discharged their roles and responsibilities in FY2020, through their attendance at 
the meetings as set out in the table below:

Number of Meetings held in the year Board AC3 RC4 NC5

Executive Directors
Tan Lye Huat 4 / 4

(100%)
4 / 4
(100%)

N/A6 N/A6 

Tan Sook Yee 4 / 4
(100%)

4 / 4
(100%)

N/A6 N/A6

Non-Executive Directors
Chu Kan 4 / 4

(100%)
4 / 4
(100%)

1 / 1
(100%)

2 / 2
(100%)

Chew Yock Fat1 3 / 3
(100%)

3 / 3
(100%)

1 / 1
(100%)

1 / 1
(100%)

Rita Tai Lai Ling 4 / 4
(100%)

4 / 4
(100%)

1 / 1
(100%)

2 / 2
(100%)

Hau Hock Khun 4 / 4
(100%)

4 / 4
(100%)

1 / 1
(100%)

2 / 2
(100%)

Lim Hock Aun2 - - N/A6 N/A6

Notes:
1  Retired on 28 July 2020
2  Appointed on 21 October 2020, which was after all the meetings held during the financial year.
3  AC: Audit Committee
4  RC: Remuneration Committee
5  NC: Nomination Committee
6  N/A: Not Applicable

All Directors have attended all the Board meetings held during the financial year. The Board is satisfied with the level of time 
commitment given by the Directors toward fulfilling their roles and responsibilities as Board and/or Board Committee members.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
OVERVIEW STATEMENT

(CONT’D)
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BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES

Board Charter and Board Committees 

The Board is responsible for the overall oversight and management of the Group. The Board has established clear functions reserved 
for the Board and those delegated to Management to enhance accountability. There is a formal schedule of matters reserved to the 
Board for its deliberation and decision to ensure the direction and control of the Company are in its hands. Key matters reserved 
for the Board include inter-alia, quarterly and annual financial statements for announcement, investment and divestment, as well 
as monitoring of the Group’s financial statements and operating performance. Such delineation of roles is clearly set out in the 
Board Charter (“Charter”), which serves as a reference point for the Board activities. The Charter provides guidance for directors 
and Management regarding the responsibilities of the Board, its Committees and management, the requirements of Directors in 
carrying out their stewardship role and in discharging their duties towards the Company as well as boardroom activities. The Board 
is committed to take full responsibility for the overall corporate governance of the Group. In performing its duties, the Board is 
guided by the Board Charter that sets out amongst others its roles, composition, responsibilities, powers, board committees and 
board meeting. The key elements of governance principles embedded in the Board Charter regulate the Board’s conducts and guide 
the business strategic initiative of the Group. The Board Charter is available on the Company’s website www.hlhightech.com.

The Board has established three (3) Board Committees, namely Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration 
Committee that are delegated with specific responsibilities and authorities to assist the Board in executing its duties and to 
provide the Board with recommendations and advice. The delegation of authority to the Committees enables the Board to achieve 
operational efficiency, by empowering each Committee to review, report and make recommendations to the Board on matters 
relevant to their roles and responsibilities. Each Committee is governed by its own Terms of Reference which sets out its functions 
and duties, composition, rights and meeting procedures. These Terms of Reference are reviewed periodically in accordance with 
the needs of the Company and taking into account the changes in the business, governance and legal environment that may have 
an impact on the discharge of the Committees’ duties and responsibilities. The Chairmen of the various committees will report 
to the Board the outcome of the Committee meetings which will be recorded in the minutes of the Board meeting. The ultimate 
responsibility for decision making, however, lies with the Board.

Company Secretaries

The Board is supported by Company Secretaries in discharging its duties and functions who is a member of the Malaysian Institute 
of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators (“MAICSA”). The appointment of Company Secretaries is based on the capability 
and proficiency as determined by the Board. The Directors have unrestricted access to the advice and services of the Company 
Secretaries to enable the Directors to discharge their duties effectively. The Company Secretaries ensure that the Board is regularly 
updated on their obligations under relevant regulatory requirements such as Main Market listing Requirements (“MMLR”) of Bursa, 
codes or new statutes issued from time to time and are fulfilled in a timely manner. 

The Company Secretaries also attend all Board, Board Committee and general meetings, and ensure that deliberations at 
the meetings are accurately minuted and kept in the minutes books and subsequently communicated to the relevant party for 
necessary actions. Such minutes of meetings are confirmed by the respective Board Committees and signed by the Chairman of 
the meeting. All Directors have unrestricted access to the advice and services of the Company Secretaries for the purposes of the 
Board’s affairs and the business of the Group.

Information and Support for Directors

The Board papers comprising of due notice of issues to be discussed and supporting information and documentations were 
provided to the Board at least five (5) days before the date of the meeting. This is to ensure that the Directors are given sufficient time 
to read the Board papers and seek any clarification that they may need from Management or to consult the Company Secretaries 
or independent advisers before the Board Meetings, if necessary. This enables the Directors to discuss the issues effectively at 
the Board meetings. The Board has access to all information within the Company as a full Board to enable them to discharge 
their duties and responsibilities and is supplied in a timely basis with information and reports on financial, regulatory and audit 
matters by way of Board papers for informed decision making and meaningful discharge of its duties. All Directors have direct 
access to the advice and services of the Company Secretaries who are responsible for ensuring the Board’s meeting procedures 
are adhered to and that applicable rules and regulations are complied with. The Chairman of the Board Committees, namely, the 
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee briefs the Board on matters discussed as well as decisions 
taken at the meetings of their respective Board Committees meetings. When necessary, all Directors may whether as a full Board or 
in their individual capacity, seek independent professional advice, including the internal and external auditors, at the Company’s 
expense to enable the directors to discharge their duties with adequate knowledge on the matters being deliberated.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
OVERVIEW STATEMENT

(CONT’D)
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BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES (CONT'D)

Code of Ethics and Conduct 

Good governance at all levels is essential for sustainable development. The Board is committed to embrace the highest standards of 
corporate governance practices and ethical standards throughout the Group. In this respect, the Board has formalised a Director’s 
Code of Ethics and Conduct, setting out the standards of conduct expected from Directors and employees to inculcate good ethical 
conduct. The Board recognises the importance of adhering to the Code of Ethics and Conduct and has taken measures to put in 
place a process to ensure its compliance. Both codes are available on the Company’s website at www.hlhightech.com.

Whistleblowing Policy 

The Board is committed to achieve and maintain high standards of corporate governance practices across the Group. The Board 
has formalised a Whistleblowing Policy, with the aim of providing an avenue for raising concerns relating to possible breaches of 
business conduct, non-compliance of laws and regulatory requirements as well as other malpractices. Further details pertaining to 
the Whistle-blowing Policy can be found at the Company’s website at www.hlhightech.com.

Board Composition

The Board recognises the importance of having a diverse Board in terms of age, ethnicity and gender as this provides the necessary 
range of perspectives, experience and expertise in bringing value to the Company and achieve effective stewardship. The present 
Board consists of six (6) members, comprising two (2) Executive Directors and four (4) Independent Non-Executive Directors. 

This composition fulfills the requirements as set out in the MMLR, which stipulate that at least two (2) Directors or one-third 
(1/3) of the Board, whichever is higher, must be independent. The Directors, with their diverse backgrounds and specialisations, 
collectively bring with them a wide range of experience and expertise in areas such as engineering, entrepreneurship, finance, 
taxation, accounting and audit, legal and economics. The Executive Directors are responsible for the making of the day-to-day 
business and operational decisions and implementation of Board policies. There is a clear division of duties and responsibilities 
amongst them in order to maintain a balance of control, power and authority within the Management. The Independent Non-
Executive Directors bring the objective and independent views, advice and judgment on interest, not only of the Group, but also 
of shareholders, employees, customers, suppliers and the communities in which the Group conducts its business. Independent 
Non-Executive Directors are essential for protecting the interests of shareholders and can make significant contributions to the 
Company’s decision making by bringing in the quality of detached impartiality. The Board is satisfied that its current size and 
composition reflects an appropriate balance of Executive and Non-Executive Directors which is adequate for the scope and nature 
of the Group’s business and operations. 

Diversity on Board and Senior Management 

The composition of the Board represents a good mix of knowledge, skills and experience to ensure that the Group is competitive 
within its industry. The Board, through the Nomination Committee will consider appropriate targets for appointment as Board 
members in terms of skills, experience, gender, ethnicity and age and will take required measures to meet those targets from time 
to time if deemed necessary to enhance the effectiveness of the Board. 

The Board complies with paragraph 15.02 of the Listing Requirements which requires that at least two (2) directors or one-third 
(1/3) of the Board of the Company, whichever is higher are independent directors. in addition, the Board composes of four (4) males 
and two (2) females to ensure a good mix of gender as well. These composition and combination of different skills ensures an 
effective Board decision-making process and enable the Board to efficiently lead and control the Group. During the financial year 
ended 31 October 2020, Mr Lim Hock Aun was appointed as a Director of the Company on 21 October 2020 in place of Mr Chew Yock 
Fat who retired on 28 July 2020. The optimal size would enable effective oversight, delegation of responsibilities and productive 
discussions amongst members of the Board.

The Board has no specific policy on diversity pertaining to gender, age and ethnicity for candidates to be appointed to the Board. 
The evaluation of the suitability of candidates is based on the candidates’ competency, character, time commitment, integrity and 
experience in meeting the needs of the Company. The Nomination Committee, will however continue to take steps to ensure that 
gender, age and ethnicity of the candidates will be taken into consideration as part of its recruitment exercise.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
OVERVIEW STATEMENT

(CONT’D)
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BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES (CONT'D)

Nomination Committee 

The Nomination Committee conducted an assessment of the performance of the Board, as a whole, the Audit Committee, 
Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and Risk Management Committee and individual Directors, based on a self and 
peer assessment approach. From the results of the assessment, including the mix of skills and experience possessed by Directors, 
the Board considered and approved the recommendations on the re-election of Directors at the Company’s forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting.

Full details of the Nomination Committee’s duties and responsibilities are stated in its Term of Reference which is available on 
the Company’s website at www.hlhightech.com. The Nomination Committee comprises exclusively of Independent Non-Executive 
Directors and chaired by the Independent Director. The Committee meets as and when required, at least once a year. 

During the financial year ended 31 October 2020, the Nomination Committee had carried out the following activities: 

i.	 Reviewed the training needs/training programmes for the Board and facilitate Board induction and training programmes;
ii.	 Assessed on an annual basis the effectiveness and performance of the Board as a whole, the committees of the Board, as well 

as the contribution/performance of each individual Director, including Non-Executive Directors and Executive Director(s); 
iii.	 Recommended the new director for appointment;
iv.	 Recommended the new Audit Committee Chairman for appointment;
v.	 Assessed the independence of the Independent Directors;
vi.	 Reviewed and recommended the re-election of directors who shall retire at the Annual General Meeting; and
vii.	 Discussed the establishment of Risk Management Committee.

Evaluation of Board, Board Committees and Individual Directors 

The Nomination Committee annually performs a board self-evaluation to evaluate the performance of the Board, Board Committees 
and individual Directors, in order to verify that the Board is operating effectively and efficiently as a whole. Each Director completed 
a detailed questionnaire in the Directors’ Performance Evaluation which covered matters relevant to the Board performance, 
among other things, contribution to interaction, quality of input, understanding of role and personal developments. An evaluation 
of each Board Committee was done by assessing the structure, roles and responsibilities, performance of the respective Chairmen, 
as well as Committee’s performance against its Terms of Reference. 

The assessment was internally facilitated, whereby results of the assessments had been compiled, documented and reported to 
the Board accordingly, as part of the Company’s ongoing corporate governance practices. Based on the assessment carried out 
during the financial year ended 31 October 2020, the Nomination Committee had concluded the following:- 

a.	 The Board was found to be competent and had a dynamic and balanced mix of skills and experience wherein the Directors 
were able to contribute effectively to the Board’s decision-making process. 

b.	 The current structure, size and composition of the Board, which comprises people who possess a wide range of expertise and 
experience in various fields with diverse backgrounds and specialisations, would enable the Board to lead and manage the 
Company effectively. 

c.	 The Directors had discharged their responsibilities in a commendable manner, acted competently, contributed effectively to 
the Board and demonstrated full commitment to their duties as Directors. 

d.	 The Board and Board Committees had contributed positively to the Company and its subsidiaries and were operating in an 
effective manner. 

e.	 The performances of the Board Committees were found to be effective.

The Board is mindful of the importance for its members to undergo continuous training to be apprised on changes to regulatory 
requirements and the impact of such regulatory requirements have on the Group. All directors have attended the Mandatory 
Accreditation Programme (“MAP”) as required by the MMLR on all directors of listed companies and the Board will continue to 
evaluate and determine the training needs of its Directors on an on-going basis. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
OVERVIEW STATEMENT

(CONT’D)
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BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES (CONT'D)

Evaluation of Board, Board Committees and Individual Directors (cont'd)

During the financial year, save for Mr Lim Hock Aun who was appointed on 21 October 2020 and the Director mentioned below, most 
the Directors did not manage to attend any training programme due to the implementation of the Movement Control Order by the 
Malaysian Government on 18 March 2020 to control the spread of COVID-19. Nevertheless, the Directors would continue to attend 
trainings to update their knowledge and enhance their skills, particularly in the areas of accounting, auditing, risk management, 
corporate governance and regulatory compliance, which will assist them in discharge of their duties and responsibilities.

Rita Tai Lai Ling
SHARIAH INVESTING VIRTUAL CONFERENCE 2020
TRADING PRACTICES & PRODUCT KNOWLEDGE TO PROMOTE MARKET INTEGRITY

The Company Secretaries circulate the relevant guidelines on statutory and regulatory requirements from time to time for the 
Board’s reference and brief the Board on these updates, where applicable. The Finance Advisor and External Auditors also brief 
the Board members on any changes to the Financial Reporting Standards that affect the Group’s financial statement during the 
financial year under review. The Directors continue to undergo relevant training programmes to further enhance their skills and 
knowledge in the discharge of their stewardship role. 

REMUNERATION

Remuneration Policy
 
The Board has recognised the need to establish a fair and transparent Remuneration Policy with the objective to guide the Group in 
attracting, retaining and motivating highly qualified individuals to serve on the Board and key senior management. On a yearly basis, 
the Remuneration Committee reviewed and recommended to the Board the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors, 
while the remuneration for the Non-Executive Directors was determined by the Board as a whole. Fees and benefits payable to 
the Directors are subject to approval by the shareholders at the Company’s Annual General Meeting. The affected Directors had 
abstained from participation in deliberations and decisions regarding their individual remuneration.

In making its recommendation, the Remuneration Committee considered the principles set out in the Remuneration Policy. The 
remuneration was structured to align rewards to corporate and individual performances besides adequately compensate the 
Directors for risks and complexities of the duties and responsibilities they assumed.

Remuneration Committee 

The Remuneration Committee, established by the Board, is responsible for setting the policy framework and recommending to the 
Board the remuneration of Directors so as to ensure that the Company is able to attract and retain its Directors needed to run the 
Group successfully. The components of Directors’ remuneration are structured so as to link rewards to corporate and individual 
performance in the case of Executive Directors. In the case of Non-Executive Directors, the level of remuneration reflects the 
experience and level of responsibilities undertaken by the individual Non-Executive Director concerned. Directors do not participate 
in discussion of their individual remuneration. All Remuneration Committee Members are Independent Non-Executive Directors. 

The responsibilities of Remuneration Committee are as follows: - 

i.	 Support the Board in actively overseeing the design and operation of the Company’s remuneration system; 
ii.	 Review and recommend to the Board on the remuneration of Non-Executive Directors, particularly on whether the 

remuneration remains appropriate to each Director’s contribution, by taking into account the level of expertise, commitment 
and responsibilities undertaken; 

iii.	 Review and recommend to the Board on the total individual remuneration package for Executive Directors and senior 
management personnel including, where appropriate, bonuses and incentive payments within the terms of the agreed 
remuneration policy and based on individual performance; and

iv.	 Provide clarification to shareholders during general meetings on matters pertaining to remuneration of Directors and senior 
management as well as the overall remuneration framework of the Company

Remuneration of Directors pursuant to the respective service contracts with the Company and its subsidiaries, the details of 
individual Directors’ remuneration are as follows:- 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
OVERVIEW STATEMENT
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REMUNERATION (CONT'D)

Remuneration Committee (cont'd)

Remuneration to be disclosed on a named basis:-

Group Level

Fee / Salaries 
and other 

emoluments
RM'000

Bonus
RM'000

EPF
RM'000

Allowance /
 Benefit-in-kind

RM'000
Total

RM'000
Non-Executive Directors
Chu Kan 18 0 0 4 22
Chew Yock Fat* 11 0 0 9 20
Rita Tai Lai Ling 18 0 0 4 22
Hau Hock Khun 18 0 0 4 22

Executive Directors
Tan Lye Huat 672 20 125 17 834
Tan Sook Yee 156 16 30 5 207
* Retired in July 2020

Company Level

Fee / Salaries 
and other 

emoluments
RM'000

Bonus
RM'000

EPF
RM'000

Allowance /
 Benefit-in-kind

RM'000
Total

RM'000
Non-Executive Directors
Chu Kan 18 0 0 4 22
Chew Yock Fat* 11 0 0 9 20
Rita Tai Lai Ling 18 0 0 4 22
Hau Hock Khun 18 0 0 4 22
* Retired in July 2020

EFFECTIVE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT

I.	 Audit Committee

	 The Board approved the merger of the Audit Committee and Risk Management Committee on 22 January 2021.  Following the 
merger of both the committees, Audit and Risk Management Committee comprise exclusively of Independent Non-Executive 
Directors. 

	 Mr Lim Hock Aun is the Chairman of the Audit Committee effective 21 October 2020. He continued to be the Chairman of the 
Audit and Risk Management Committee following the merger of the two (2) committees.

	 The Audit Committee’s composition and its summary activity are set forth in the Audit Committee Report of this Annual 
Report. Full details of the Committee’s duties and responsibilities are stated in its Terms of Reference which is available on 
the Company’s website at www.hlhightech.com.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
OVERVIEW STATEMENT

(CONT’D)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
OVERVIEW STATEMENT

(CONT’D)

EFFECTIVE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)

II.	 Risk Management and Internal Control Framework

	 The Board recognises the importance of maintaining a sound internal control system covering risk management and the 
financial, operational and compliance controls to safeguard shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets. The Board 
acknowledges that it is responsible for the Group’s system of internal control and risk management for the continuing 
review of its adequacy, effectiveness and integrity. Additionally, the Group Managing Director and the Finance Advisor have 
given assurance to the Board that the Group’s risk management and internal control systems are operating adequately and 
effectively to meet the Group’s objectives. 

	 The internal control system is designed to cater for the Group’s needs and to manage the risks to which it is exposed. It should 
be noted that the system of internal control is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the 
business objectives of the Group, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement 
or loss. 

	 The Board ensures the risk and control framework is embedded into the culture, processes and structure of the Group. 
Further details of the Group’s state of risk management and internal control systems are reported in the Statement of Risk 
Management and Internal Control of this Annual Report. A risk profile of the Group has been compiled to help the Board 
and senior management to prioritise their focus on areas of high risk. The senior management is responsible for identifying, 
evaluating, managing and reporting on significant risks on an ongoing basis faced by the Group in its achievement of 
objectives and strategies. Significant risk matters are brought to the attention of the Executive Directors, and if necessary, are 
also discussed at Board meetings.

	 Internal Audit Functions

	 The Group has appointed an established external professional Internal Audit firm, namely Tricor Axcelasia Sdn Bhd, who 
reports to the Audit Committee (AC) and assist the AC in reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control systems whilst 
ensuring that there is an appropriate balance of controls and risks throughout the Group in achieving its business objectives. 
Internal audit provides independent assessment on the effectiveness and efficiency of internal controls utilising a global 
audit methodology and tool to support the corporate governance framework and an efficient and effective risk management 
framework to provide assurance to the AC. 

	 In addition, during the financial year end, there were internal audit activities being performed by Intertek Testing Services 
(Singapore) Pte Ltd (“Intertek”), an accredited International Organisation for Standardisation (“ISO”) certification body, for 
both Plastik STC Sdn. Bhd. and H & L High-Tech Sdn. Bhd. which are covered under ISO 13485 and ISO 9001 respectively.

	 The scope of work covered by the internal audit functions during the financial year, summary of activities carried out, 
including its observations and recommendations, are provided in the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control 
and Audit Committee Report of this Annual Report.

	 Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption

	 Our core values and behaviours drive our culture and conduct throughout the Group. We have a zero-tolerance approach 
to misconduct of any kind and will take stern disciplinary action, up to and including immediate dismissal, in the event of 
a breach. Our Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Policy (“the Policy”) is clear in our commitment not to tolerate bribery or 
corruption in any form. 

	 The Group’s Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Policy is available on the Company’s website at www.hlhightech.com.

	 Directors’ Responsibility for Preparing the Annual Audited Financial Statements

	 Our Directors are required by the Companies Act 2016 (“CA2016”) to prepare financial statements for each financial year 
which give a true and fair view of KHLHT and of the Company’s state of affairs, results and cash flows. Our Directors are of the 
opinion that KHLHT Group uses appropriate accounting policies that are consistently applied and supported by reasonable as 
well as prudent judgements and estimates, and that the financial statement have been prepared accordance with Malaysian 
Financial Reporting Standards and the provision of CA2016 and the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia.
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EFFECTIVE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)

II.	 Risk Management and Internal Control Framework (cont'd)

	 Directors’ Responsibility for Preparing the Annual Audited Financial Statements (cont'd)

	 Our Directors are satisfied that KHLHT Group and the Company keep accounting records which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy the financial position of KHLHT Group and the Company and enable proper financial statements to be prepared. 
They have also taken the necessary steps to ensure that appropriate systems are in place to safeguard the assets of KHLHT 
Group, and to detect and prevent fraud as well as other irregularities. The systems, by their nature can only provide reasonable 
and not absolute assurance against material misstatements, loss and fraud.

INTEGRITY IN CORPORATE REPORTING AND MEANINGFUL RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

Communication with Shareholders

The Board recognises the importance of being transparent and accountable to the Company’s shareholders and prospective 
investors. The various channels of communication are through meetings with institutional shareholders and investment 
communities, quarterly announcements on financial results to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, relevant announcements and 
circulars. The Board is committed in providing accurate, useful and timely information about the Company, its business and its 
activities. Realising the importance of timely and thorough dissemination of material information to the shareholders, investors 
and the public at large, the Company maintains an open communication policy with its shareholders, investors and public at large 
and welcome feedback from them. The Group’s information is disseminated through various disclosures and announcements 
made to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. This information is also published at the Company’s website at www.hlhightech.com. 

Notice of General Meeting

The Board recognises the rights of shareholders. In order to continue encouraging shareholders participation in the general 
meetings, the Board would ensure that the Notice of Annual General Meeting is sent to shareholders at least twenty-eight (28) 
days ahead of the date of general meeting and to provide sufficient time and opportunities for shareholders to seek clarifications 
during general meetings on any matters pertaining to the issues in the Annual Report, corporate developments in the Group, the 
resolutions being proposed and the operational and financial performance of the Company

Attendance of Directors at General Meetings

The Annual General Meeting is the key element of the Company’s dialogue with its shareholders. During the Annual General 
Meeting, shareholders are encouraged to ask questions about the resolutions being proposed, about the Company’s operations in 
general or about the annual reports of the Company and of the Group. All the Directors, Senior Management and External Auditors 
are available in the Annual General Meeting to provide responses to questions from the shareholders. 

The Chairman plays a vital role in fostering constructive dialogue between the Board and the shareholders. All the members of 
the Board and the respective chairmen of the Board’s Committees are present at the meetings to address queries raised by the 
shareholders which are relevant to their areas of responsibility.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
OVERVIEW STATEMENT

(CONT’D)
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
REPORT

The Board of Directors is pleased to present the report on the Audit Committee and its activities for the financial year ended 31 
October 2020 in compliance with Paragraph 15.15 of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

MEMBER

The Audit and Risk Management Committee (“ARMC”) currently comprises the following members, all of which are Independent 
Non-Executive Directors. A summary of their respective attendance at the Audit Committee meetings held during the financial year 
are as follows:- 

MEMBERS AND MEETINGS ATTENDANCE

Name Membership status Attendance
Chew Yock Fat* Chairman, Independent Non-Executive Director 3 out of 3
Rita Tai Lai Ling Independent Non-Executive Director 4 out of 4
Hau Hock Khun Independent Non-Executive Director 4 out of 4
Chu Kan Independent Non-Executive Director 4 out of 4
Lim Hock Aun** Chairman, Independent Non-Executive Director Not applicable
Notes:-
* Retired on 28 July 2020
** Appointed 21 October 2020

Mr Chew Yock Fat, the Chairman of the Audit Committee until his retirement from the Board on 28 July 2020, is a member of the 
Malaysian Institute of Accountants and was a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, UK. The current 
Chairman of the Audit Committee, Mr Lim Hock Aun, is a member of Malaysian Institute of Accountant and a member of Institute 
of Chartered Accountants, England and Wales. Thus, Paragraph 15.09(1)(c)(i) of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad is complied.

The Board of Directors had on 22 January 2021 merged the Audit Committee and Risk Management Committee into a single 
committee known as the ARMC.

REVIEW OF THE TERMS AND REFERENCE

The terms of reference of the ARMC shall be reviewed periodically, especially when there are changes to the Listing Requirements, 
the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2017 and Companies Act 2016 or at least once every three (3) years. All amendments 
to the terms of reference of the ARMC must be approved by the Board.

The terms of reference of the ARMC is available for reference at the Company’s website, www.hlhightech.com.

SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES

During the financial year, the Audit Committee conducted its activities in accordance with its existing terms of reference, which 
included the review of the external auditors’ scope of work and annual audit plan. 

Four (4) meetings of the Audit Committee were held during the financial year ended 31 October 2020:

a.	 At each of these Audit Committee’s meetings, the Group’s Finance Advisor were invited to brief the Committee on specific 
issues;

b.	 The reviews of the Group’s quarterly and year-to-date unaudited financial statements were made before submission to the 
Board for their consideration and approval. During the respective Board Meetings, the Chairman of the Audit Committee 
briefed the Board on issues raised in respect of the financial statements and the recommendations of the Committee thereon;

c.	 Reviewed the Audit Review Memorandum and Audit Completion Memorandum presented by Messrs Grant Thornton Malaysia 
PLT in respect of the financial year ended 31 October 2019.
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SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES (CONT'D)

Four (4) meetings of the Audit Committee were held during the financial year ended 31 October 2020 (cont'd):

d.	 During the review of the Group’s twelve-month’s financial results, representatives of the External Auditors, Messrs Grant 
Thornton Malaysia PLT were invited to discuss the Group financial statements for the financial year ended 31 October 2019. 
Management’s response to all pertinent issues and findings had been raised and noted by the External Auditors during their 
examination of the said Group Accounts, together with recommendations in respect of the findings;  

e.	 Held private meetings and discussions with the internal auditors;

f.	 Reviewed the Audit Planning Memorandum in respect of the financial year ended 31 October 2020.

g.	 Reviewed, deliberated the internal audit reports presented and considered the significant findings of internal audit in the 
Group’s operating subsidiaries through the review of internal audit reports tabled and management responses thereto and 
ensuring significant findings were adequately addressed by Management;

h.	 Evaluated the performance and independence of the external auditors and made recommendations to the Board on their 
appointment and audit fees.

i.	 Reviewed the Audit Committee Report and Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control for the inclusion in the 2020 
Annual Report.  

j.	 Reviewed and confirmed with the Management that the Group did not enter into any related-party transaction during the 
financial year. 

k.	 Discussed the proposed payment of interim dividend in respect of the financial year ending 31 October 2020.

l.	 Conducted an annual assessment on the performance of the Internal Auditors.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Group’s internal audit function had since November 2002 been outsourced to independent consultants, which is independent 
of its activities and operation and will report to the audit committee on the following:

a.	 Undertakes the internal audit of the Group’s operating units; ascertaining the extent of the units compliance with the 
established internal control procedures, policies and statutory requirements; highlighting the weaknesses and recommending 
improvements to the existing systems of controls;

b.	 Assist in reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s processes for controlling its activities;
c.	 To review and appraise the soundness, adequacy and application of accounting, financial and other controls and promoting 

effective control in the Company and the Group at reasonable costs; and
d.	 Periodically provide information on the status and results of the internal audit plan.

During the financial year, the Committee reviewed the Internal Audit Report in respect of the internal audit function of H & L High 
Tech Deco Sdn. Bhd.

During the financial year, the Committee reviewed the Internal Audit Report in respect of the internal audit function of H & L High 
Tech Sdn Bhd and Plastik STC Sdn Bhd. The internal audit was carried out by Intertek Testing Services (Singapore) Pte Ltd in respect 
of the International Organisation for Standardisation (ISO) compliance certification for the products produced for Plastik STC Sdn 
Bhd and H & L High-Tech Sdn Bhd which are covered under ISO 13485 and ISO 9001 respectively.

The costs incurred for the Internal Audit function in respect of the financial year ended 31 October 2020 was approximately  
RM19,000.00 only.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
(CONT’D)
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STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL CONTROL

INTRODUCTION

The Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance (“MCCG”) requires the Board of Directors (“the Board”) to maintain a sound system 
of risk management and internal control to safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and the Group’s assets. The Board, in compliance 
with Paragraph 15.26(b) of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad’s (“Bursa Malaysia”) Main Market Listing Requirements, is pleased to 
provide the following Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control (“the Statement”). 

THE BOARD’S RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board acknowledges their responsibility for the Group’s system of internal controls covering not only financial controls but 
also operational and compliance controls as well as risk management. The internal control system is designed to meet the Group’s 
particular needs and to manage the risks exposure.
The system includes financial controls, operational and compliance controls and risk management to safeguard the shareholders’ 
investments and the Group’s assets. Because of the limitations that are inherent in any system of internal control, the system is 
designed to manage the principal business risks that may impede the Group from achieving its business objectives, rather than 
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve corporate objectives. The system, by its nature, can only provide reasonable but not absolute 
assurance against any material misstatement or loss.

KEY ELEMENTS OF THE GROUP’S INTERNAL CONTROL

•	 Clearly defined delegation of responsibilities of the Board, Committee and Management of the Group including authorisation 
levels for all aspects of business. Subsidiary companies have clear accountabilities to ensure appropriate risk management 
and control procedures are in place;

•	 Clearly documented internal procedures in the ISO 9001, where applicable, for its subsidiaries;
•	 Detailed budgeting process whereby subsidiary companies prepare budgets for the coming year which are approved by their 

respective Boards and endorsed by the Board;
•	 Regular and comprehensive information provided to the Board of Directors and Management, covering operational and 

financial performance;
•	 Monitoring actual results against budget. Significant variances are investigated and followed up, and where necessary 

management actions are taken;
•	 Internal audit visit by outsourced internal auditors are to review and appraise the internal control system within the Group in 

accordance with the approved internal audit plan;
•	 The Group Chairman and Managing Director provide briefing to the Board on significant changes in the business and external 

environment, which affect the operation of the Group at large;
•	 Where areas of improvement in the system are identified, the Board considers the recommendations made by the Audit and 

Risk Management Committee and the Management; and
•	 There is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risk faced by the Company.
•	 The Board engages an independent firm of consultants to assist the Board in reviewing and appraising the internal control 

system within the Group.

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

The Board regularly reviews the Group’s key commercial and financial risks together with general risks relating to compliance with 
laws and regulations so that reasonable level of assurance that the system of controls and operations is appropriate to the Group’s 
situation and that there is an acceptable level of risk throughout the Group’s businesses.
In light of the ‘Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control: Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers’ issued by Bursa 
Malaysia, the Board has re-evaluated its risk management practices to ensure that it is appropriate and continues to remain relevant 
to the Group’s requirements.

During the financial year, the Board has also approved the Risk Management Committee (“RMC”) Charter. The RMC consists of 
majority of Independent Directors and chaired by the Executive Director.

The Board of Directors had on 22 January 2021 merged the Audit Committee and RMC into a single committee known as the Audit 
and Risk Management Committee (“ARMC”). The ARMC consists of all Independent Directors of the Board.

The terms of Reference for ARMC is available on the Company’s website at www.hlhightech.com. 
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BOARD COMMENTARY 

During the financial year, the results of findings by the internal audit function, including the recommended corrective actions, has 
been reported to the Audit Committee. 

The Board is of the opinion that there were no material losses incurred during the financial year as a result of weaknesses in internal 
control. The Audit Committee considers the report from the internal audit function and comments from Management before 
making recommendation to the Board to strengthen the internal control system.

The Board has also received assurance from the Managing Director and the Management that the Group’s internal control and risk 
management system is operating adequately and effectively based on the internal controls implemented throughout the Group.

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT 
AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(CONT’D)
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ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE
INFORMATION

1.	 AUDIT AND NON-AUDIT FEES

	 The amount of audit and non-audit fees paid/payable to external auditors and its affiliates for the financial year ended 31 
October 2020 were as below:-

Name
Audit Fee

RM
Non-Audit Fee

RM
Listed issuer 28,000 5,300
Group 111,500 5,300

2.	 MATERIAL CONTRACTS

	 During the financial year there were no material contracts entered into by the Company or its subsidiary involving interest of 
Directors and major shareholders of the Company.

3.	 STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

	 The Directors are legally required to prepare financial statements which present a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the Company and the Group and are pleased to announce that in preparing the financial statements for the financial year 
ended 31 October 2020, the Group has:

•	 ensured compliance with applicable accounting standards enforced in Malaysia;
•	 adopted and consistently applied appropriate accounting policies; and
•	 made judgements and estimates that are prudent and reasonable.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that proper accounting records are maintained, which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy, the financial position of the Group and also to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2016. 
In addition, the Board is responsible for the proper safeguarding of the assets of the Group and to take reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company for the financial year ended 31 October 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are described in Note 8 to the 
financial statements.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities of the Company and its subsidiaries during the financial 
year. 

FINANCIAL RESULTS

Group
RM

Company
RM

Profit for the financial year 2,430,750 1,290,860

DIVIDENDS

The amount of dividends paid and declared since the end of the previous financial year were as follows:-

RM

In respect of the financial year ended 31 October 2020:-

First interim single tier dividend of RM0.02 per ordinary share, paid on 28 February 2020 731,531

Second interim single tier dividend of RM0.01 per ordinary share, paid on 28 October 2020 365,765

1,097,296

The Directors do not recommend any final dividend payment for the current financial year.

RESERVES AND PROVISIONS

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year.

DIRECTORS 

The name of the Directors of the Company in office during the financial year and during the period commencing from the end of the 
financial year to the date of this report are as follows:-

Tan Lye Huat*
Tan Sook Yee*
Chu Kan 
Rita Tai Lai Ling 
Hau Hock Khun
Lim Hock Aun (Appointed on 21 October 2020)
Chew Yock Fat (Retired on 28 July 2020)

* Directors of the Company and all the subsidiaries

DIRECTORS’
REPORT
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DIRECTORS (CONT’D)

In accordance with Clause 76(3) of the Company’s Constitution, Ms. Tan Sook Yee and Mr. Hau Hock Khun will retire from the Board 
by rotation at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with Clause 78 of the Company’s Constitution, Mr. Lim Hock Aun will retire from the Board by rotation at the 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting and, being eligible, offer himself for re-election. 

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

According to the register of Directors’ Shareholdings required to be kept under Section 59 of the Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia, 
the interests and deemed interests in the ordinary shares of the Company and its related corporations of those who were Directors 
as at year end are as follows:-

 Number of ordinary shares 

At 1.11.2019 Bought Sold At 31.10.2020

Company

Direct interests

Tan Lye Huat 1,739,272 - - 1,739,272

Tan Sook Yee 804,756 - - 804,756

Indirect interests

Tan Lye Huat* 24,488,869 - - 24,488,869

Tan Sook Yee* 20,887,124 - - 20,887,124

*	 Deemed interest by virtue of the shareholdings in Company in which Directors have interest and members of the Director’s family. 

By virtue of their interests in the shares of the Company, Tan Lye Huat and Tan Sook Yee are also deemed interest in the shares of 
all the subsidiaries during the financial year to the extent that the Company has an interest under Section 8 of the Companies Act, 
2016.

Except as disclosed, none of the other Directors in office at the end of the financial year held any interest in shares of the Company 
or its related corporations during the financial year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS

During the financial year, the fees and other benefits received and receivable by the Directors of the Company are as follows:-

Incurred by 
the Company

Incurred by 
the subsidiaries Group

RM RM RM

Directors’ fees 65,000 - 65,000

Salaries and other emoluments 21,000 866,990 887,990

Defined contribution plan - 154,989 154,989

Social security contribution - 3,777 3,777

86,000 1,025,756 1,111,756

The estimate monetary value of benefits-in-kind received by the Directors other than cash from the Group amounted to RM16,325.

During and at the end of the financial year, no arrangements subsisted to which the Company is a party, with the object or objects 
of enabling Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company 
or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
(CONT’D)
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ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

There were no changes in the issued and paid up capital of the Company and there was no issuance of debentures during the 
financial year.

TREASURY SHARES

The shareholders of the Company, by a special resolution passed at an Annual General Meeting held on 28 March 2007, approved 
the Company’s plan to repurchase up to 10% of the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company (“Share Buy Back”). The 
authority granted by the shareholders was subsequently renewed in the last Annual General Meeting held on 28 July 2020. The 
Directors of the Company are committed to enhance the value of the Company to its shareholders and believe that the purchase 
plan can be applied in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders.

The Company has the right to cancel or to resell these shares and/or distributes as dividends at a later date. As treasury shares, 
the rights attached to voting, dividends and participation in other distribution is suspended. None of the treasury shares were 
repurchased or sold during the financial year.

As at the reporting date, the number of ordinary shares in issue after deducting treasury shares against equity is 36,576,525 ordinary 
shares.

OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION 

Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps:-

(a)	 to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of provision for 
doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that there were no bad debts to be written off and no provision for doubtful debts 
was required; and

(b)	 to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to be realised in the ordinary course of business including their values 
as shown in the accounting records of the Group and of the Company have been written down to an amount which they 
might be expected so to realise.

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances:-

(a)	 which would render it necessary to write off any bad debts or to make any provision for doubtful debts in the financial 
statements of the Group and of the Company; or

(b)	 which would render the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company 
misleading; or

(c) 	 which have arisen which would render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and 
of the Company misleading or inappropriate; or

(d)	 not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial statements which would render any amount stated in the financial 
statements misleading.

At the date of this report, there does not exist:-

(a)	 any charge on the assets of the Group and of the Company which have arisen since the end of the financial year which secure 
the liability of any other person; or

(b)	 any contingent liability of the Group and of the Company which have arisen since the end of the financial year.

In the opinion of the Directors:-

(a)	 no contingent liability or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the period of 
twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of the Directors, will or may affect the ability of the 
Group and of the Company to meet their obligations as and when they fall due; 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
(CONT’D)
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OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION (CONT’D)

In the opinion of the Directors (cont’d):- 

(b)	 the results of operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial year were not substantially affected by any 
item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature; and

(c)	 there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction 
or event of a material and unusual nature likely to affect substantially the results of operations of the Group and of the 
Company for the current financial year in which this report is made.

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE FOR DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

There is no indemnity coverage and insurance premium paid for the Directors and Officers of the Group and of the Company during 
the financial year.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of subsidiaries are set out in Note 8 to the financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT EVENT DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR AND SUBSEQUENT TO THE REPORTING PERIOD

The significant event during the financial year and subsequent to the reporting period is disclosed in Note 39 to the financial 
statements.

AUDITORS

The Auditors’ remuneration of the Company is disclosed in Note 28 to the financial statements.

There was no indemnity given to or insurance effected for the Auditors of the Company during the financial year.

The Auditors, Grant Thornton Malaysia PLT, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

..........................................................….	 )
TAN LYE HUAT 	 )
 	 )
 	 )
	 )
	 )	 DIRECTORS
 	 )
	 )
..........................................................….	 )
TAN SOOK YEE	 )

Kuala Lumpur
27 January 2021

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
(CONT’D)



ANNUAL  R EPORT  2 0 2 0

33

In the opinion of the Directors, the financial statements set out on pages 37 to 110 are drawn up in accordance with Malaysian 
Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 2016 in 
Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 October 2020 and their 
financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

..................................................................... .....................................................................

TAN LYE HUAT TAN SOOK YEE

Kuala Lumpur
27 January 2021

STATUTORY
DECLARATION

I, Chong Kong Hui, being the Officer primarily responsible for the financial management of Kumpulan H & L High-Tech Berhad, do 
solemnly and sincerely declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, the financial statements set out on pages 37 to 110 are 
correct and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the Statutory Declarations 
Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared	 )
by the abovenamed at Kuala Lumpur	 )
in the Federal Territory this day of	 )
27 January 2021			   ) ...........................................................……..............

CHONG KONG HUI
(MIA NO.: 25067)

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANT

Before me:

Commissioner for Oaths

STATEMENT
BY DIRECTORS
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Kumpulan H & L High-Tech Berhad, which comprise statements of financial position 
as at 31 October 2020 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial year then ended, 
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, as set out on pages 37 to 110.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the 
Company as at 31 October 2020, and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended in accordance 
with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies 
Act, 2016 in Malaysia.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.

Independence and Other Ethical Responsibilities

We are independent of the Group and of the Company in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, Conduct and 
Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws”) and the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”), and 
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the By-Laws and the IESBA Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the Group and of the Company for the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment of the carrying amount of trade receivables

The risk

Refer to Note 12 to the financial statements. We focused on this area because the Group has material amounts of trade receivables 
that are past due but not impaired. The key associate risk is the recoverability of billed trade receivables as management judgement 
is required in determining the completeness of the trade receivables provision and in assessing its adequacy through considering 
the expected recoverability of the year-end trade receivables. 

Our response

We have challenged management’s assumptions in calculating the impairment loss for trade receivables. This includes reviewing 
the ageing of receivables in comparison to previous years, testing the integrity of ageing by calculating the due date for a sample of 
invoices and reviewing the level of bad debts written off in the current year against the prior year. We also checked the recoverability 
of outstanding receivables through examination of subsequent cash receipts, challenged the expected credit loss model developed 
by the Group and tested the operating effectiveness of the relevant control procedures that management has in place.

Inventories valuation

The risk

Refer to Note 9 to the financial statements. The Group holds a significant amount of inventories which is subject to risk that the 
inventories become slow-moving or obsolete, such that they could not be sold or can only be sold for selling prices that are less than 
the carrying value. There is inherent subjectivity and estimation required in determining the accuracy of inventory obsolescence 
provision and in making an assessment of its adequacy as it consists of risks such as inventory prices not valid and inventory not 
stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)

Inventories valuation (cont’d)

Our response

For both finished goods and raw materials, we tested the methodology for calculating the provisions, challenged the appropriateness 
and consistency of judgements and assumptions, and considered the nature and suitability of historic data used in estimating the 
provisions. In doing so, we obtained understanding on the ageing profile of inventories, the process for identifying specific problem 
inventories and historical loss rates.

There is no key audit matter to be communicated in respect of the audit of the financial statements of the Company.

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprise the information included 
in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements of the Group and of the Company and our auditors’ report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements of the 
Group and of the Company or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the Company that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards 
and the requirements of the Companies Act, 2016. The Directors are also responsible for such internal control as the Directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the Company that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and 
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Company as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing, we 
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
(CONT’D)
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing, we 
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also (cont’d):- 

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s and of the 
Company’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by Directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Group’s or the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements of the Group and of 
the Company or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group or the Company 
to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Company represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within 
the Group to express an opinion on the financial statements of the Group. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicated with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identified during our audit.

We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, 
and communicated with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determined those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current year and are therefore the key audit matters. We described 
these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

OTHER MATTERS

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 266 of the Companies Act, 2016 in 
Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this report.

..................................................................... .....................................................................

GRANT THORNTON MALAYSIA PLT TAN CHEE BENG

(201906003682 & LLP0022494-LCA) (NO: 02664/02/2023(J))

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS (AF 0737) CHARTERED ACCOUNTANT

Kuala Lumpur
27 January 2021

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
(CONT’D)
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STATEMENTS OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 OCTOBER 2020

Group Company

Note 2020
RM

2019
RM

2020
RM

2019
RM

ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 4  9,074,968  22,510,179  -  - 

Prepaid land lease payments 5  -  2,365,711  -  - 

Right-of-use assets 6  25,874,846  -  -  - 

Investment properties 7  55,850,000  55,840,000  -  - 

Investment in subsidiaries 8  -  - 26,281,683 26,020,367 

Inventories 9  293,503  293,503  -  - 

Other investments 10  52,768  69,764  -  - 

Total non-current assets  91,146,085  81,079,157  26,281,683  26,020,367 

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories 9  2,360,963  4,158,844  -  - 

Bearer biological assets 11  143,429  88,485  -  - 

Trade receivables 12  2,718,920  2,850,642  -  - 

Other receivables 13  254,448  332,367  6,462  11,421 

Other investments 10  1,069,054  820,445  -  - 

Amount due from subsidiaries 8  -  -  -  513,781 

Derivative financial assets 14  1,796  -  -  - 

Tax recoverable  100,500  52,000  -  - 

Deposits with licensed financial 
institutions 15  22,925,960  21,893,223  12,722,407  12,660,219 

Cash and bank balances  3,859,223  4,008,809  606,511  294,851 

Total current assets  33,434,293  34,204,815  13,335,380  13,480,272 

TOTAL ASSETS  124,580,378  115,283,972  39,617,063  39,500,639 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners  
of the Company

Share capital 16  40,612,085  40,612,085  40,612,085  40,612,085 

Treasury shares 17  (3,554,493)  (3,554,493)  (3,554,493)  (3,554,493)

Revaluation reserve 18  8,574,702  8,368,286  -  - 

Retained earnings  50,831,514  49,498,060  2,523,258  2,329,694 

Total equity  96,463,808  94,923,938  39,580,850  39,387,286 
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Group Company

Note 2020
RM

2019
RM

2020
RM

2019
RM

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES (CONT’D)

LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Borrowings 19  8,852,812  10,056,819  -  - 

Lease liabilities 20  9,618,943  -  -  - 

Deferred tax liabilities 21  6,055,338  6,064,173  -  - 

Total non-current liabilities  24,527,093  16,120,992  -  - 

CURRENT LIABILITIES  

Trade payables 22  192,419  458,827  -  - 

Other payables 23  1,765,543  2,358,631  36,148  113,273 

Contract liabilities 24  95,201  83,701  -  - 

Borrowings 19  1,149,029  988,419  -  - 

Lease liabilities 20  219,835  -  -  - 

Derivative financial liabilities 14  585  2,584  -  - 

Tax payable  166,865  346,880  65  80 

Total current liabilities  3,589,477  4,239,042  36,213  113,353 

Total liabilities  28,116,570  20,360,034  36,213  113,353 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  124,580,378  115,283,972  39,617,063  39,500,639 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(CONT’D)
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STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 OCTOBER 2020

Group Company

Note 2020
RM

2019
RM

2020
RM

2019
RM

Revenue 25  18,506,970  22,618,724  1,090,400  3,500,000 
 

Cost of sales  (12,174,167)  (13,988,650)  -   -  

Gross profit  6,332,803  8,630,074  1,090,400  3,500,000 

Other income  1,201,965  762,745  261,316  -  

Finance income 26  591,752  569,492  328,391  148,296 

Net loss on impairment of financial 
assets  -   -   (95,478)  -  

Selling and distribution expenses  (117,347)  (175,441)  -   -  

Administration expenses  (3,198,969)  (3,601,025)  (136,495)  (172,289)

Other expenses  (1,334,165)  (1,528,535)  (156,524)  (558,509)

Finance costs 27  (710,019)  (320,636)  -   -  

Profit before tax 28  2,766,020  4,336,674  1,291,610  2,917,498 

Tax expense 29  (335,270)  (978,751)  (750)  (876)

Profit for the financial year  2,430,750  3,357,923  1,290,860  2,916,622 

Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Item that will not be subsequently 
reclassified to profit or loss

- Revaluation of buildings  271,600  75,600  -   -  
- Tax effect on items that will not be 
reclassified to profit or loss 29  (65,184)  (18,144)  -   -  

Other comprehensive income for the 
financial year  206,416  57,456  -   -  

Total comprehensive income for the 
financial year  2,637,166  3,415,379  1,290,860  2,916,622 

Profit for the financial year  
attributable to:-

Owners of the Company  2,430,750  3,357,923  1,290,860  2,916,622 

Total comprehensive income 
attributable to:-

Owners of the Company  2,637,166  3,415,379  1,290,860  2,916,622 

Earnings per share attributable to the 
owners of the Company (sen)

- Basic 31  6.65  9.18 
- Diluted 31  -  - 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 OCTOBER 2020

 Non-distributable Distributable

Share
capital

RM

Revaluation
reserve

RM

Treasury 
shares

RM

Retained
earnings

RM
Total
RM

Group

Balance at 1 November 2018  40,612,085  8,310,830  (3,554,493)  47,420,319  92,788,741 

Total comprehensive income:-

  Profit for the financial year  -  -  -  3,357,923  3,357,923 

  Revaluation during the financial 
year  -  57,456  -  -  57,456 

Transaction with owners:-

  Dividends (Note 32)  -  -  -  (1,280,182)  (1,280,182)

Balance at 31 October 2019  40,612,085  8,368,286  (3,554,493)  49,498,060  94,923,938 

Total comprehensive income:-

  Profit for the financial year  -  -  -  2,430,750  2,430,750 

  Revaluation during the financial 
year  -  206,416  -  -  206,416 

Transaction with owners:-

  Dividends (Note 32)  -  -  -  (1,097,296)  (1,097,296)

Balance at 31 October 2020  40,612,085  8,574,702  (3,554,493)  50,831,514  96,463,808 

Company

Balance at 1 November 2018  40,612,085  -  (3,554,493)  693,254  37,750,846 

Total comprehensive income  -  -  -  2,916,622  2,916,622 

Transaction with owners:-

  Dividends (Note 32)  -  -  -  (1,280,182)  (1,280,182)

Balance at 31 October 2019  40,612,085  -  (3,554,493)  2,329,694  39,387,286 

Total comprehensive income  -  -  -  1,290,860  1,290,860 

Transaction with owners:-

  Dividends (Note 32)  -  -  -  (1,097,296)  (1,097,296)

Balance at 31 October 2020  40,612,085  -  (3,554,493)  2,523,258  39,580,850 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS
 OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 OCTOBER 2020

Group Company

 
Note 2020

RM
2019
RM

2020
RM

2019
RM

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax  2,766,020  4,336,674 1,291,610 2,917,498 

Adjustments for:-
Amortisation of prepaid land lease 
payments  -  33,320  -  - 

Amortisation on government grants  -  (59,857)  -  - 
Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment  1,151,626  1,508,030  -  - 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets  475,007  -  -  - 
Dividend income from other investments  (26,118)  (41,754)  -  - 
Fair value (gain)/loss on investment 
properties  (10,000)  5,731  -  - 

Fair value (gain)/loss on derivative 
financial instruments  (3,795)  8,365  -  - 

Fair value gain on bearer biological 
assets  (54,944)  (8,455)  -  - 

Gain on disposal of quoted shares  (84,859)  (93,252)  -  - 
Loss on disposal of property, plant  
and equipment  1,741  -  -  - 

Impairment loss on investment in  
a subsidiary  -  -  -  386,687 

Impairment loss on amount due  
from subsidiaries  -  -  95,478  - 

Interest income  (591,752)  (569,492)  (328,391)  (148,296)
Interest expenses  710,019  320,636  -  - 
Net unrealised (gain)/loss on foreign 
exchange  (2,709)  19,938  -  - 

Net fair value loss on other investments  352,427  203,867  -  - 
Property, plant and equipment  
written off  6,893  1  -  - 

Reversal impairment loss on investment 
in a subsidiary  -  -  (261,316)  - 

Operating profit before working capital 
changes  4,689,556  5,663,752  797,381 3,155,889 

Changes in working capital:-
Inventories  1,797,881  10,032  -  - 
Receivables  205,543  162,754  4,959  (4,908)
Payables  (859,804)  (1,329,290)  (77,125)  17,023 
Contract liabilities 11,500 83,701  -  - 
 
Cash generated from operations  5,844,676 4,590,949  725,215 3,168,004 

Tax refunded  120,969  269,090  -  - 
Tax paid  (758,773)  (1,499,438)  (765)  (876)

Net cash from operating activities  5,206,872  3,360,601  724,450 3,167,128 
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Group Company

 
Note 2020

RM
2019
RM

2020
RM

2019
RM

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Dividend received from other 
investments  26,118  41,754  -  - 

Repayment from subsidiaries  -  -  418,303  10,005,562 
Interest received  591,752  569,492  328,391  148,296 
Proceeds from disposal of property, 
plant and equipment  18,472  -  -  - 

Proceeds from disposal of quoted shares  192,366  586,264  -  - 
Purchase of property, plant and 
equipment  (1,259,880)  (1,103,920)  -  - 

Purchase of quoted shares  (691,547)  (1,036,630)  -  - 
Purchase of right-of-use assets A  (312,018)  -  -  - 

Net cash (used in)/from investing 
activities  (1,434,737)  (943,040)  746,694  10,153,858 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Interest paid  (710,019)  (320,636)  -  - 

Dividend paid  (1,097,296)  (1,280,182)  (1,097,296)  (1,280,182)

Placement of deposits with licensed 
financial institutions  (2,780)  (2,575)  -  - 

Drawdown of term loans  -  11,200,000  -  - 

Repayment of lease liabilities  (45,387)  -  -  - 

Repayment of borrowings  (1,043,397)  (3,730,159)  -  - 

Net cash (used in)/from financing 
activities  (2,898,879)  5,866,448  (1,097,296)  (1,280,182)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Net changes  873,256  8,284,009  373,848  12,040,804 

Effect of exchange rate changes  7,115  (612)  -  - 

Brought forward  25,811,097  17,527,700  12,955,070  914,266 

Carried forward B  26,691,468  25,811,097  13,328,918  12,955,070 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(CONT’D)
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NOTES TO THE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

A.	 PURCHASE OF RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Group Company

2020
RM

2019
RM

2020
RM

2019
RM

Total purchase of right-of-use assets  889,918  -  -  - 

Purchase through lease liabilities 
arrangements  (577,900)  -  -  - 

Cash payment  312,018  -  -  - 

B.	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

	 Cash and cash equivalents included in the statements of cash flows comprise the following items:-

Group Company

2020
RM

2019
RM

2020
RM

2019
RM

Cash and bank balances  3,859,223  4,008,809  606,511  294,851 

Deposits with licensed financial institutions 
(Note 15)  22,925,960  21,893,223  12,722,407  12,660,219 

 26,785,183  25,902,032  13,328,918  12,955,070 

Less: Deposits pledged with licensed 
financial institutions  (93,715)  (90,935)  -  - 

 26,691,468  25,811,097  13,328,918  12,955,070 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(CONT’D)
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1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION 

	 The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia and is listed on the Main Market 
of the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The registered office of the Company is located at Unit 30-01, Level 30, Tower A, 
Vertical Business Suite, Avenue 3, Bangsar South, No. 8, Jalan Kerinchi, 59200 Kuala Lumpur. The principal place of business 
of the Company is located at No. 6, Jalan TSB 1, Taman Industri Sungai Buloh, 47000 Sungai Buloh, Selangor Darul Ehsan.

	 The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are described in Note 
8 to the financial statements.

	 There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities of the Company and its subsidiaries during the 
financial year.

	 The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors 
on 27 January 2021.

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1	 Statement of Compliance

	 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Malaysian Financial 
Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”), International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and the requirements of the 
Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia.

2.2 	 Basis of Measurement

	 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company are prepared under the historical cost convention, except 
for certain properties and equity financial assets that have been measured at fair value.

	 Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

	 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption 
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset 
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The 
principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group or the Company.

	 The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

	 A fair value measurement of a non-financial market takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that 
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

	 The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 
are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs.

	 All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised 
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to their fair 
value measurement as a whole:-

Level 1	 -	Quoted (adjusted) market prices in active markets for the identical assets.
Level 2	 -	� Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to their fair value measurement is 

directly or indirectly observable.
Level 3	 -	� Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to their fair value measurement is 

unobservable.

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

31 OCTOBER 2020
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2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)

2.2 	 Basis of Measurement (cont’d)

	 For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines 
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest 
level input that is significant to their fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

	 For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of 
the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of fair value hierarchy as explained above.

2.3	 Functional and Presentation Currency

	 The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”) which is the Company’s functional currency and 
all values are rounded to the nearest RM except when otherwise stated.

2.4	 MFRSs

2.4.1	 Adoption of New Standards/Amendments/Improvements to MFRSs

	 The Group and the Company have consistently applied the accounting policies set out in Note 3 to the 
financial statements to all periods presented in these financial statements.

	 At the beginning of the current financial year, the Group and the Company adopted new standards/
amendments/improvements to MFRSs which are mandatory for the financial periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2019.

	 Initial application of the new standards/amendments/improvements to MFRSs did not have material impact 
on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, except for:-

	 MFRS 16 Leases

	 MFRS 16 supersedes MFRS 117 Leases, IC Interpretation 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a 
Lease, IC Interpretation 115 Operating Leases-Incentives and IC Interpretation 127 Evaluating the Substance 
of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise most leases on the 
statements of financial position.

	 Lessor accounting under MFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from MFRS 117. Lessors will continue to 
classify leases as either operating or finance leases using similar principles as in MFRS 117. Therefore, MFRS 
16 did not have an impact for leases where the Group and the Company are the lessor.

	 The Group adopted MFRS 16 using the modified retrospective method of adoption with the date of initial 
application of 1 November 2019. Under this method, the standard is applied retrospectively with the 
cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognised at the date of initial application. The Group 
elected to use the transition practical expedient to not reassess whether a contract is, or contains a lease at 
1 November 2019. Instead, the Group applied the standard only to contracts that were previously identified 
as leases applying MFRS 117 and IC Interpretation 4 at the date of initial application.
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2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D) 

2.4	 MFRSs (cont’d)

2.4.1	 Adoption of New Standards/Amendments/Improvements to MFRSs (cont’d)

	 MFRS 16 Leases (cont’d)

	 Initial application of the new standards/amendments/improvements to the standards did not have material 
impact to the financial statements of the Group, except for:-

Impact of change in accounting policy

31 October 
2019

MFRS 16
 adjustments

1 November 
2019

Note RM RM RM

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment (1) 22,510,179 (13,562,251) 8,947,928

Prepaid land lease payments (2) 2,365,711 (2,365,711) -

Right-of-use assets (1)(2) - 25,234,227 25,234,227

Non-current liability

Lease liabilities (3) - 9,241,440 9,241,440

Current liability

Lease liabilities (3) - 64,825 64,825

Note:

(1)	 The right-of-use assets represent the right to use of the underlying assets during the lease term.

(2)	 Prepaid land lease payments consist of leasehold land, which was reclassified to right-of-use assets 
upon adoption of MFRS 16.

(3)	 The lease liabilities are measured at present value of the lease payments that are not paid at 1 
November 2019 using its incremental borrowing rate. Subsequently, the lease liabilities are adjusted 
for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications if any.

	 The lease liabilities as at 1 November 2019 can be reconciled to the operating lease commitments as of 31 
October 2019, as follows:-

RM

Operating lease commitments as at 31 October 2019 as disclosed in the subsidiary’s 
financial statements 26,744,731

Weighted average incremental borrowing rate as at 1 November 2019 4.65%

Discounted operating lease commitment as at 1 November 2019/Lease liabilities 
recognised as at 1 November 2019 9,306,265

	 The Group has lease contracts for various items of property, plant, equipment and prepaid land lease 
payments. Before the adoption of MFRS 16, the Group classified each of its leases (as lessee) at the inception 
date as either a finance lease or an operating lease. The accounting policy for leases prior to 1 November 
2019 is disclosed in Note 3.3 to the financial statements.



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONT’D)

47

ANNUAL  R EPORT  2 0 2 0

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D) 

2.4	 MFRSs (cont’d)

2.4.1	 Adoption of New Standards/Amendments/Improvements to MFRSs (cont’d)

	 MFRS 16 Leases (cont’d)

	 Upon adoption of MFRS 16, the Group applied a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases 
except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The accounting policy for leases applied from 1 
November 2019 is disclosed in Note 3.3 to the financial statements. The standard provides specific transition 
requirements and practical expedients, which have been applied by the Group.

	 Leases Previously Accounted for as Operating Leases

	 The Group recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for those leases previously classified as 
operating leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The right-of-use assets for 
most leases were recognised based on the carrying amount as if the standard had always been applied, 
apart from the use of incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application. In some leases, the right-
of-use assets were recognised based on the amount equal to the lease liabilities, adjusted for any related 
prepaid and accrued lease payments previously recognised. Lease liabilities were recognised based on the 
present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at the date 
of initial application.

	 The Group also applied the available practical expedients wherein it: 

-	 Used a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics;
-	 Relied on its assessment of whether leases are onerous immediately before the date of initial 

application;
-	 Applied the short-term leases exemptions to leases with lease term that ends within 12 months of 

the date of initial application;
-	 Excluded the initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial 

application; or
-	 Used hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contained options to extend or 

terminate the lease.

	 Based on the above, as at 1 November 2019:-

(a)	 Right-of-use assets for the Group of RM25,234,227 were recognised and presented separately in the 
statements of financial position. This is the lease assets recognised previously under operating lease 
that were classified from property, plant and equipment and prepaid land lease payments.

	
(b)	 Commitments relating to lease previously classified as operating lease of RM9,306,265 were 

recognised as lease liabilities in the statements of financial position.

2.5	 Standards Issued but Not Yet Effective

	 The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance 
of the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Group and the Company intend to 
adopt these new and amended standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they become effective.

	 Amendments to MFRSs and IC Interpretation Effective for Annual Period Beginning on or After 1 January 2020:-

Amendments to MFRS 3*	 Definition of Business
Amendments to MFRS 101 and MFRS 108	 Definition of Material
Amendments to MFRS 7, MFRS 9 and MFRS 139	 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

	 Amendments to Reference to Conceptual Framework on MFRS Standards (MFRS 2*, 3*, 6*, 14*, 101, 108, 134*, 137, 
138* and IC Interpretation 12*, 19*, 20*, 22* and 132*)
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2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D) 

2.5	 Standards Issued but Not Yet Effective (cont’d)

	 Amendments to MFRSs Effective for Annual Period Beginning on or After 1 January 2021:-

Amendments to MFRS 9, MFRS 139, MFRS 7, 	 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2
   MFRS 4 and MFRS 16

	 Amendments to MFRSs Effective for Annual Period Beginning on or After 1 January 2022:-

Amendments to MFRS 3*	 Reference to the Conceptual Framework
Amendments to MFRS 116	 Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds before
		     Intended Use
Amendments to MFRS 137*	 Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

	 Amendments to MFRSs contained in document entitled “Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2018 - 2020”.

	 MFRSs and Amendments to MFRSs Effective for Annual Period Beginning on or After 1 January 2023:-

MFRS 17 and Amendments to MFRS 17*	 Insurance Contracts
Amendments to MFRS 101	 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

	 Amendments to MFRSs - Effective Date Deferred Indefinitely

Amendments to MFRS 10 and MFRS 128*	 Consolidated Financial Statements and Investments in
		     Associate and Joint Ventures - Sale or Contribution of Assets
		     between Joint Venture

* 	Not applicable to the Group and the Company.

	 The initial application of the above standards, amendments and interpretations are not expected to have material 
financial impact to the financial statements.

2.6	 Significant Accounting Estimates and Judgements

	 Estimates, assumptions concerning the future and judgements are made in the preparation of the financial 
statements. They affect the application of the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies and reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, and disclosures made. Estimates and underlying assumptions 
are assessed on an on-going basis and are based on experience and relevant factors, including expectations of 
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The actual results may differ from the 
judgements, estimates and assumptions made by management and will seldom equal the estimated result.

2.6.1	 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

	 Information about significant judgements, estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect 
on recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses are discussed below.

	 Depreciable of Property, Plant and Equipment and Right-of-use Assets

	 Management estimates the useful lives of the property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets to be 
within 4 to 94 years and reviews the useful lives of depreciable assets at the end of each reporting period. 
At 31 October 2020, management assesses the useful lives represent the expected utility of the assets to the 
Group. Actual results, however, may vary due to change in the expected level of usage and technological 
developments, which resulting the adjustment to the Group’s assets.
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2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D) 

2.6	 Significant Accounting Estimates and Judgements (cont’d)

2.6.1	 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (cont’d)

	 Impairment of Plant and Equipment and Right-of-use Assets 

	 The Group carried out impairment tests where there are indications of impairment based on a variety of 
estimation including value-in-use of cash-generating unit to which the plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets are allocated. Estimating the value-in-use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected 
future cash flows from cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate 
present value of those cash flows.

	 Inventories

	 Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. In estimating net realisable values, 
management takes into account the most reliable evidence available at the time the estimates are made. 
The realisation of these inventories may be affected by market-driven changes that may occur in the future.

	 Fair Value of Bearer Biological Assets

	 The Group’s bearer biological assets are measured at fair value less point-of-sale costs. In measuring fair 
values of fresh fruit bunches, management uses estimates of cash flows using inputs or assumptions of life 
to maturity, productivity quantity, mortality rate, selling prices of fresh fruit bunches, variable costs and 
profit margins. The probability-weighted cash flows are discounted using an appropriate discount rate that 
reflects the time value of money and the risk. As prices in agricultural business are volatile, the actual cash 
flows and discount rate may not coincide with the estimates made and this may have a significant effect on 
the Group’s financial position and results.

	 Provision for Expected Credit Losses (“ECLs”) of Trade Receivables

	 The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables. The provision rates are based on 
days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography, 
product type, customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit and other forms of credit insurance). 

	 The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group will 
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For 
instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over 
the next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the manufacturing sector, the historical 
default rates are adjusted. At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and 
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed. 

	 The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions 
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast 
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may 
also not be representative of customer’s actual default in the future.

	 Impairment of Non-financial Assets

	 An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. To determine the recoverable amount, management estimates 
expected future cash flows from each cash-generating unit and determines a suitable interest rate in order 
to calculate the present value of those cash flows.



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONT’D)

KUMPULAN H &  L  HIGH-TECH BERHAD

50

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D) 

2.6	 Significant Accounting Estimates and Judgements (cont’d)

2.6.1	 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (cont’d)

	 Impairment of Non-financial Assets (cont’d)

	 In the process of measuring expected future cash flows management makes assumptions about future 
operating results. The actual results may vary and may cause significant adjustments to the Group’s and the 
Company’s assets within the next financial year.

	 In most cases, determining the applicable discount rate involves estimating the appropriate adjustment to 
market risk and the appropriate adjustment to asset-specific risk factors.

	 Revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment and Right-of-use Assets

	 The Group measures its factory and buildings at revalued amounts with changes in fair value being recognised 
in other comprehensive income. The Group engages independent valuation specialists to determine the fair 
values.

	 Fair Value Valuation of Investment Properties

	 The Group measures its investment properties at fair value with any change in fair value being recognised in 
profit or loss. Significant judgement is required in the determination of fair value which may be derived based 
on different valuation methods. In making the judgement, the Group evaluates based on past experience 
and reliance on the work of specialists. The Group engages independent valuation specialists to determine 
the fair values.

	 Income Tax and Deferred Tax Liabilities

	 Significant judgement is involved in determining the Group’s and the Company’s provision for income taxes. 
There are certain transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain 
during the ordinary course of business. The Group and the Company recognised tax liabilities based on 
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different 
from the amounts that were initially recognised, such difference will impact the income tax and deferred tax 
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

	 Deferred Tax Assets

	 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, unutilised tax losses, 
unabsorbed capital allowances and unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will 
be available against which all the deductible temporary differences, unutilised tax losses and unabsorbed 
capital allowances can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount 
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits 
together with future tax planning strategies.

	 Assumptions about generation of future taxable profits depend on management’s estimates of future 
cash flows. These depend on estimates of future production and sales volume, operating costs, capital 
expenditure, dividends and other capital management transactions. Judgement is also required about 
application of income tax legislation. These judgements and assumptions are subject to risks and 
uncertainty, hence there is a possibility that changes in circumstances will alter expectations, which may 
impact the amount of deferred tax assets recognised in the statement of financial position and the amount 
of unrecognised tax losses and unrecognised temporary differences.
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2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D) 

2.6	 Significant Accounting Estimates and Judgements (cont’d)

2.6.1	 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (cont’d)

	 Leases - Estimating the Incremental Borrowing Rate

	 The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental 
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have 
to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of 
a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what 
the Group ‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available (such as 
for Group that do not enter into financing transactions) or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the 
terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in the Company’s functional currency). 
The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is 
required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the Group’s stand-alone credit rating).

2.6.2	 Significant Management Judgement

	 The following are significant management judgements made in applying the accounting policies of the 
Group that have the most significant effect on the financial statements.

	 Classification between Investment Properties and Owner-Occupied Properties

	 The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment property, and has developed criteria in 
making that judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or 
both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a property generates cash flows largely independently of the 
other assets held by the Group.

	 Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another 
portion that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. If 
these portions could be sold separately (or leased out separately under a finance lease), the Group accounts 
for the portions separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the property is an investment 
property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for 
administrative purposes.

	 Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so significant 
that a property does not qualify as an investment property.

	 Deferred Tax Assets

	 The assessment of the probability of future taxable income in which deferred tax assets can be utilised is 
based on the Group’s latest approved budget forecast, which is adjusted for significant non-taxable income 
and expenses and specific limits to the use of any unused tax loss or credit. If a positive forecast of taxable 
income indicates the probable use of a deferred tax asset, especially when it can be utilised without a time 
limit, that deferred tax asset is usually recognised in full. The recognition of deferred tax assets that are 
subject to certain legal or economic limits or uncertainties is assessed individually by management based 
on the specific facts and circumstances.

	 Leases

	 Significant Management Judgement applies until 31 October 2019:-

	 In applying the classification of leases in MFRS 117, management considers some of its leases of motor 
vehicles as finance lease arrangements. The lease transaction is not always conclusive, and management 
uses judgement in determining whether the lease is a finance lease arrangement that transfers substantially 
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership, whether the lease term is for the major part of the economic 
life of the asset even if title is not transferred and others in accordance with MFRS 117 Leases.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

	 The Group and the Company apply the significant accounting policies, as summarised below, consistently throughout all 
periods presented in the financial statements, unless otherwise stated.

3.1	 Basis of Consolidation

	 The Group’s financial statements consolidate the audited financial statements of the Company and all of its 
subsidiaries, which have been prepared in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. Amounts reported 
in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the 
accounting policies adopted by the Group. The financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries are all 
drawn up to the same reporting period. 

	 All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
entities of the Group (profits or losses resulting from intragroup transactions that are recognised in asset, such 
as inventory and property, plant and equipment) are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial 
statements. Intragroup losses may indicate an impairment that requires recognition in the consolidated financial 
statements.

	 Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are no longer 
consolidated from the date that control ceases.

	 Changes in the Company owners’ ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are 
accounted for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference 
between the amount by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or 
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

3.1.1	 Business Combinations

	 Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is 
measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the 
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects 
whether it measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate 
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and included in 
administrative expenses.

	 When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and 
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in 
host contracts by the acquiree.

	 If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through profit or loss.

	 Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed 
to be an asset or liability will be recognised in accordance with MFRS 9 either in profit or loss or as a 
change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it will not 
be remeasured. Subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. In instances where the contingent 
consideration does not fall within the scope of MFRS 9, it is measured at fair value at each reporting date with 
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. 

3.1.2	 Subsidiaries

	 Subsidiaries are entities, including structured entities, controlled by the Company. The financial statements 
of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences 
until the date that control ceases.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.1	 Basis of Consolidation (cont’d)

3.1.2	 Subsidiaries (cont’d)

	 Investment in subsidiaries is stated at cost less any impairment losses in the Company’s financial position, 
unless the investment is held for sale or distribution. The cost of investments includes transaction costs. 
Where an indication of impairment exist, the carrying amount of subsidiaries is assessed and written down 
immediately to their recoverable amount.

	 Upon the disposal of investment in a subsidiary, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and its 
carrying amounts is included in profit or loss.

3.1.3	 Loss of Control

	 Upon the loss of control of a subsidiary, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, 
any non-controlling interests and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary company. Any 
surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is recognised in profit or loss.

	 If the Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value at the 
date that control is lost. Subsequently it is accounted for as an equity accounted investee or as an available-
for-sale financial asset depending on the level of influence retained.

3.1.4	 Eliminations on Consolidation

	 All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group 
transactions are eliminated on consolidation. 

3.2 	 Property, Plant and Equipment

	 All property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and less any impairment 
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that 
future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably.

	 Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets and any other costs directly 
attributable to bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use, cost of replacing component parts of the 
assets, and the present value of the expected cost for the decommissioning of the assets after their use. The cost of 
self-constructed assets also includes the cost of materials and direct labour. For qualifying assets, borrowing costs 
are capitalised in accordance with the accounting policy on borrowing costs. All other repair and maintenance costs 
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

	 Buildings are measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation on buildings and impairment losses recognised 
after the date of the revaluation. Valuations are performed with sufficient regularity, to ensure that the carrying 
amount does not differ materially from the fair value of the buildings at the end of the reporting period.

	 As at the date of revaluation, accumulated depreciation, if any, is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of 
the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. Any revaluation surplus arising upon 
appraisal of buildings is recognised in other comprehensive income and credited to the ‘revaluation reserve’ in 
equity. To the extent that any revaluation decrease or impairment loss has previously been recognised in profit or 
loss, a revaluation increase is credited to profit or loss with the remaining part of the increase recognised in other 
comprehensive income. Downward revaluations of buildings are recognised upon appraisal or impairment testing, 
with the decrease being charged to other comprehensive income to the extent of any revaluation surplus in equity 
relating to this asset and any remaining decrease recognised in profit or loss. Any revaluation surplus remaining in 
equity on disposal of the asset is transferred to other comprehensive income.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.2 	 Property, Plant and Equipment (cont’d)

	 Bearer plants are living plants that are used in the production or supply of agriculture produce for more than one 
period and have remote likelihood of being sold as agriculture produce, except for incidental scrap sales. The bearer 
plants that are available for use are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses. Cost includes plantation expenditure, which represents the total cost incurred from land clearing to the point 
of harvesting. Bearer plants have an average life cycle of 25 years with the first 3 years as immature bearer plants and 
the remaining years as mature bearer plants. The mature bearer plants are depreciated over their remaining useful 
lives of 22 years on a straight-line basis. The immature bearer plants are not depreciated until such time when they 
are available for use.

	 Depreciation is recognised on the straight line method in order to write off the cost of each asset over its estimated 
useful life. Property, plant and equipment other than bearer plants are depreciated based on the estimated useful 
lives of the assets as follows:-

Factory and buildings	 2%
Plant and machinery	 10% - 20%
Motor vehicles	 20%
Office equipment, furniture and fittings	 10% - 20%
Warehouse	 10%
Renovations	 10%
Tools and utensils	 10% - 14%
Electrical installation	 10%
Staff quarters	 25%

	 The residual values, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed for impairment when events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable or at least annually to ensure that 
the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and expected pattern of 
consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and equipment. 

	 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use or disposal. Gain or loss arising on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are 
determined as the difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the assets and are 
recognised in profit or loss in the financial year in which the asset is decognised.

3.3	 Leases

	 As described in Note 2.4.1, the Group has applied MFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach and therefore 
comparative information has not been restated. This means comparative information is still reported under MFRS 
117 and IC Interpretation 4.

	 Accounting policies applies from 1 November 2019:-

	 The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys 
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

3.3.1	 As a Lessee

	 The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term 
leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and 
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.3	 Leases (cont’d)

	 Accounting policies applies from 1 November 2019 (cont’d):-

3.3.1	 As a Lessee (cont’d)

3.3.1.1	Right-of-use Assets

	 The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the 
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The 
cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs 
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives 
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease 
term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:-

Leasehold land 	 Over remaining lease term
Buildings	 2%
Motor vehicles	 20%

	 If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects 
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the 
asset.

	 The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. The accounting policies for impairment of 
non-financial assets is set out in Note 3.8 to the financial statements.

3.3.1.2	Lease Liabilities

	 At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the 
present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include 
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, 
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under 
residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option 
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, 
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that 
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce 
inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

	 In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing 
rate at the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily 
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect 
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount 
of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in 
the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate 
used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the 
underlying asset.

3.3.1.3	Short-term Leases and Leases of Low-value Assets

	 The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of machinery, 
equipment and premises (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the 
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value 
assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered to be low value. 
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low value assets are recognised as expense on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.3	 Leases (cont’d)

	 Accounting policies applies from 1 November 2019 (cont’d):-

3.3.2	 As a Lessor

	 Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of 
an asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over 
the lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial 
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of 
the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents 
are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

	 Accounting policies applies until 31 October 2019:-

	 The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement 
at the inception of the lease. The arrangement is, or contains, a lease if fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent 
on the use of a specific asset (or asset) or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is not 
explicitly specific in an arrangement.

3.3.3	 As a Lessee

	 A lease is classified at the inception date as an operating lease. A lease that transfers substantially all the 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the Group is classified as a finance lease.

	 Finance leases are capitalised at the commencement of the lease at the inception date fair value of the leased 
property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned 
between finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on 
the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in finance costs in the profit or loss.

	 A leased asset is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable certainty that 
the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the 
estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term.

	 An operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease. Operating lease payments are recognised as an 
operating expense in the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

3.3.4	 As a Lessor

	 Leases in which the Group do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an asset are 
classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease 
terms and is included in revenue in the statements of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct 
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the 
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are 
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

3.3.4.1	Finance Leases

	 Management applies judgement in considering the substance of a lease agreement and whether 
it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased asset. Key 
factors considered include the length of the lease term in relation to the economic life of the asset, 
the present value of the minimum lease payments in relation to the asset’s fair value, and whether 
the Group and the Company obtain ownership of the asset at the end of the lease term.  

	 For lease of land and buildings, the minimum lease payments are first allocated to each component 
based on the relative fair values of the respective lease interests. Each component is then evaluated 
separately for possible treatment as a finance lease, taking into consideration the fact the land 
normally has an indefinite economic life.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.3	 Leases (cont’d)

	 Accounting policies applies until 31 October 2019 (cont’d):-

3.3.4	 As a Lessor (cont’d)

3.3.4.2	Operating Leases

	 All other leases are treated as operating leases. Where the Group is a lessee, payments on operating 
lease agreements are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
Associated costs, such as maintenance and insurance are expensed as incurred.

3.4	 Investment Properties

	 Investment properties consist of land and buildings held for capital appreciation or rental purpose and not occupied 
or only an insignificant portion is occupied for use or in the operations of the Group.

	 Investment properties are initially measured at cost. The cost of investment properties includes expenditure that 
is directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties 
are stated at fair value and are revalued annually, which is determined by registered independent valuers having 
an appropriate recognised professional qualification and recent experience in the location and category of the 
properties being valued and supported with by market evidence. Gain or losses arising from changes in the fair 
value of investment properties are included in the profit or loss in the financial year in which they arise.

	 Investment properties are derecognised when either they are disposed off or when they are permanently withdrawn 
from use and no future economic benefit is expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss on the retirement or disposal 
of an investment property is recognised in the profit or loss in the financial year in which they arise.

3.5	 Inventories

	 Inventories comprising land held for property development, raw materials, work-in-progress and finished goods are 
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

	 Cost is determined on a first-in-first-out method. The costs of raw materials comprise costs of purchase plus the cost 
of bringing the inventories to their present condition and location. The costs of work-in-progress and finished goods 
comprise raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and appropriate proportions of production overheads.

	 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Write-down to net realisable value and inventory 
losses are recognised as an expense when it occurred and any reversal is recognised in the profit or loss in the period 
in which it occurs.

3.5.1	 Land Held for Property Development

	 Land held for property development consists of land where no development activities have been carried out 
or where development activities are not expected to be completed within the normal operating cycle. Such 
land is classified within non-current assets and is stated at cost plus incidental costs directly attributable to 
acquisition less any accumulated impairment losses.

	 Land held for property development is classified as property development cost at the point when 
development activities have commenced and where it can be demonstrated that the development activities 
can be completed within the normal operating cycle.



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONT’D)

KUMPULAN H &  L  HIGH-TECH BERHAD

58

3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.5	 Inventories (cont’d)

3.5.2	 Property Development Costs

	 Property development costs comprise costs associated with the acquisition of land and all costs that 
are directly attributable to development activities or that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to such 
activities.

	 When the outcome of a development activity can be estimated reliably, property development revenue and 
expenses are recognised in the profit or loss by using the percentage of completion method. The percentage 
of completion is determined by reference to the proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed 
to date bear to the estimated total contract cost.

	 When the outcome of a development activity cannot be estimated reliably, property development revenue 
is recognised only to the extent of property development costs incurred that is probable will be recoverable, 
and property development costs on development units sold are recognised as an expense in the period in 
which they are incurred.

	 Irrespective of whether the outcome of a property development activity can be estimated reliably, when it is 
probable that total property development costs (including expected defect liability expenditure) will exceed 
total property development revenue, any expected loss on a development project, including costs to be 
incurred over the defects liability period, is recognised as an expense immediately.

	 Property development costs not recognised as an expense are recognised as an asset and are stated at the 
lower of cost and net realisable value.

	 The excess of revenue recognised in the profit or loss over billings to purchasers is classified as accrued 
billings within trade receivables and the excess of billings to purchasers over revenue recognised in the 
profit or loss is classified as progress billings within trade payables.

3.6	 Bearer Biological Assets - Oil Palm

	 The Group attribute a fair value on the fresh fruit bunches (“FFB”) at each statements of financial position date as 
required under MFRS 141 “Agriculture”. FFB are produce of oil palm trees and are harvested continuously throughout 
the financial year to be used in the production of crude palm oil (“CPO”). Each FFB takes approximately 22 weeks 
from pollination to reach maximum oil content to be ready for harvesting. The value of each FFB at each point of the 
FFB production cycle will vary based on the cumulative oil content in each fruit.

	 In determining the fair values of FFB, management has considered the oil content of all unripe FFB from the week 
after pollination to the week prior to harvest. As the oil content accrues exponentially in the 15 days prior to harvest, 
the FFB prior to 15 days before harvesting are excluded in the valuation as the fair values are considered negligible.

	 The valuation model adopted by the Group is a discounted cash flows model which includes all cash inflows, cash 
outflows and imputed contributory asset charges where no actual cash flows associated with the use of assets 
essential to the agricultural activity are accounted for. The net present value of cash flows is then determined with 
reference to the market value of crude palm oil at the date of harvest, adjusted for transportation and other cost to 
sell at the point of harvest.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.7	 Financial Instruments

	 A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity.

3.7.1	 Financial Assets

	 Initial Recognition and Measurement

	 Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value 
through other comprehensive income (“OCI”), and fair value through profit or loss.

	 The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash 
flow characteristics and the Group’s and the Company’s business model for managing them. With the 
exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group 
and the Company has applied the practical expedient, the Group and the Company initially measures a 
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, 
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the 
Group and the Company has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price.

	 In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it 
needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal 
amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. 
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or 
loss, irrespective of the business model.

	 The Group’s and the Company’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its 
financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will 
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. 

	 Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held within a business model with the 
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cashflows while financial assets classified 
and measured at fair value through OCI are held within a business model with the objective of both holding 
to collect contractual cash flows and selling.

	 Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by 
regulation or convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the 
date that the Group and the Company commit to purchase or sell the asset.

	 Subsequent Measurement 

	 For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:

•	 Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments); 
•	 Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt 

instruments);
•	 Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and 

losses upon derecognition (equity instruments); or
•	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

	 At the reporting date, the Group and the Company do not have financial assets at fair value through OCI with 
recycling of cumulative gains and losses and financial assets at fair value through OCI with no recycling of 
cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.7	 Financial Instruments (cont’d)

3.7.1	 Financial Assets (cont’d)

	 Subsequent Measurement (cont’d)

	 Financial Assets at Amortised Cost

	 Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate (“EIR”) 
method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset 
is derecognised, modified or impaired. The Group’s and the Company’s financial assets at amortised cost 
include trade receivables, most of other receivables, amount due from subsidiaries, deposit with licensed 
financial institution, cash and bank balances.

	 Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (“FVTPL”)

	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statements of financial position at fair 
value with net changes in fair value recognised in the statements of profit or loss. 

	 This category includes derivative instruments, non-listed and listed equity investments which the Group 
had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through OCI. Dividends on non-listed and listed equity 
investments are recognised as other income in the statements of profit or loss when the right of payment has 
been established.

	 Derecognition

	 A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) 
is primarily derecognised when:

•	 The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
•	 The Group and the Company have transferred their rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has 

assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party 
under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Group and the Company has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group and the Company have neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 
control of the asset.

	 When the Group and the Company have transferred their rights to receive cash flows from an asset or have 
entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and 
rewards of ownership. When they have neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Group and the Company continue to recognise 
the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In that case, the Group and the Company 
also recognise an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a 
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group and the Company have retained.

	 Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the 
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the 
Group and the Company could be required to repay.

	 Impairment

	 The Group and Company recognise an allowance for ECLs for all debt instruments not held at fair value 
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance 
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group and the Company expect to receive, discounted at an 
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the 
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.  
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.7	 Financial Instruments (cont’d)

3.7.1	 Financial Assets (cont’d)

	 Impairment (cont’d)

	 ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase 
in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that 
are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECLs). For those credit exposures for which there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses 
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECLs).

	 For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group 
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognise a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at 
each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

	 The Group and the Company consider the probability of default upon initial recognition of the asset and 
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting 
period. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group and the Company compare 
the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date 
of initial recognition. The assessment considers available, reasonable and supportable forward-looking 
information.

	 The Group and the Company consider a receivable as credit impaired when one or more events that have a 
detrimental impact on the estimated cash flows have occurred. These instances include adverse changes in 
the financial capability of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments. However, in certain cases, 
the Group and the Company may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external 
information indicates that the Group and the Company are unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual 
amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group and the Company. 
A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash 
flows.

	 To measure ECLs, trade receivables are differentiated by the different business risks and are subject to 
different credit assessments.

	 The Group considers the expected credit loss rates for trade receivables as a reasonable approximation of 
the loss rates for contract assets with similar types of contracts.

	 Trade receivables, intercompany balances and other receivables which are in default or credit impaired are 
assessed individually.

3.7.2	 Financial Liabilities 

	 Initial Recognition and Measurement

	 Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective 
hedge, as appropriate.

	 All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and 
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

	 The Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities included trade and most of other payables, borrowings 
and derivative financial liabilities.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.7	 Financial Instruments (cont’d)

3.7.2	 Financial Liabilities (cont’d)

	 Subsequent Measurement

	 For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial liabilities are classified in two categories: 

•	 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss; or
•	 Financial liabilities at amortised cost.

	 Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss

	 Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative financial 
instrument contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each 
reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in the profit or loss immediately.

	 A derivative financial instrument with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset whereas a 
derivative financial instrument with a negative fair value is recognised as a financial liability. A derivative 
financial instrument is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity 
of the instrument is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months. 
Other derivative financial instruments are presented as current assets or current liabilities.

	 Financial Liabilities at Amortised cost

	 Trade payables, most of other payables and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction 
costs and thereafter, at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised 
in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs 
that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the profit or loss.

	 Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities for those having maturity dates of not more than 12 
months after the reporting date, and the balance is classified as non-current. 

	 Derecognition

	 A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or 
expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The 
difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the profit or loss.

3.7.3 	 Offsetting of Financial Instruments

	 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statements of financial 
position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there 
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

3.7.4	 Financial Guarantee Contracts

	 Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group and the Company are those contracts that require a 
payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the specific debtor fails to make a 
payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contracts are 
recognised initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to 
the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequently, the liability is measured at the higher of the best estimate of 
the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date and the amount recognised 
less cumulative amortisation. 
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.8	 Impairment of Non-financial Assets

	 Further disclosures relating to impairment of non-financial assets are also provided in the following notes to the 
financial statements:- 

	 Note 2.6   - Significant accounting estimates and judgements 
	 Note 3.2   - Property, plant and equipment 
	 Note 3.3.1.1 - Right-of-use assets

	 The Group and the Company assess at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group and the 
Company estimate the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s (“CGU”) fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, 
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups 
of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered 
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 

	 In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 
In determining fair value less costs to sell, recent market transactions are taken into account, if available. If no 
such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by 
valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded subsidiaries or other available fair value indicators. 

	 The Group and the Company base their impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations which 
are prepared separately for each of the Group’s and of the Company’s cash-generating units to which the individual 
assets are allocated. These budgets and forecast calculations are generally covering a period of five years. For longer 
periods, a long-term growth rate is calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year. 

	 Impairment losses including impairment on inventories, are recognised in the profit or loss in those expense 
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

	 For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication 
that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, 
the Group and the Company estimate the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount. A previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine 
the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the 
carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for asset in prior years. Such 
reversal is recognised in the profit or loss. 

3.9	 Cash and Cash Equivalents

	 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, bank balances, demand deposits, deposits with licensed financial 
institutions and highly liquid investments which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

	 For the purpose of the statements of financial position, cash and cash equivalents restricted to be used to settle a 
liability of 12 months or more after the reporting date is classified as non-current asset.

3.10	 Tax Expenses

	 Tax expenses comprise current tax and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in profit or 
loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination or items recognised directly in equity or other 
comprehensive income.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.10	 Tax Expenses (cont’d)

3.10.1	 Current Tax

	 Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable profit or loss for the financial year, using 
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax 
payable in respect of previous financial years.

	 Current tax for current and prior periods is recognised in the statements of financial position as a liability (or 
an asset) to the extent that it is unpaid (or refundable).

3.10.2	 Deferred Tax

	 Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the statements of financial position and their tax bases. Deferred 
tax is not recognised for the temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial 
recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to 
be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

	 The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement 
of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date, except for investment properties carried at fair value model. Where investment properties 
are carried at their fair value in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note to the financial 
statements, the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax rates that would apply on sale 
of those assets at their carrying value at the reporting date unless the property is depreciable and is held 
with the objective to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the property over 
time, rather than through sale.

	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities 
and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or 
on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax 
assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

	 A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will 
be realised.

	 Unutilised reinvestment allowance being tax incentives that is not a tax base of an asset, is recognised as a 
deferred tax asset to the extent that it is probable that the future taxable profits will be available against the 
unutilised tax incentive can be utilised.

3.11	 Sales and Service Tax

	 Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales and service tax (“SST”), except:

•	 Where the SST incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in 
which case, the SST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item 
as applicable; and

•	 When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of SST included.

	 The amount of SST payable to taxation authority is included as part of payables in the statements of financial 
position.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.12	 Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances

	 Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded in the respective functional currency of the Company and its 
subsidiaries at exchange rates approximating those ruling at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary 
assets and liabilities are translated at exchange rates ruling at reporting date. Non-monetary items that are 
measured at historical cost are translated at the dates of the initial transactions and those items measured at fair 
value in foreign currency are translated at the date when the fair value was determined.

	 Gains and losses resulting from settlement of such transactions and conversion of short term assets and liabilities, 
whether realised or unrealised, are included in profit or loss as they arise.

3.13	 Equity, Reserves and Distributions to Owners

	 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Company after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Ordinary shares are equity instruments. Share capital are recorded at the proceeds from ordinary 
shares issued, net of directly attributable incremental transaction costs. Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

	 The revaluation reserve within equity comprises gains and losses due to revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment.

	 Retained earnings include all current and prior years’ accumulated profits.

	 Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the articles of association of the Company 
grants the Directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised 
directly as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

	 Final dividends proposed by the Directors are not accounted for in shareholders’ equity as an appropriation of 
retained earnings, until they have been approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. When these dividends 
have been approved by the shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a liability.

	 The distribution of non-cash assets to owners is recognised as dividend payable when the dividend was approved 
by shareholders. The dividend payable is measured at the fair value of the shares to be distributed. At the end of the 
financial year and on the settlement date, the Company reviews the carrying amount of the dividend payable, with 
any changes in the fair value of the dividend payable recognised in equity. When the Company settles the dividend 
payable, the difference between the carrying amount of the dividend distributed and the carrying amount of the 
dividend payable is recognised as a separate line item in profit or loss.

	 All transactions with owners of the Company are recorded separately within equity.

3.14	 Treasury Shares

	 When issued shares of the Company are repurchased, the consideration paid, including directly attributable costs 
is presented as a change in equity. Repurchased shares that have not been cancelled are classify as treasury shares 
and presented as a deduction from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in the profit or loss on the sale, reissuance 
or cancellation of treasury shares.

	 When treasury shares are distributed as share dividends, the cost of the treasury shares is applied in the reduction 
of the share premium account or distributable reserves, or both.

	 When treasury shares are reissued by resale, the difference between the sale consideration net of directly attributable 
costs and the carrying amount of the treasury shares is shown as a movement in equity.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.15	 Revenue

	 Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when or as a performance obligation in the contract with 
customer is satisfied, i.e. when the “control” of the services underlying the particular performance obligation is 
transferred to the customer.

	 A performance obligation is a promise in a contract with a customer to transfer to the customer either:-

(a)	 good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct; or
(b)	 a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same and that have the same pattern of 

transfer to the customer.

	 Revenue from contracts with customers is measured at the amount of consideration to which the Group and the 
Company expect to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised services to the customers, excluding 
amounts collected on behalf of third parties such as sales taxes or services taxes. If the amount of consideration 
varies due to discounts, rebates, refunds, credits, incentives, penalties or other similar items, the Group and the 
Company estimate the amount of consideration to which it will be entitled based on the expected value or the most 
likely outcome. 

	 If the contract with customer contains more than one performance obligation, the amount of consideration is 
allocated to each performance obligation based on the relative standalone selling prices of the goods or services 
promised in the contract. 

	 The amount of variable consideration is recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal 
in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the uncertainly associated with the variable 
consideration is subsequently resolved. 

	 The control of the promised goods or services may be transferred over time or at a point in time. The control over 
the goods or services is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time if:-

(a)	 the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Company’s performance 
as the Company performs;

(b)	 the Company’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created 
or enhanced; or

(c)	 the Company’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use and the Company has an 
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

	 Revenue for performance obligation that is not satisfied over time is recognised at the point in time at which the 
customer obtains control of the promised goods or services.

	 For performance obligations where any one of the above conditions not met, revenue is recognised at a point in 
time at which the performance obligation is satisfied. 

	 When the Group and the Company satisfy a performance obligation by delivering the promised goods or service, it 
creates a contract based on asset on the amount of consideration earned by the performance. Where the amount 
of consideration received from a customer exceeds the amount of revenue recognised, this gives rise to a contract 
liability.

3.15.1	 Sales of Goods

	 Revenue relating to sales of goods is recognised net of sales returns and discount upon the transfer of 
control of the goods to the customers. Revenue is not recognised to extent there are significant uncertainties 
regarding recovery of the consideration due, associated costs or the possible return of goods.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.15	 Revenue (cont’d)

3.15.2	 Dividend Income

	 Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive payment is established.

3.15.3	 Interest Income

	 Interest income is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the 
Company and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis 
using effective interest method in profit or loss.

3.15.4	 Rental Income

	 Rental income is recognised on an accrual basis unless collectibility is in doubt.

3.15.5	 Joint Property Development Income

	 Revenue from joint property development project is recognised when the right to receive distribution is 
established.

3.15.6	 Contract Balances

	 Trade Receivables

	 A receivable represents the Group’s right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional (i.e., only the 
passage of time is required before payment of the consideration is due). 

	 Contract Liabilities

	 A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has 
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer pays 
consideration before the Group transfer goods or services to the customer, a contract liability is recognised 
when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as 
revenue when the Group perform under the contract.

3.16	 Employee Benefits

3.16.1	 Short-term Employee Benefits

	 Short-term employee benefit obligations in respect of salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and sick 
leave are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided.

	 A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short term cash bonus if the Group has 
a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the 
employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

3.16.2	 Defined Contribution Plans

	 Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed 
contributions into separate entities of funds and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further 
contribution if any of the funds do not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee 
services in the current and preceding financial years.

	 Such contributions are recognised as expenses in the profit or loss as incurred. As required by law, the Group 
makes such contributions to the Employees Provident Fund (“EPF”). 
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.17	 Borrowing Costs

	 Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other 
costs that the Group and the Company incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds.

3.18	 Operating Segments

	 Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segment, has been identified as the Board of Directors that makes strategic decisions.

	 Segment reporting is presented for enhanced assessment of the Group’s risks and returns. Business segments 
provide products or services that are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business 
segments. Geographical segments provide products or services within a particular economic environment that is 
subject to risks and returns that are different from those components operating in other economic environments.

	 Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities are those amounts resulting from the operating activities of a 
segment that are directly attributable to the segment and the relevant portion that can be allocated on a reasonable 
basis to the segment. Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities are determined after elimination of intragroup 
balances and intragroup transactions as part of the consolidation process.

3.19	 Earnings per Ordinary Share

	 The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) data for its ordinary shares.

	 Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group based on the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period.

	 Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group based on 
the weighted average number of shares in issue, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares during the 
period. 

3.20	 Contingencies

3.20.1	 Contingent Liabilities

	 Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 
estimated reliably, the obligation is not recognised in the statements of financial position and is disclosed 
as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. 

	 Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or 
more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic 
benefits is remote.

3.20.2	 Contingent Assets

	 When an inflow of economic benefit of an asset is probable where it arises from past events and where 
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events 
not wholly within the control of the entity, the asset is not recognised in the statements of financial position 
but is being disclosed as a contingent asset. When the inflow of economic benefit is virtually certain, then 
the related asset is recognised.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.21	 Provision

	 Provisions are recognised when the Group and the Company have a present obligation (legal or constructive) as 
a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. When the Group and 
the Company expect some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, the 
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense 
relating to a provision is presented in the profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

	 If the effect of the time of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre tax rate that reflects, 
where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to 
the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

3.22	 Related Parties

	 A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group and the Company. A related party transaction is a 
transfer of resources, services or obligations between the Group and the Company and its related party, regardless 
of whether a price is charged. 

(a) 	 A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group and the Company if that person:-

(i)	 Has control or joint control over the Group and the Company;
(ii) 	 Has significant influence over the Group and the Company; or
(iii)	 Is a member of the key management personnel of the corporate shareholders of the Group or the 

Company.

(b) 	 An entity is related to the Group and the Company if any of the following conditions applies:-

(i)	 The entity and the Group or the Company are members of the same group;
(ii)	 The entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity;
(iii)	 Both the Group or the Company and the entities are joint ventures of the same third party;
(iv)	 The Group or the Company is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of 

the same third entity;
(v)	 The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefits of employees of either the Group or the 

Company for an entity related to the Group or the Company;
(vi)	 The entity is controlled or jointly-controlled by a person identified in (a) above;
(vii)	 A person identified in (a)(i) above has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the corporate shareholders of the Group or the entity; and
(viii)	 The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 

services to the corporate shareholders of the Group or to the Group.
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4.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

(a)	 In prior financial year, the buildings were revalued based on valuation carried out by an independent professional 
valuer, on an open market value basis to reflect the market value of existing use. The comparison method was 
adopted in arriving at the market value of the buildings. There have been no changes to the valuation technique 
during the financial year. The revaluation surplus net of applicable deferred tax was credited to other comprehensive 
income and is shown in “Revaluation Reserve” under equity.

	 Buildings at valuation are categorised at Level 2 fair value. There were no transfer between Level 1 and Level 2 
during the financial year.

	 Level 2 Fair Value

	 Level 2 fair values of factory and buildings have been generally derived using the sales comparison approach. Sales 
price of comparable properties in close proximity are adjusted for differences in key attributes such as property size. 
The most significant input into this valuation approach is price per square feet of comparable properties.

	 In financial year 2019, had the revalued factory and buildings of the Group carried under the cost model, the carrying 
amount would have been at RM2,911,637.

(b)	 In prior financial year, the cost of motor vehicles of the Group amounted to RM510,451 is held in trust in the name of 
a Director of the Group. The net carrying amount of the motor vehicles is nil. Subsequently, the said motor vehicle 
has been disposal off during the financial year 2020.

5.	 PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

Group
2020
RM

2019
RM

Long leasehold land
Cost
At 1 November 3,132,050 3,132,050
Adjustment on initial application of MFRS 16 (3,132,050) -

At 1 November, restated/At 31 October - 3,132,050

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 November 766,339 733,019
Adjustment on initial application of MFRS 16 (766,339) -

At 1 November, restated - 733,019
Amortisation for the financial year - 33,320

At 31 October - 766,339

Net carrying amount - 2,365,711

Amount to be amortised:
- not later than 1 year - 33,320
- later than 1 year but not later than 5 years - 133,280
- more than 5 years - 2,199,111

- 2,365,711

	 Long leasehold land represents leasehold land with unexpired lease period of more than 50 years.
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6.	 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

	 The Group has lease contracts for lands. The lease of land within 58 to 94 years. Generally, the Group is restricted from 
assigning and subleasing the leased assets.

At valuation  At cost 

Buildings
Long 

leasehold land Motor vehicles Total

RM RM RM RM

Group

Cost or valuation

Adjustment on initial application of MFRS 16/
At 1 November 2019, restated 13,562,251 12,438,315 - 26,000,566

Additions - - 889,918 889,918

At 31 October 2020 13,562,251 12,438,315 889,918 26,890,484

Accumulated depreciation

Adjustment on initial application of MFRS 16/
At 1 November 2019, restated - 766,339 - 766,339

Charge for the financial year 271,600 158,911 44,496 475,007

Capitalised in bearer plants - 45,892 - 45,892

Revaluation adjustment (271,600) - - (271,600)

At 31 October 2020 - 971,142 44,496 1,015,638

Net carrying amount

At 31 October 2020 13,562,251 11,467,173 845,422 25,874,846

	 Long leasehold land represents leasehold land with unexpired lease period for more than 50 years.

	 Buildings

	 The buildings were revalued in the financial year 2020, based on valuation carried out by independent professional valuer, 
on an open market value basis to reflect the market value of existing use. The comparison method was adopted in arriving 
at the market value of the buildings. There have been no changes to the valuation technique during the financial year. The 
revaluation surplus net of applicable deferred tax was credited to other comprehensive income and is shown in “Revaluation 
Reserve” under equity.

	 Buildings at valuation are categorised at Level 2 fair value. There was no transfer between Level 1 and Level 2 during the 
financial year. 

	 Level 2 Fair Value

	 Level 2 fair values of factory and buildings have been generally derived using the sales comparison approach. Sales price 
of comparable properties in close proximity are adjusted for differences in key attributes such as property size. The most 
significant input into this valuation approach is price per square feet of comparable properties.

	 In financial year 2020, had the revalued factory and buildings of the Group carried under the cost model, the carrying 
amount would have been at RM2,776,601.

	 As a lessee

	 The above plant, machinery, equipment and motor vehicles are under finance lease arrangement.
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7.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Freehold
land
RM

Leasehold 
land
RM

Freehold 
buildings

RM

Leasehold
buildings

RM
Total
RM

Group

Fair value

At 1 November 2018 28,896,675 12,579,056 14,100,000 270,000 55,845,731

Fair value adjustment 3,325 (9,056) - - (5,731)

At 31 October 2019 28,900,000 12,570,000 14,100,000 270,000 55,840,000

Fair value adjustment - (90,000) 100,000 - 10,000

At 31 October 2020 28,900,000 12,480,000 14,200,000 270,000 55,850,000

	 The title deed of the Group’s leasehold land amounting to RM910,000 (2019: RM1,000,000) is yet to be issued by the relevant 
authority.

	 Freehold land and building and leasehold land and building of a subsidiary with net carrying amount of RM33,600,000 
(2019: RM33,500,000) and RM1,050,000 (2019: RM1,050,000) respectively have been charged to a financial institution for 
credit facility granted to a subsidiary as disclosed in Note 19 to the financial statements.

	 Income and expenses recognised in profit or loss:-

Group

2020
RM

2019
RM

Rental income from investment properties 2,249,100 2,262,370

Direct operating expenses for investment properties (111,834) (111,834)

	 Fair value basis of investment properties

	 Investment properties are stated at fair value, which has been determined based on valuations during the financial year. The 
fair values of the investment properties are based on valuations performed by accredited independent valuers with recent 
experience in the location and category of properties being valued. In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest 
and best use of the properties is their current use. There has been no change to the valuation technique during the financial 
year.

	 Fair value measurement of the investment properties were categorised as follows:-

Group

Level 2 Level 2

2020
RM

2019
RM

Recurring fair value measurements:-

Freehold land 28,900,000 28,900,000

Leasehold land 12,480,000 12,570,000

Freehold buildings 14,200,000 14,100,000

Leasehold buildings 270,000 270,000
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7.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONT’D)

	 Level 2 Fair Value

	 Level 2 fair values of freehold and leasehold land and buildings have generally derived using the sales comparison approach. 
Sales price comparable properties in close proximity are adjusted for differences in key attributes such as property size. The 
most significant input into this valuation approach is price per square feet of comparable properties.

8.	 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES/AMOUNT DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES 
 

Company

2020
RM

2019
RM

Investment in subsidiaries

Unquoted shares, at cost 27,416,971 27,416,971

Less: impairment loss on investment in a subsidiary (1,135,288) (1,396,604)

26,281,683 26,020,367

	 The movement of impairment losses of investment in a subsidiary is as follow:-

Company

2020
RM

2019
RM

Brought forward 1,396,604 1,009,917

Impairment during the year - 386,687

Reversal (261,316) -

Carried forward 1,135,288 1,396,604

	 The impairment loss was recognised to adjust the carrying amount of investment in a subsidiary due to net assets of a 
subsidiary is lower than the cost of investment.
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8.	 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES/AMOUNT DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)

	 Details of the subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows:-

Name of company
Principal place
 of business Effective interest Principal activities

 
2020
%

2019
%

H & L High-Tech Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 100 100 Manufacture and sale of precision 
engineering moulds, dies, jigs, fixtures, 
tools and other precision machine parts.

Plastik STC Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 100 100 Manufacture and sale of customised 
precision engineering plastic injection 
moulded thermoplastic and thermosett 
parts and components for electrical and 
electronic industry. 

H & L High-Tech Deco Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 100 100 Oil palm plantation.

H & L High-Tech Properties  
Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia 100 100 Letting of properties and property 
investment.

H & L High-Tech Properties 
Development Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia 100 100 Property development.

HLH Desa Coalfields Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 100 100 Dormant.

STC Technology Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 100 100 Dormant.

	 Amount due from subsidiaries

Company

2020
RM

2019
RM

Amount due from subsidiaries 95,478 513,781

Less: Allowance for ECL (95,478) -

- 513,781

	 The movement in the allowance for ECL in respect of amount due from subsidiaries is as follow:-

Company

2020
RM

2019
RM

Impairment during the year/Carried forward 95,478 -

	 The amount due from subsidiaries is non-trade related, unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.
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9.	 INVENTORIES

Group

2020
RM

2019
RM

Non-current

Land held for development (Note 9.1) 293,503 293,503

Current

Property development costs (Note 9.2) 74,527 129,028

Raw materials 743,048 1,532,550

Work-in-progress 162,241 676,863

Finished goods 1,381,147 1,820,403

2,360,963 4,158,844

2,654,466 4,452,347

Recognised in profit or loss:-

Inventories recognised in cost of sales 10,551,887 12,015,847

9.1	 Land held for Property Development

Group

2020
RM

2019
RM

Freehold land

Cost

Brought forward/Carried forward 293,503 293,503

	 Title deeds of the freehold land are currently surrendered to Perak state authority as part of the conditions for the 
property development project entered by a subsidiary.

9.2	 Property Development Costs

Group

2020
RM

2019
RM

Freehold land

Cost

Brought forward 129,028 221,880

Transferred to profit or loss (54,501) (92,852)

Carried forward 74,527 129,028

	 Title deeds of the freehold land are currently surrendered to Perak state authority as part of the conditions for the 
property development project entered by a subsidiary.

	 The subsidiary has entered into a joint venture agreement with a joint venture partner to develop two pieces of 
land and the subsidiary is entitled to 21% and 23% of the profit earned from the properties sold for each land 
respectively. All the development cost is operated and financed by the joint venture partner.
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10.	 OTHER INVESTMENTS

Group

2020
RM

2019
RM

FVTPL:-

Non-current assets

Golf club membership 50,500 67,000

Unquoted shares in Malaysia 2,268 2,764

52,768 69,764

Current asset

Quoted shares in Malaysia 1,069,054 820,445

1,121,822 890,209

Fair value of quoted investment (Level 1) 1,069,054 820,445

Fair value of unquoted investment (Level 2) 50,500 67,000

Fair value of unquoted investment (Level 3) 2,268 2,764

	 Details of the Level 3 fair value measured is as follows:-

Valuation method and key inputs Significant unobservable inputs Relationship of unobservable inputs 
and fair value

Adjusted net asset method which 
derives the fair value of an investee’s 
equity instruments by reference to the 
fair value of its assets and liabilities.

Fair value of individual assets and 
liabilities.

The higher the net assets, the higher 
the fair value.

11.	 BEARER BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

Group

2020
RM

2019
RM

At fair value:-

Fresh fruit bunches

Brought forward 88,485 80,030

Changes in fair value less costs to sell 54,944 8,455

Carried forward 143,429 88,485



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONT’D)

79

ANNUAL  R EPORT  2 0 2 0

11.	 BEARER BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (CONT’D)

	 The biological assets of the Group comprise fresh fruit bunches (“FFB”) prior to harvest. The valuation model adopted by 
the Group considers the present value of the net cash flows expected to be generated from the sale of FFB. To arrive at the 
fair value, the management has considered the oil content of the unripe FFB and derived the assumption that the net cash 
flows to be generated from FFB prior to more than 15 days to harvest is negligible, therefore quantity of unripe FFB on 
bearer plant of up to 15 days prior to harvest was used for valuation purpose. The value of the unripe FFB was estimated to 
be approximately 80% of the ripe FFB, based on actual oil extraction rate and kernel extraction rate of the unripe FFB from 
the laboratory tests. Costs to sell include harvesting cost and transport. 

	 During the financial year, the Group harvested approximately 6,579 metric tonnes (2019: 6,155 metric tonnes) of FFB 
respectively. None of the biological assets are pledged as securities for liabilities. The fair value measurement of the Group’s 
biological assets, which are estimated using unobservable inputs, are categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. 
Fair value assessments have been completed consistently using the same valuation techniques.

	 There were no transfers between all three (3) levels of the fair value hierarchy during the financial year 2020 and 2019.

12.	 TRADE RECEIVABLES

Group

2020
RM

2019
RM

Trade receivables 2,718,920 2,850,642

	 Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair 
values on initial recognition.

	 The credit terms granted by the Group to the trade receivables range from 15 to 75 days (2019: 15 to 75 days). Other credit 
terms are assessed and approved on a case-by-case basis.

	 An impairment analysis performed at each reporting date using a provision of matrix to measure expected credit losses. 
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., 
by product type, customer type and rating). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value 
of money and reasonable and supportable information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current 
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

	 The following table provides information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision 
of matrix:-

 Days past due 

Current
RM

1 to 30 
days
RM

31 to 60 
days
RM

61 to 90 
days
RM

More than 
90 days

RM
Total
RM

Group

2020

Expected credit loss rate - - - - -

Gross carrying amount 1,900,747 645,871 56,153 109,946 6,203 2,718,920

2019

Expected credit loss rate - - - - -

Gross carrying amount 1,295,868 762,734 416,782 215,038 160,220 2,850,642
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13.	 OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company

2020
RM

2019
RM

2020
RM

2019
RM

Non-trade receivables 60,265 128,333 - -

Deposits 21,600 31,600 1,000 1,000

Prepayments 172,583 171,642 5,462 10,421

GST recoverable - 792 - -

254,448 332,367 6,462 11,421

14.	 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

Contract/
Notional 
Amount

RM
Assets

RM
Liabilities

RM
Net
RM

Group

Current

Forward currency contracts

2020 1,186,896 1,186,896 (1,185,685) 1,211

2019 512,411 512,411 (514,995) (2,584)

	 The Group uses forward currency contracts to manage transaction exposure and they have maturity period of less than 12 
months.

	 These contracts are not designated as cash flow hedge or fair value hedge as they are not qualified for hedge accounting. 
The contract period is consistent with the currency transaction exposure and fair value changes exposure.

15.	 DEPOSITS WITH LICENSED FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

	 The average interest rates for deposits with licensed financial institutions of the Group and of the Company ranged from 
0.73% to 5.11% (2019: 2.30% to 4.71%) and 1.75% to 3.41% (2019: 2.36% to 3.71%) per annum and the average maturity 
period are 30 to 150 days (2019: 30 to 150 days) and 30 to 90 days (2019: 30 to 90 days) respectively.

	 Included in deposits with licensed financial institutions of the Group is an amount of RM93,715 (2019: RM90,935) which has 
been pledged for banking facilities granted by a subsidiary.
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16.	 SHARE CAPITAL

Group and Company

2020
RM

2019
RM

Issued and fully paid with no par value:-

40,612,085 units ordinary shares 40,612,085 40,612,085

	 The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All ordinary shares 
carry one vote per share without restrictions and rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

17.	 TREASURY SHARES

 Group and Company 

 2020  2019 

Number of
 treasury shares

Unit
Amount

RM

Number of 
treasury shares

Unit
Amount

RM

Brought forward/Carried forward 4,035,560 3,554,493 4,035,560 3,554,493

	 The shareholders of the Company, by a special resolution passed at an Annual General Meeting held on 28 March 2007, 
approved the Company’s plan to repurchase up to 10% of the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company (“Share Buy 
Back”). The authority granted by the shareholders was subsequently renewed in the last Annual General Meeting held on 
28 July 2020. The Directors of the Company are committed to enhance the value of the Company to its shareholders and 
believe that the purchase plan can be applied in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders.

	 The shares purchased were retained as treasury shares. The Company has the right to re-issue these shares at a later date. 
As treasury shares, the rights attached as to voting, dividends and participation in other distributions are suspended.

	 As at the reporting date, the Company held 4,035,560 (2019: 4,035,560) of the Company’s shares and the number of ordinary 
shares in issue after setting off against treasury shares is 36,576,525 (2019: 36,576,525).

	 No treasury shares were sold during the current and previous financial years.

18.	 REVALUATION RESERVE

Group

2020
RM

2019
RM

Brought forward 8,368,286 8,310,830

Revaluation surplus during the financial year 271,600 75,600

Transferred to deferred tax liabilities (65,184) (18,144)

Carried forward 8,574,702 8,368,286

	 The revaluation reserve is not available for distribution.
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19.	 BORROWINGS

Group

2020
RM

2019
RM

Secured:-
Non-current
Term loans 8,852,812 10,056,819

Current
Term loans 1,149,029 988,419

10,001,841 11,045,238

Repayment terms:
- Not later than 1 year 1,149,029 988,419
- later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 4,979,465 4,406,793
- more than 5 years 3,873,347 5,650,026

8,852,812 10,056,819

10,001,841 11,045,238

	 The effective interest rate of term loans ranging from 3.27% to 4.72% (2019: 4.52% to 4.97%) per annum.

	 The term loans are secured by way of:-

(i)	 Fixed charge against freehold land and building and leasehold land and building of a subsidiary as disclosed in Note 
7 to the financial statements; 

(ii)	 Assignment of rental proceeds; and
(iii)	 Corporate guarantee by the Company.

20.	 LEASE LIABILITIES

Group

2020
RM

2019
RM

Adjustment on initial application of MFRS 16/At 1 November 2019, restated 9,306,265 -
Additions 577,900 -
Payments (45,387) -

9,838,778 -

Represented by:-
Non-current 9,618,943 -
Current 219,835 -

9,838,778 -

	 The total cash outflow for leases amounted to RM351,624. 

	 The effective interest rate of the lease liabilities ranging from 4.06% to 4.65% per annum.

	 The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in Note 36 to the financial statements. 
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21.	 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

	 The deferred tax liabilities is made up of the following:-

Group

 2020  2019 

Assets
RM

Liabilities
RM

Net
RM

Assets
RM

Liabilities
RM

Net
RM

Brought forward (122,210) 6,186,383 6,064,173 (217,179) 6,343,555 6,126,376
Recognised in profit or loss (59,792) 38,599 (21,193) 94,969 (122,853) (27,884)
Recognised in other 
comprehensive income - 65,184 65,184 - 18,144 18,144

Crystalisation of deferred 
tax upon depreciation of 
revalued assets - (52,826) (52,826) - (52,463) (52,463)

Carried forward (182,002) 6,237,340 6,055,338 (122,210) 6,186,383 6,064,173

	 The components of deferred tax liabilities/(assets) are made up of temporary difference arising from:-

Group

2020
RM

2019
RM

Carrying amount of qualifying property, plant and equipment and investment 
properties in excess of their tax base 1,010,257 981,658

Revaluation surplus 2,266,758 2,254,400
Unabsorbed reinvestment allowance (75,503) (122,210)
Unabsorbed capital allowance (44,771) -
Unutilised business losses (61,728) -
Fair value gain on investment properties 2,960,325 2,950,325

6,055,338 6,064,173

22.	 TRADE PAYABLES

	 The trade payables of the Group are non-interest bearing and the normal credit term granted by suppliers to the Group 
ranges from 30 to 60 days (2019: 30 to 60 days).

23.	 OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company

2020
RM

2019
RM

2020
RM

2019
RM

Non-trade payables 139,901 122,789 - -
Sundry deposits 736,479 693,600 - -
Accrual of expenses 881,899 1,542,242 36,148 113,273
SST payable 7,264 - - -

1,765,543 2,358,631 36,148 113,273

	 Included in the sundry deposit of the Group, there is an amount of RM150,000 (2019: RM150,000) is in relation with a 
subsidiary entering into an arrangement with PY Homes Realty Sdn. Bhd. for the purpose of developing the subsidiary’s 
lands into a mixed residential project with the usual amenities.
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24.	 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Group

2020
RM

2019
RM

Deposit received 95,201 83,701

	 Contract liabilities comprised of advances deposit from customers for rendering of delivery of goods. 

	 When the Group received advances before the activity commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a 
contract. The advances will be reversed and recognised as revenue upon satisfying the performance obligation within the 
contract. All deposits received are expected to be settled within one year.

25.	 REVENUE

Group Company

2020
RM

2019
RM

2020
RM

2019
RM

Sales of goods 12,733,431 17,435,488 - -

Rental income 2,062,960 2,114,530 - -

Plantation 3,179,229 2,126,948 - -

Distribution from joint property 
development project 531,350 941,758 - -

Dividend income - - 1,090,400 3,500,000

18,506,970 22,618,724 1,090,400 3,500,000

	 Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers 

	 Revenue from contracts with customers is disaggregated by primary geographical market, major products and timing of 
revenue recognition in the following table:-  

Group Company

2020
RM

2019
RM

2020
RM

2019
RM

Major products and services

Manufacturing and sales of goods 12,733,431 17,435,488 - -

Rental income 2,062,960 2,114,530 - -

Plantation 3,179,229 2,126,948 - -

Distribution from joint property 
development project 531,350 941,758 - -

Dividend income - - 1,090,400 3,500,000

18,506,970 22,618,724 1,090,400 3,500,000
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25.	 REVENUE (CONT’D)

	 Primary geographical markets

Group Company

2020
RM

2019
RM

2020
RM

2019
RM

Malaysia 8,593,628 8,570,407 1,090,400 3,500,000

South East Asia 228,266 625,278 - -

European 6,654,506 10,444,794 - -

United States 2,954,008 2,883,307 - -

Others 76,562 94,938 - -

18,506,970 22,618,724 1,090,400 3,500,000

	 Timing of revenue recognition

Group Company

2020
RM

2019
RM

2020
RM

2019
RM

At a point of time 17,662,999 21,631,580 1,090,400 3,500,000

Over time 843,971 987,144 - -

18,506,970 22,618,724 1,090,400 3,500,000

26.	 FINANCE INCOME

Group Company

2020
RM

2019
RM

2020
RM

2019
RM

Interest income from deposit with licensed 
financial institutions 591,752 569,492 328,391 148,296

27.	 FINANCE COSTS

Group

2020
RM

2019
RM

Interest expenses:

- Lease liabilities 306,237 -

- Term loans 403,782 320,636

710,019 320,636
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28.	 PROFIT BEFORE TAX

	 Profit before tax has been determined after charging/(crediting), amongst other items, the following:-

Group Company

2020
RM

2019
RM

2020
RM

2019
RM

Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments - 33,320 - -

Amortisation on government grants - (59,857) - -

Auditors’ remuneration:

- statutory audit 111,500 111,500 28,000 28,000

- other services 5,300 5,300 5,300 5,300

Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment 1,151,626 1,508,030 - -

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 475,007 - - -

Dividend from financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss:

- quoted in Malaysia (26,118) (41,754) - -

Directors’ fee 65,000 76,000 65,000 76,000

Fair value (gain)/loss on investment 
properties (10,000) 5,731 - -

Fair value (gain)/loss on derivative financial 
instruments (3,795) 8,365 - -

Fair value gain on bearer biological assets (54,944) (8,455) - -

Gain on disposal of quoted shares (84,859) (93,252) - -

Impairment loss on investment in a 
subsidiary - - - 386,687

Impairment loss on amount due from 
subsidiaries - - 95,478 -

Loss on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment 1,741 - - -

Net fair value loss on other investments 352,427 203,867 - -

Property, plant and equipment written off 6,893 1 - -

Rental expenses - 355,046 - -

Reversal impairment loss on investment in a 
subsidiary - - 261,316 -

Realised loss on foreign exchange 107,362 67,740 - -

Unrealised foreign exchange 

- gain (2,709) - - -

- loss - 19,938 - -
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29.	 TAX EXPENSE

	 Tax recognised in profit or loss

Group Company

2020
RM

2019
RM

2020
RM

2019
RM

Current tax

Current year 594,525 1,388,650 725 850

Over provision in prior financial year (185,236) (329,552) 25 26

409,289 1,059,098 750 876

Deferred tax

Current year (73,856) (55,985) - -

Crystallisation of deferred tax upon 
depreciation charged for revalued assets (52,826) (52,463) - -

Under recognised in prior financial year 52,663 28,101 - -

(74,019) (80,347) - -

 335,270 978,751 750 876

	 Malaysian income tax is calculated at the statutory tax rate of 24% (2019: 24%) of the estimated taxable profits for the 
financial year.

	 Tax recognised in other comprehensive income

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

RM RM RM RM

Revaluation of buildings 65,184 18,144 - -
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29.	 TAX EXPENSE (CONT’D)

	 A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the statutory income tax rate to income tax expense 
at the effective income tax rate of the Group and of the Company is as follow:-

Group Company

2020
RM

2019
RM

2020
RM

2019
RM

Profit before tax 2,766,020 4,336,674 1,291,610 2,917,498

Tax at statutory tax rate of 24% 663,845 1,040,802 309,986 700,200

Tax effects in respect of:-

Income not subject to tax (178,977) (115,026) (402,526) (870,735)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 331,149 459,171 93,265 171,385

Crystallisation of deferred tax upon 
depreciation charged for revalued assets (52,826) (52,463) - -

Additional deferred tax on real property  
gain tax 10,000 (30,489) - -

Under recognised of deferred tax in prior 
financial year 52,663 28,101 - -

(Over)/Under provision of tax expense in 
prior financial year (185,236) (329,552) 25 26

Deferred tax assets not recognised (168,494) (21,793) - -

Investment tax allowance granted during 
the financial year (136,854) - - -

335,270 978,751 750 876

	 The Group has unutilised business losses, unabsorbed capital allowances, unabsorbed agriculture allowance and 
unabsorbed reinvestment allowance which can be carried forward to offset against future profit amount to approximately 
RM1,761,611, RM220,948, RM5,984,575 and RM314,595 (2019: RM1,504,413, RM34,401, RM6,434,229 and RM314,595) 
respectively.

	 Deferred tax assets are not recognised for the following temporary differences (stated at gross amount):-

Group

2020
RM

2019
RM

Carrying amount of qualifying plant and equipment in excess of their tax base (5,328,403) (5,075,998)

Unabsorbed agriculture allowance 5,984,575 6,434,229

Unutilised business losses 1,504,413 1,504,413

Unabsorbed capital allowances 34,401 34,401

2,194,986 2,897,045
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29.	 TAX EXPENSE (CONT’D)

	 Deferred tax assets are not recognised for the above temporary differences as it is not probable that future taxable profit 
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and unabsorbed tax losses can be utilised by the 
subsidiaries.

	 Effective Year of Assessment (“YA”) 2019 as announced in the Annual Budget 2019, the unutilised business losses of the 
Group as of 31 October 2020 and thereafter will only be available for carry forward for a period of 7 consecutive years, the 
unutilised business losses will be disregarded. 

	 Tax losses for which no deferred tax asset was recognised expire as follows:-

Group

2020
RM

2019
RM

YA 2025 1,504,413 1,504,413

30.	 GOVERNMENT GRANTS 

Group

2020
RM

2019
RM

Brought forward - 59,857

Amortised during the financial year - (59,857)

Carried forward - -

	 The government grant received is in respect of the purchase of an asset under the scheme of Malaysia Investment 
Development Authority (MIDA) by the government principal agency for promotion of the manufacturing and services 
sectors in Malaysia.

31.	 EARNINGS PER SHARE

	 Group

(a)	 The basic earnings per share has been calculated by dividing profit for the financial year attributable to ordinary 
equity holders of the Company of RM2,430,750 (2019: RM3,357,923) to the weighted average number of shares 
issued during the financial year of 36,576,525 (2019: 36,576,525), excluding treasury shares held by the Company.

(b)	 There is no diluted earnings per share as the Company does not have any convertible financial instruments as at 
reporting date.
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32.	 DIVIDENDS

Group and Company

2020
RM

2019
RM

In respect of the financial year ended 31 October 2020:-

First interim single tier dividend of RM0.02 per ordinary share, paid on  
28 February 2020 731,531 -

Second interim single tier dividend of RM0.01 per ordinary share, paid on  
28 October 2020 365,765 -

In respect of the financial year ended 31 October 2019:-

First interim single tier dividend of RM0.02 per ordinary share, paid on  
23 April 2019 - 731,531

Second interim single tier dividend of RM0.015 per ordinary share, paid on  
30 October 2019 - 548,651

1,097,296 1,280,182
	
	 The Directors do not recommend any final dividend payment for the current financial year.

33.	 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE

Group Company

2020
RM

2019
RM

2020
RM

2019
RM

Salaries, wages and other emoluments 5,429,076 5,814,178 21,000 41,000

Defined contribution plan 589,059 476,345 - -

Social security contribution 90,485 64,818 - -

6,108,620 6,355,341 21,000 41,000
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33.	 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (CONT’D)

	 Included in the employee benefits expense is the Directors’ remuneration as below:-

Group Company

2020
RM

2019
RM

2020
RM

2019
RM

Executive Directors:-

Directors of the Company

Salaries and other emoluments 866,990 980,880 - -

Defined contribution plan 154,989 97,230 - -

Social security contribution 3,777 3,436 - -

Executive Directors’ remuneration 1,025,756 1,081,546 - -

Non-Executive Directors:-

Directors of the Company

Salaries and other emoluments 21,000 41,000 21,000 41,000

Total 1,046,756 1,122,546 21,000 41,000

	 The estimated monetary value of benefits-in-kind received by the Directors of the Company other than cash from the Group 
amounted to RM16,325 (2019: RM16,325).

34.	 COMMITMENTS

	 Lease commitment 

	 In prior financial year, the Group had entered into a total of 11 cancellable Renting Agreements with various parties to lease 
the land for venturing into business of the oil palm plantation, comprising an area of approximately 1,438 acres for a renting 
period of sixty years.

	 The payment terms of the leasing are as follows:-

i)	 For the first six to eight months, no rental charges for tenor to land mobilisation.
ii)	 After the first six to eight months, no rental charges for tenor on oil palm plantation process for three years.
iii)	 After the three years and six to eight months, RM0.50 of rental charges will be apply on each oil palm tree planted on 

monthly basis for a period of two years.
iv)	 After the five years and six to eight months, RM0.60 of rental charges will be apply on each oil palm tree planted on 

monthly basis until the end of the tenancy period.
v)	 If the oil palm tree plant is infected by disease, rental charges will be exempted for three years.
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34.	 COMMITMENTS (CONT’D)

	 As at the reporting date, the cancellable lease commitments are as follows:-

2019
RM

Within 1 year 334,552

Between 2 to 5 years 1,714,794

More than 5 years 24,695,385

26,744,731

35.	 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

	 The Group and the Company have related party relationship with its subsidiaries, companies in which Directors have 
interest and key management personnel.

	 Related Party Transactions and Balances

	 The significant related party transactions during the financial year were as follows:-

2020
RM

2019
RM

Group and Company

- Dividend paid to companies in which Directors have interest 506,288 590,669

Company

- Dividend received from subsidiaries 1,090,400 3,500,000

	 The outstanding balances arising from the related party transactions as at the reporting date are disclosed in Note 8 to the 
financial statements.

	 Compensation of Key Management Personnel 

	 Key management personnel are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directly 
and controlling the activities of the Group and of the Company either directly or indirectly and entity that provides key 
management personnel services to the Group and the Company.

	 The remuneration of key management personnel is same with the Directors’ remuneration as disclosed in Note 33 to the 
financial statements. The Group and the Company have no other members of key management personnel apart from the 
Board of Directors.
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36.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

	 Categories of Financial Instruments

	 The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments categorised as follows:-

(i)	 Amortised costs (“AC”); and
(ii)	 Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).

Carrying
amount

RM
AC
RM

FVTPL
RM

Group

2020

Financial assets

Trade receivables 2,718,920 2,718,920 -

Other receivables 81,865 81,865 -

Deposits with licensed financial institutions 22,925,960 22,925,960 -

Cash and bank balances 3,859,223 3,859,223 -

Derivative financial assets 1,796 - 1,796

Other investments 1,121,822 - 1,121,822

30,709,586 29,585,968 1,123,618

Financial liabilities

Trade payables 192,419 192,419 -

Other payables 1,758,279 1,758,279 -

Borrowings 10,001,841 10,001,841 -

Derivative financial liabilities 585 - 585

11,953,124 11,952,539 585

2019

Financial assets

Trade receivables 2,850,642 2,850,642 -

Other receivables 159,933 159,933 -

Deposits with licensed financial institutions 21,893,223 21,893,223 -

Cash and bank balances 4,008,809 4,008,809 -

Other investments 890,209 - 890,209

29,802,816 28,912,607 890,209

Financial liabilities

Trade payables 458,827 458,827 -

Other payables 2,358,631 2,358,631 -

Borrowings 11,045,238 11,045,238 -

Derivative financial liabilities 2,584 - 2,584

13,865,280 13,862,696 2,584
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36.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

	 Categories of Financial Instruments (cont’d)

Carrying
amount

RM
AC
RM

FVTPL
RM

Company

2020

Financial assets

Other receivables 1,000 1,000 -

Deposits with licensed financial institutions 12,722,407 12,722,407 -

Cash and bank balances 606,511 606,511 -

13,329,918 13,329,918 -

Financial liability

Other payables 36,148 36,148 -

2019

Financial assets

Other receivables 1,000 1,000 -

Amount due from subsidiaries 513,781 513,781 -

Deposits with licensed financial institutions 12,660,219 12,660,219 -

Cash and bank balances 294,851 294,851 -

13,469,851 13,469,851 -

Financial liability

Other payables 113,273 113,273 -

	 Financial Risks Management

	 The Group and the Company are exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and the use of financial instruments. 
Financial risk management policy is established to ensure that adequate resources are available for the development of the 
Group’s and the Company’s business whilst managing its credit risk, liquidity risk, foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and 
market price risk. The Group and the Company operate within clearly defined policies and procedures that are approved by 
the Board of Directors to ensure the effectiveness of the risk management process.

	 The main areas of financial risks faced by the Group and the Company and the policy of the Group and of the Company in 
respect of the major areas of treasury activity are set out as follows:-

(a)	 Credit Risk

	 Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default in its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss 
to the Group and the Company. For other financial assets, the Company adopts the policy of dealing with reputable 
institutions. 
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36.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

	 Financial Risks Management (cont’d)

(a)	 Credit Risk (cont’d)

	 Following are the areas where the Group and the Company are exposed to credit risk.

	 Exposure to Credit Risk

	 Maximum exposure of the Group and of the Company to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of financial 
assets recognised at reporting date as summarised below:-

Group

2020
RM

2019
RM

Classes of financial assets

Trade receivables 2,718,920 2,850,642

Other receivables 81,865 159,933

Deposits with licensed financial institutions 22,925,960 21,893,223

Cash and bank balances 3,859,223 4,008,809

29,585,968 28,912,607

Company

2020
RM

2019
RM

Classes of financial assets

Other receivables 1,000 1,000

Amount due from subsidiaries - 513,781

Deposits with licensed financial institutions 12,722,407 12,660,219

Cash and bank balances 606,511 294,851

13,329,918 13,469,851

	 The Group and the Company continuously monitor credit standing of customers and other counterparties, identified either 
individually or by group, and incorporate this information into its credit risk controls. Where available at reasonable cost, 
external credit ratings and/or reports on customers and other counterparties are obtained and used.

	 The Group’s and the Company’s management consider that all the above financial assets that are not impaired or past due 
for each of the reporting dates under review are of good credit quality. None of the Group’s and the Company’s financial 
assets are secured by collateral or other credit enhancements and none of the carrying amount of financial assets whose 
terms have been renegotiated that would otherwise be past due or impaired.
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36.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

	 Financial Risks Management (cont’d)

(a)	 Credit Risk (cont’d)

	 Receivables

	 Receivables are monitored on an ongoing basis to mitigate risk of bad debts. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure 
to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. However, management also 
considers the factors that may influence the credit risk of its customer base, including the default risk associated 
with the industry in which customers operate.

	 The management has established a credit policy under which each new customer is analysed individually for 
creditworthiness before the Group’s and the Company’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are 
offered. Sale limits are established for each customer and reviewed quarterly. Any sales exceeding those limits 
require approval from the management.

	 In managing credit risk of trade receivables, the Group manage their debtors and takes appropriate actions 
(including but not limited to legal actions) to recover long overdue balances.  The Group’s debt recovery are as 
follows:-

(a)	 Above 30 days past due after credit term, the Group will start to initiate together with treasury team a 
structured debt recovery process which is monitored by the sales management team; and

(b)	 The Group will commence a legal proceeding against the customers who does not adhere to the restructure 
of the repayment scheme.

	 The Group uses provision matrix to measure ECLs for all the past due debts. Credit term which are past due more 
than 365 days will be considered as credit impaired.

	 The Group assessed the risk or loss based on the following factors:-

(i)	 Overall past trend payments of customers;
(ii)	 Financial performances of each individual customers; and
(iii)	 Cost of borrowings and interest income rate.

	 None of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets are secured by collateral or other credit enhancements.

	 The Group and the Company use three categories to reflect its credit risk and how the loss allowance is determined 
for each of those categories for financial assets other than trade receivables. A summary of the assumptions 
underpinning the Group’s and the Company’s expected credit loss model is as follows:-

Category Definition of categories
Basis of recognising 
expected credit loss

Performing Receivables have a low risk of default and a strong capacity 
to meet contractual cash flows.

12 months expected 
credit loss

Underperforming Receivables for which there is a significant increase in credit 
risk due to actual or expected significant adverse changes 
in business, financial or economic conditions that are 
expected to cause a significant change to the debtor’s 
ability to meet its obligations.

Lifetime expected  
credit loss

Non-performing Receivables which are credit-impaired when one or more 
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows have occurred.

Lifetime expected  
credit loss
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36.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

	 Financial Risks Management (cont’d)

(a)	 Credit Risk (cont’d)

	 Receivables (cont’d)

	 Based on the above, loss allowance is derived as follows:-

(i)	 the likelihood that the debtor would not be able to repay during the contractual period;
(ii)	 the percentage of contractual cash flows that will not be collected if default happens; and
(iii)	 the outstanding amount that is exposed to default risk.

	 As the computed expected credit losses are not material, no adjustment has been made to recognise the expected 
credit loss.

	 Information regarding the Company’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables is disclosed in Note 12 
to the financial statements.

	 Credit Risk Concentration

	 The credit risk concentration profile by geographical on trade receivables of the Group as at the reporting date is as 
follows:-

2020 2019

RM % RM %

By country

Malaysia 917,357 34 901,512 32

European 1,458,679 53 1,566,038 55

Singapore - - 37,280 1

United States 317,125 12 327,239 11

Thailand - - 17,204 1

Others* 25,759 1 1,369 -

2,718,920 100 2,850,642 100

	 *  Less than 1% for each of the country.

	 Credit Risk Concentration Profile

	 The Group determines concentration of credit risk by comparing the amount due from each individual customer 
against the total trade receivables. The credit risk concentration profile of the Group’s trade receivables at the 
reporting date as:-

2020 2019

RM % RM %

Customer A 721,386 27 523,988 18

Customer B 378,495 14 513,726 18

Customer C 266,264 10 319,698 11

Customer D - - 299,369 10
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36.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

	 Financial Risks Management (cont’d)

(a)	 Credit Risk (cont’d)

	 Credit Risk Concentration Profile (cont’d)

	 Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are credit worthy receivables with good payment records 
with the Group.

	 The net carrying amount of trade receivables is considered a reasonable approximate of fair value. The maximum 
exposure to credit risk is the carrying value of each class of receivables mentioned above.

	 Investments and Other Financial Assets

	 As at reporting date, the Group has only invested in domestic securities. The maximum exposure to credit risk is 
represented by the carrying amounts in the statements of financial position.

	 Investments are mostly in liquid securities and only with counterparties that have a credit rating equal to or better 
than the Group. 

	 In view of the sound credit rating of counterparties, management does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet 
its obligations.

	 Financial Guarantee/Corporate Guarantee

	 The maximum exposure to credit risk RM9,179,843 (2019: RM10,317,601) representing the outstanding banking 
facilities of the subsidiaries as at end of the reporting period.

	 The Company provide unsecured financial guarantees to banks in respect of banking facilities granted to a subsidiary. 
The Company monitors on an ongoing basis the results of the subsidiary and repayments made by the subsidiary. 
As at end of the reporting period, there was no indication that the subsidiary would default on repayment.

	 The corporate guarantee does not have a determinable effect on the term of the credit facilities due to the bank 
requiring parent’s guarantees as a pre-condition for approving the banking facilities granted to the subsidiary. The 
actual terms of credit facilities are likely to be the best indicator of “at market” term and hence the fair value of the 
credit facilities are equal to the credit facilities amount received by the subsidiary. As such, there is no value on the 
corporate guarantee to be recognised in the financial statements.

	 Intercompany Balances

	 The Company provides advances to subsidiaries and monitors the ability of the subsidiaries to repay the advances 
on an individual basis.

	 Loans and advances provided are not secured by any collateral or supported by any other credit enhancements.

	 Generally, the Company considers advances to subsidiaries have low credit risk. The Company assumes that there 
is a significant increase in credit risk when the subsidiaries’s financial position deteriorates significantly. As the 
Company is able to determine the timing of payments of the advances when they are payable, the Company consider 
the advances to be in default when the subsidiaries are not able to pay when demanded. The Company considers 
the advances to be credit impaired when the subsidiaries are unlikely to repay the advance to the Company in full, 
the advance is overdue for more than a year, or the subsidiaries are continuously loss making and having deficit in 
shareholders’ funds. 

	 The Company determines the probability of default for these advances individually using internal information 
available. 

	 In the previous financial year, there was no indication that the intercompany amounts are not recoverable.
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36.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

	 Financial Risks Management (cont’d)

(a)	 Credit Risk (cont’d)

	 Cash and cash equivalents

	 The credit risk for cash and cash equivalents is considered negligible, since the counterparties are reputable financial 
institutions with high quality external credit ratings and have no history of default. Consequently, the Group and the 
Company are of the view that the allowance is not material and hence, it is not provided for.

(b)	 Liquidity Risk

	 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group and the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as and 
when they fall due as a result of shortage of funds.

	 In managing its exposures to liquidity risk, the Group and the Company maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents 
and bank facilities deemed adequate by the management to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due.

	 The Group and the Company aims at maintaining a balance of sufficient cash and deposits and flexibility in funding 
by keeping diverse sources of committed and uncommitted credit facilities from various banks.

	 The summary of the maturity profile based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations are as below:-

Current  Non-current 

Within 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years
More than 
5 years

Total 
contractual 
cash flows

RM RM RM RM RM

Group

2020

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Secured:-

Borrowings 1,447,776 1,447,776 4,343,328 4,775,136 12,014,016

Unsecured:-

Trade payables 192,419 - - - 192,419

Other payables 1,758,279 - - - 1,758,279

Lease liabilities 539,489 539,489 1,618,467 22,801,527 25,498,972

3,937,963 1,987,265 5,961,795 27,576,663 39,463,686

Derivative financial liabilities

Forward currency contracts

- outflow 865,005 - - - 865,005

- inflow (864,420) - - - (864,420)

585 - - - 585

Total undiscounted financial 
liabilities 3,938,548 1,987,265 5,961,795 27,576,663 39,464,271
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36.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

	 Financial Risks Management (cont’d)

(b)	 Liquidity Risk (cont’d)

	 The summary of the maturity profile based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations are as below 
(cont’d):-

Current  Non-current 

Within 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years
More than 
5 years

Total 
contractual 
cash flows

RM RM RM RM RM

Group (cont’d)

2019

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Secured:-

Borrowings 1,447,776 1,447,776 4,343,328 6,222,912 13,461,792

Unsecured:-

Trade payables 458,827 - - - 458,827

Other payables 2,358,631 - - - 2,358,631

4,265,234 1,447,776 4,343,328 6,222,912 16,279,250

Derivative financial liabilities

Forward currency contracts

- outflow 514,995 - - - 514,995

- inflow (512,411) - - - (512,411)

2,584 - - - 2,584

Total undiscounted financial 
liabilities 4,267,818 1,447,776 4,343,328 6,222,912 16,281,834

Company

2020

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Unsecured:-

Other payables 36,148 - - - 36,148

Total undiscounted financial 
liabilities 36,148 - - - 36,148

Corporate guarantee* 9,179,843 - - - 9,179,843
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36.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

	 Financial Risks Management (cont’d)

(b)	 Liquidity Risk (cont’d)

	 The summary of the maturity profile based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations are as below 
(cont’d):-

Current  Non-current 

Within 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years
More than 
5 years

Total 
contractual 
cash flows

RM RM RM RM RM

Company (cont’d)

2019

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Unsecured:-

Other payables 113,273 - - - 113,273

Total undiscounted financial 
liabilities 113,273 - - - 113,273

Corporate guarantee* 10,317,601 - - - 10,317,601

	 *  �This exposure of liquidity risk is included for illustration purpose only as related financial guarantee has not 
crystalised.

	 The above amounts reflect the contractual undiscounted cash flows, which differ from the carrying values of 
financial liabilities at the reporting date.

(c)	 Foreign Currency Risk

	 Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in foreign exchange rates.

	 The Group’s exposed to foreign currency risk on sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency other than 
the functional currency of the subsidiaries. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily Euro (“EURO”), US 
Dollar (“USD”) and Singapore Dollar (“SGD”).

	 The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk, based on carrying amounts as at the reporting date are as follows 
(foreign currency balances are unhedged):-

 Denominated in 

EURO
RM

USD
RM

SGD
RM

Group

2020

Trade receivables 533,608 1,251,545 81,232

Cash and bank balances 137,096 175,412 37,576

670,704 1,426,957 118,808
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36.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

	 Financial Risks Management (cont’d)

(c)	 Foreign Currency Risk (cont’d)

 Denominated in 

EURO
RM

USD
RM

SGD
RM

Group (cont’d)

2019

Trade receivables 858,301 930,403 162,448

Cash and bank balances 40,050 240,433 82,782

Trade payables - (130) -

898,351 1,170,706 245,230

	 The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s profit for the financial year to a reasonably possible 
change in the EURO, USD and SGD exchange rates against the functional currency of the Group, with all other 
variables held constant.

Increase/(Decrease) on 
profit for the financial year

2020
RM

2019
RM

Group

EURO/RM

Strengthened 2%/1% 13,414 8,984

Weakened 2%/1% (13,414) (8,984)

USD/RM

Strengthened 1% 14,270 11,707

Weakened 1% (14,270) (11,707)

SGD/RM

Strengthened 1% 1,188 2,452

Weakened 1% (1,188) (2,452)

	 This percentage has been determined based on average market volatility in exchange rates in the previous 
12 months. The sensitivity analysis is based on the Group’s foreign currency financial instruments held at each 
reporting date and also takes into account forward exchange contracts that offset effects from changes in currency 
exchange rates.
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36.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

	 Financial Risks Management (cont’d)

(d)	 Interest Rate Risk

	 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the Company’s financial 
instruments will fluctuate because of the changes in market interest rates.

	 The Group’s fixed rate borrowings are exposed to a risk of change in their fair value due to changes in interest rates. 
The Group’s variable rate borrowings are exposed to a risk of change in cash flows due to changes in interest rates. 
Investments in equity securities and short term receivables and payables are not significantly exposed to interest 
rate risk.

	 The Group’s and the Company’s interest rate management objective is to manage the interest expense consistent 
with maintaining an acceptable level of exposure to interest rate fluctuation. In order to achieve this objective, the 
Group and the Company targets a mix of fixed and floating debt based on assessment of its existing exposure and 
desired interest rate profile.

	 The interest rate profile of the Group’s and the Company’s significant interest-bearing financial instruments, based 
on carrying amounts as at the end of the reporting date were as follows:-

Group

2020
RM

2019
RM

Fixed rate instruments

Financial asset

Deposits with licensed financial institutions 22,925,960 21,893,223

Financial liability

Lease liabilities (9,838,778) -

Net financial assets 13,087,182 21,893,223

Floating rate instruments

Financial liability

Term loans 10,001,841 11,045,238

Company

2020
RM

2019
RM

Fixed rate instruments

Financial asset

Deposits with licensed financial institutions 12,722,407 12,660,219
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36.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

	 Financial Risks Management (cont’d)

(d)	 Interest Rate Risk (cont’d)

	 Fair Value Sensitivity Analysis for Fixed Rate Instruments

	 The Group and the Company do not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss and does not designate derivatives as hedging instruments under a fair value hedge accounting model. 
Therefore, a change in interest rates at the end of the reporting date would not affect profit or loss.

	 Fair Value Sensitivity Analysis for Floating Rate Instruments 

	 At the reporting date, if interest rate had been 50 (2019: 50) basis points lower/higher, with all the other variable held 
constant, the Group’s profit for the financial year would have been RM50,009 (2019: RM55,226) higher/lower, arising 
mainly from lower/higher interest expense on floating rate borrowings. 

(e) 	 Market Price Risk

	 Market price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices (other than foreign exchange or interest rates). Equity price risk arises from the 
Group’s investments in equity securities quoted in Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

	 Management of the Group monitors the equity investments on a portfolio basis. Material investments within the 
portfolio are managed on an individual basis and all buy and sell decisions are approved by the authorised person 
of the Group.

	 Equity Price Risk Sensitivity Analysis 

	 This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant and all the Group’s equity investments moved in 
percentage of the share price.

	 A 13% (2019: 8%) increase in share price of each counter at the reporting date would have increase the Group’s profit 
for the financial year by RM138,977 (2019: RM65,636). A 13% (2019: 8%) weakening in the share price of each counter 
would have equal but opposite effect on the Group’s profit for the financial year.

	 Fair Value of Financial Instruments

	 The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities of the Group and of the Company at the reporting date approximately 
their fair values due to their short-term nature, insignificant impact of discounting or that they are floating rate instruments 
that are re-priced to market interest rates on or near the reporting date.

	 It was not practicable to estimate the fair value of the Group’s and of the Company’s investment in unquoted shares due 
to the lack of comparable quoted prices in active market. In addition, it is impracticable to use valuation technique to 
estimate the fair value reliably as a result of significant variability in the inputs of the valuation technique. The Group and 
the Company do not intend to dispose of these investments in the near future.

	 The fair value is calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market 
rate of interest at the end of the reporting period. For finance leases that market rate on interest is determined by reference 
to similar lease agreements. The interest rates used to discount estimated cash flows, when applicable are as follows:-

Group

2020
%

2019
%

Term loans 3.27 to 4.72 4.52 to 4.72

Lease liabilities 4.06 to 4.65 -
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36.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

	 Fair Value Hierarchy

	 The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair 
value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable.

•	 Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities.

•	 Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that 
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

•	 Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or 
liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

RM RM RM RM

Group

2020

Financial assets at FVTPL

Other investments 1,069,054 50,500 2,268 1,121,822

Bearer biological assets - - 143,429 143,429

Derivative financial assets - 1,796 - 1,796

1,069,054 52,296 145,697 1,267,047

Financial liability at FVTPL

Derivative financial liabilities - (585) - (585)

1,069,054 51,711 145,697 1,266,462

2019

Financial assets at FVTPL

Other investments 820,445 67,000 2,764 890,209

Bearer biological assets - - 88,485 88,485

820,445 67,000 91,249 978,694

Financial liability at FVTPL

Derivative financial liabilities - (2,584) - (2,584)

820,445 64,416 91,249 976,110

	 There were no transfers between of levels in financial year 2020 and 2019.
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36.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

	 Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities

1 
November 

2019 Cash flows Other

31 
October
 2020

RM RM RM RM

Group

Term loans 11,045,238 (1,043,397) - 10,001,841

Lease liabilities - (45,387) 9,884,165 9,838,778

11,045,238 (1,088,784) 9,884,165 19,840,619

1 
November 

2018 Cash flows Other

31 
October 
2019

RM RM RM RM

Group

Term loans 3,575,397 (3,730,159) 11,200,000 11,045,238

37.	 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

	 The Group’s and the Company’s objective when managing capital is to maintain a strong capital base and safeguard the 
Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence 
and to sustain future development of the business. The Directors monitor and determine to maintain an optimal gearing 
ratio that complies with debt covenants and regulatory requirements.

	 The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which are the total interest bearing borrowings over owners’ equity. The 
Group’s policy is to keep the gearing ratio below 0.50. The borrowings include term loans and other loan while owners’ 
equity refers to the equity attributable to the owners of the Company.

Group

2020
RM

2019
RM

Term loans 10,001,841 11,045,238

Lease liabilities 9,838,778 -

19,840,619 11,045,238

Owners’ equity 96,463,808 94,923,938

Debt-to-equity ratio 0.21 0.12

	 There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the financial year.
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38.	 OPERATING SEGMENT 

(i)	 Business segment 

	 For management purposes, the Group is organised into four major business units based on their products and 
services which comprises the following:-

(a)	 Manufacturing and trading	 -	� Manufacturing and sales of precision engineering moulds and other 
precision

(b)	 Investment	 -	 Investment holding, letting of properties and properties investment

(c)	 Plantation	 -	 Cultivation of oil palm

(d)	 Joint property development	 -	 Property development

	 Management monitors the operating results to its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions 
about resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating 
profit or loss which, in certain respects as explained in the table below, is measured differently from operating profit 
or loss in the consolidated financial statements.

	 Transfer prices between operating segments are on negotiated basis.

Note

Manufacturing
and trading

RM
Investment

RM
Plantation

RM

Joint property
development

RM
Elimination

RM
Total
RM

2020

Revenue:-

External revenue 12,733,431 2,062,960 3,179,229 531,350 - 18,506,970

Inter-segment 
revenue 549,033 1,112,000 - - (1,661,033) -

Total revenue 13,282,464 3,174,960 3,179,229 531,350 (1,661,033) 18,506,970

Results:-

Finance income 190,384 331,171 - 70,197 - 591,752

Finance costs (1,996) (361,441) (346,582) - - (710,019)

Depreciation (875,459) - (763,174) - 12,000 (1,626,633)

Other non-cash 
income/
(expenses) (a) (269,698) 100,000 (35,056) - - (204,754)

Tax expense 20,765 (313,774) - (40,971) (1,290) (335,270)

Segment profit/
(loss) 855,266 2,198,055 440,714 186,876 (1,250,161) 2,430,750

Assets:-

Additions to 
non-current 
assets (b) 1,528,463 - 621,335 - - 2,149,798

Segment assets 42,401,374 89,433,754 17,636,450 5,464,667 (30,355,867) 124,580,378

Liabilities:-

Segment 
liabilities 5,182,378 12,888,724 13,761,821 194,050 (3,910,403) 28,116,570
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38.	 OPERATING SEGMENT (CONT’D)

(i)	 Business segment (cont’d)

Note

Manufacturing
and trading

RM
Investment

RM
Plantation

RM

Joint property
development

RM
Elimination

RM
Total
RM

2019

Revenue:-

External revenue 17,435,488 2,114,530 2,126,948 941,758 - 22,618,724

Inter-segment 
revenue 268,669 3,521,600 - - (3,790,269) -

Total revenue 17,704,157 5,636,130 2,126,948 941,758 (3,790,269) 22,618,724

Results:-

Finance income 338,491 150,871 - 80,130 - 569,492

Finance costs - (281,762) (38,874) - - (320,636)

Depreciation and 
amortisation (831,004) - (649,490) (12,999) 12,000 (1,481,493)

Other non-cash 
(expenses)/
income (a) (138,919) 170,000 (170,601) 3,325 - (136,195)

Tax expense (505,321) (361,182) - (112,248) - (978,751)

Segment profit/
(loss) 2,657,891 3,972,914 (618,405) 446,836 (3,101,313) 3,357,923

Assets:-

Additions to 
non-current 
assets (b) 91,178 - 1,012,742 - - 1,103,920

Segment assets 42,117,139 89,162,756 8,669,161 5,800,866 (30,465,950) 115,283,972

Liabilities:-

Segment 
liabilities 5,369,425 13,808,485 5,235,246 217,125 (4,270,247) 20,360,034
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38.	 OPERATING SEGMENT (CONT’D)

(i)	 Business segment (cont’d)

Notes:-

(a)	 Notes to other non-cash (expenses)/income consist of the following items:- 

2020
RM

2019
RM

Fair value gain/(loss) on investment properties 10,000 (5,731)

Fair value gain on bearer biological assets 54,944 8,455

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (1,741) -

Gain on disposal of quoted shares 84,859 93,252

Net fair value loss on other investments (352,427) (203,867)

Net fair value gain/(loss) on derivative financial instruments 3,795 (8,365)

Property, plant and equipment written off (6,893) (1)

Net unrealised gain/(loss) on foreign exchange 2,709 (19,938)

(204,754) (136,195)

(b)	 Additions to non-current assets consist of:- 

2020
RM

2019
RM

Right-of-use assets 889,918 -

Property, plant and equipment 1,259,880 1,103,920

2,149,798 1,103,920

(ii)	 Geographical information

	 Revenue and non-current assets information based on the geographical location of customers and assets 
respectively are as follows:-

 2020  2019 

Revenue
RM

Non-current
Assets

RM
Revenue

RM

Non-current
Assets

RM

Malaysia* 8,593,628 91,146,085 8,570,407 81,079,157

South East Asia 228,266 - 625,278 -

European 6,654,506 - 10,444,794 -

United States 2,954,008 - 2,883,307 -

Others 76,562 - 94,938 -

18,506,970 91,146,085 22,618,724 81,079,157

	 *  The Company’s home country
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38.	 OPERATING SEGMENT (CONT’D)

(iii)	 Information about major customers

	 The following are major customers with revenue equal or more than 10 percent of the Group’s revenue:-

RM % Operating Segment

2020

Customer A 3,112,164 17 Plantation

Customer B 2,617,535 14 Manufacturing and trading

Customer C 2,154,644 12 Manufacturing and trading

Customer D 1,884,306 10 Manufacturing and trading

9,768,649 53

2019

Customer A 3,031,132 13 Manufacturing and trading

Customer B 2,883,307 13 Manufacturing and trading

Customer C 2,561,908 11 Manufacturing and trading

8,476,347 37

39.	 SIGNIFICANT EVENT DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR AND SUBSEQUENT TO THE REPORTING PERIOD

	 On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organisation declared the Coronavirus (“COVID-19”) outbreak as a pandemic in 
recognition of its rapid spread across the globe. On 16 March 2020, the Malaysian Government has imposed the Movement 
Control Order (“MCO”) starting from 18 March 2020 to curb the spread of the COVID-19 outbreak in Malaysia. The COVID-19 
outbreak also resulted in travel restriction, lockdown and other precautionary measures imposed in various countries. 
The emergence of the COVID-19 outbreak since early 2020 has brought significant economic uncertainties in Malaysia and 
markets in which the Group and the Company operates.

	 The Group and the Company are significantly impacted by the COVID-19. As such, the Group and the Company have 
implemented several measures to weather through this current challenging time. The following measures had been taken, 
with further additional efforts to be taken:-

	 Operations

	 The Group and the Company have temporary shut down their premises from 18 March 2020 in alignment with the MCO 
Policy. The Group’s and the Company’s operations resumed gradually from early April 2020 with proper Standard Operating 
Procedures put in place and achieved full operation in early May 2020. The disruption of its operations during the financial 
year due to MCO and the relevant financial impact has been taken into account in the financial results of the Group and of 
the Company.

	 The Government of Malaysia has again imposed the MCO and Conditional Movement Control (“CMCO”) for selected states 
which are severely affected by the COVID-19 on 11 January 2021.

	 The restrictions imposed have not, however, negatively impacted the Group’s and the Company’s financial performance 
as the Group and the Company were allowed to operate throughout the MCO/CMCO, under guidelines set by the National 
Security Council, Ministry of Health and Ministry of International Trade and Industry respectively.

	 As at the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the COVID-19 pandemic situation is still evolving and uncertain. 
The Group and the Company will continue to actively monitor and manage its funds and operations to minimise any impact 
arising from the COVID-19 pandemic.
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ANALYSIS OF
SHAREHOLDINGS

AS AT 15 MARCH 2021

No. of Issued Shares : 40,612,085 (including 3,115,160 treasury shares held)

No. of Shareholders : 1,656

Class of share : Ordinary share

Voting rights : One vote for each ordinary share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Size of Shareholdings No. of Holders No. of Shares * % of Shares*

Malaysian Foreign Malaysian Foreign Malaysian Foreign

less than 100 310 4  10,297  214  0.03  0.00 

100 to 1,000 244 5  154,273  3,500  0.41  0.01 

1,001 to 10,000 895 3  3,138,848  21,500  8.37  0.06 

10,001 to 100,000 166 4  4,416,415  95,700  11.78  0.26 

100,001 to less than 5%  
of issued shares 23 0  12,779,932 -  34.08  -   

5% and above of issued shares 2 0  16,876,246  -    45.01  -   

TOTAL  1,640  16  37,376,011  120,914 99.68% 0.32%

* Treasury shares excluded

LIST OF THIRTY (30) LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

No. Names  No. of Shares % of Shares*

1. AFFLUENT FUTURE SDN BHD  11,480,001 30.62

2. TAN LYE HUAT HOLDINGS SDN BHD  5,396,245 14.39

3. TAN LYE HUAT  1,739,272 4.64

4. TAN AH HENG  1,534,640 4.09

5. TAN KIM LAI  1,075,519 2.87

6. TAN JIN TUAN  1,053,900 2.81

7. TAN YAW BIN  959,990 2.56

8. TAN AI NEE  858,000 2.29

9. TAN ENG LOON  742,149 1.98

10. TAN SOOK YEE  688,828 1.84

11. NG TIONG KANG  611,563 1.63

12. TAN FUNG YING  450,000 1.20

13. TAN ENG YIK  403,300 1.08

14. TAN AI LING  363,600 0.97

15. TAN YAW TUNG  352,088 0.94

16. TAN YAW BIN  324,823 0.87

17. YAYASAN TERENGGANU  307,500 0.82

18. TAN PEI WEI  200,125 0.53

19. NG TIONG KANG  194,700 0.52

20. TAN YAW TUNG  184,705 0.49

21. KHOO KIM WEE  182,200 0.49
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LIST OF THIRTY (30) LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS (CONT’D)

No. Names  No. of Shares % of Shares*

22. LEE KOK HIN  168,200 0.45

23. TAN HO FOOT  148,902 0.40

24. TAN PEI KAH  120,000 0.32

25. TAN SOOK YEE  115,928 0.31

26. PUBLIC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR YOUNG CHUAN KIM (E-KTU)

 100,000 0.27

27. PERBADANNAN KEMAJUAN NEGERI KEDAH  93,758 0.25

28. LOW SIN HO  90,000 0.24

29. KOAY LAY PENG  87,650 0.23

30. RHB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR TAN HO FOOT

 82,000 0.22

*	 Treasury shares excluded

LIST OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

 Direct Interest  Indirect Interest 

No. Names  No. of Shares   % of Shares*  No. of Shares   % of Shares*

1. AFFLUENT FUTURE SDN BHD 11,480,001 30.62 - -

2. TAN LYE HUAT HOLDINGS SDN BHD 5,396,245 14.39 - -

3. TAN LYE HUAT 1,739,272 4.64 19,952,608 53.21@

4. TAN SOOK YEE 804,756 2.15 16,876,246 45.01#

*	 Treasury shares excluded
@	 �Indirect interest via shareholdings in Affluent Future Sdn. Bhd., Tan Lye Huat Holdings Sdn. Bhd. and his children
# 	 Indirect interest via shareholdings in Affluent Future Sdn. Bhd. and Tan Lye Huat Holdings Sdn. Bhd.

DIRECTORS SHAREHOLDINGS

No. Name of Directors  Direct Interest  Indirect Interest 

 No. of Shares % of Shares*  No. of Shares % of Shares*

1. TAN LYE HUAT  1,739,272 4.64 19,952,608@ 53.21 

2. TAN SOOK YEE  804,756 2.15 16,876,246# 45.01 

3. CHU KAN  -    -    -    -   

4. HAU HOCK KHUN  -    -    -    -   

5. RITA TAI LAI LING  -    -    -    -   

6. LIM HOCK AUN  -    -    -    -   

*	 Treasury shares excluded
@	 �Indirect interest via shareholdings in Affluent Future Sdn. Bhd., Tan Lye Huat Holdings Sdn. Bhd. and his children
# 	 Indirect interest via shareholdings in Affluent Future Sdn. Bhd. and Tan Lye Huat Holdings Sdn. Bhd.

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
(CONT’D)
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Location

Date of 
Acquisition (A)/ 
Valuation (V)

Description/ 
Existing use

Land area/
built-up area
(sq metres)

Tenure/
age of buildings

( years)

 Net Book  
 Value 
 RM 

Lot No Pt 1539
52, Jalan SS 25/28
Taman Mayang
47301 Petaling Jaya
Selangor

31/10/2020 (V) 2-storey Terrace
Factory (Corner unit) 

/rented out

481.2 / 987.8 Freehold / 33 3,700,000 

Lot No Pt 1540
50, Jalan SS 25/28
Taman Mayang
47301 Petaling Jaya
Selangor

31/10/2020 (V) 2-storey Terrace
Factory/rented out

185.8 / 371.6 Freehold / 33 1,450,000 

Lot No Pt 1541 
48, Jalan SS 25/28
Taman Mayang
47301 Petaling Jaya
Selangor

31/10/2020 (V) 2-storey Terrace
Factory/rented out

185.8 / 371.6 Freehold / 33 1,450,000 

Lot No Pt 1542
46, Jalan SS 25/28
Taman Mayang
47301 Petaling Jaya
Selangor

31/10/2020 (V) 2-storey Terrace
Factory/rented out

185.8 / 371.6 Freehold / 33 1,450,000 

Lot No Pt 1543
44, Jalan SS 25/28
Taman Mayang
47301 Petaling Jaya
Selangor

31/10/2020 (V) 2-storey Terrace
Factory/rented out

185.8 / 371.6 Freehold / 33 1,450,000 

Lot No Pt 20033* 
6, Jalan TSB 1
Taman Industri Sungai Buloh
47000 Sungai Buloh
Selangor

31/10/2020 (V) Industrial building/factory
 

3715 / 5183 99 year leasehold
(24/03/2091) 
Leasehold / 23

7,800,000 

Lot No Pt 19770*
7, Jalan TSB 9
Taman Industri Sungai Buloh
47000 Sungai Buloh
Selangor

31/10/2020 (V) Factory, Warehouse
and office space

3,633 / 3,189 99 year leasehold
(24/03/2091) 
Leasehold / 23

4,600,000 

Lot 14, Lorong Keluli 1C
Kaw Perindustrian Bukit Raja
Seksyen 8, Shah Alam
Selangor

31/10/2020 (V) Warehouse cum office
/rented out

16,489/13,383 Freehold / 25 33,600,000 

Lot 2581, 2582, 2583, 2584 31/10/2020 (V)

      Land for development

47,063 99 year leasehold
(22/08/2081) 

 

10,790,000 
AND
Lot 2573, 2574, 2575 31/10/2020 (V) 35,354 99 year leasehold

(26/10/2081) 
AND
Lot 2592 and PT47
Mukim of Ijuk
Daerah Kuala Selangor
Negeri Selangor

31/10/2020 (V) 22,250 99 year leasehold
(22/08/2081) 

* Leasehold land reclassified as Right-of-Use Assets

LIST OF
PROPERTIES
AS AT 31 OCTOBER 2020
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NOTICE OF
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Twenty-Sixth Annual General Meeting (“26th AGM”) of Kumpulan H & L High-Tech Berhad (“the 
Company”) will be held at Green III, ClubHouse, Tropicana Golf and Country Resort, Jalan Kelab Tropicana, 47410 Petaling Jaya, 
Selangor Darul Ehsan on Wednesday, 28 April 2021 at 11.00 a.m., to transact the following businesses:-

A G E N D A

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 October 2020 
together with the Reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon.

[Please refer to Explanatory 
Note 1 on Ordinary Business]

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of up to RM76,000 for the financial year ending 31 
October 2021. 

(Ordinary Resolution 1)
[Please refer to Explanatory 
Note 2 on Ordinary Business]

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ benefits of up to RM130,000 for the period from the 
conclusion of the 26th AGM until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

(Ordinary Resolution 2
 [Please refer to Explanatory 
Note 2 on Ordinary Business]

4. To re-elect the following Directors who retire pursuant to Clause 76(3) of the Constitution of 
the Company:-

[Please refer to Explanatory 
Note 3 on Ordinary Business]

(i)	 Ms Tan Sook Yee (Ordinary Resolution 3)
(ii)	 Mr Hau Hock Khun (Ordinary Resolution 4)

5. To re-elect Mr Lim Hock Aun who retires in accordance with Clause 78 of the Constitution of 
the Company.

(Ordinary Resolution 5)
[Please refer to Explanatory 
Note 3 on Ordinary Business]

6. To re-appoint Grant Thornton Malaysia PLT as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the 
Directors to fix their remuneration.

(Ordinary Resolution 6)
[Please refer to Explanatory 
Note 4 on Ordinary Business]

SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and if thought fit, to pass with or without modifications, the following Ordinary 
Resolutions:-

7. ORDINARY RESOLUTION
AUTHORITY TO ISSUE AND ALLOT SHARES PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 75 AND 76 OF THE 
COMPANIES ACT 2016 

[Please refer to Explanatory 
Note 5 on Special Business]

“THAT subject always to the Companies Act, 2016 (“the Act”), the Constitution of the 
Company, Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) Main Market Listing 
Requirements and the approvals of the relevant governmental/regulatory authorities (if 
any), the Directors be and are hereby authorised pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Act, 
to issue and allot shares in the Company, from time to time, at such price, upon such terms 
and conditions, and for such purposes and to such person or persons whomsoever as the 
Directors may in their absolute discretion deem fit provided that the aggregate number of 
shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution does not exceed ten per centum (10%) of the 
total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) of the Company for the time being 
AND THAT the Directors be and are hereby also empowered to obtain the approval for the 
listing of and quotation for additional shares so issued from Bursa Securities AND FURTHER 
THAT such authority shall continue to be in force until the conclusion of the next Annual 
General Meeting of the Company after the approval was given or at the expiry of the period 
within which the next Annual General Meeting is required to be held after the approval was 
given, whichever is earlier, unless such approval is revoked or varied by the Company at a 
general meeting.”

(Ordinary Resolution 7)
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(CONT’D)

8. ORDINARY RESOLUTION
PROPOSED RENEWAL OF AUTHORITY FOR SHARE BUY-BACK

[Please refer to Explanatory 
Note 6 on Special Business]

“THAT subject always to the Companies Act 2016 (“the Act”), the Constitution of the Company, 
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) Main Market Listing Requirements 
(“Listing Requirements”) and all other applicable laws, guidelines, rules and regulations, the 
Company be and is hereby authorised, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to purchase 
such number of issued shares in the Company as may be determined by the Directors of the 
Company from time to time through Bursa Securities upon such terms and conditions as the 
Directors may deem fit and expedient in the interest of the Company provided that:-

(Ordinary Resolution 8)

(i)	 the aggregate number of issued shares in the Company (“Shares”) purchased (“Purchased 
Shares”) and/or held as treasury shares pursuant to this ordinary resolution does not 
exceed ten per centum (10%) of the total number of issued shares of the Company as 
quoted on Bursa Securities as at point of purchase; and

(ii)	 the maximum fund to be allocated by the Company for the purpose of purchasing the 
shares shall not exceed the aggregate of the retained profits of the Company based on 
the latest audited financial statements and/or the latest management accounts (where 
applicable) available at the time of the purchase,

(“Proposed Share Buy-Back”).

AND THAT the authority to facilitate the Proposed Share Buy-Back will commence 
immediately upon passing of this Ordinary Resolution and will continue to be in force until:-
(a)	 the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company following 

at which time the authority shall lapse unless by ordinary resolution passed at the 
meeting, the authority is renewed, either unconditionally or subject to conditions;

(b)	 the expiration of the period within which the next AGM of the Company is required by 
law to be held; or

(c)	 revoked or varied by ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company at 
a general meeting,

whichever occurs first, but shall not prejudice the completion of purchase(s) by the Company 
of its own Shares before the aforesaid expiry date and, in any event, in accordance with the 
Listing Requirements and any applicable laws, rules, regulations, orders, guidelines and 
requirements issued by any relevant authorities.

AND THAT the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised, at their discretion, 
to deal with the Purchased Shares until all the Purchased Shares have been dealt with by 
the Directors in the following manner as may be permitted by the Act, Listing Requirements, 
applicable laws, rules, regulations, guidelines, requirements and/or orders of any relevant 
authorities for the time being in force:-
i.	 To cancel all or part of the Purchased Shares;
ii.	 To retain all or part of the Purchased Shares as treasury shares as defined in Section 127 

of the Act;
iii.	 To distribute all or part of the treasury shares as dividends to the shareholders of the 

Company;
iv. 	 To resell all or part of the treasury shares; 
v.	 To transfer all or part of the treasury shares for the purposes of or under the employees’ 

share scheme established by the Company and/or its subsidiaries;
vi.	 To transfer all or part of the treasury shares as purchase consideration; 
vii.	 To sell, transfer or otherwise use the shares for such other purposes as the Minister 

charged with the responsibility for companies may by order prescribe; and/or
viii.	 To deal with the treasury shares in the manners as allowed by the Act, Listing 

Requirements, applicable laws, rules, regulations, guidelines, requirements and/or 
orders of any relevant authorities for the time being in force.
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AND THAT the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to take all such steps 
as are necessary or expedient [including without limitation, the opening and maintaining 
of central depository account(s) under Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act, 1991, 
and the entering into all other agreements, arrangements and guarantee with any party or 
parties] to implement, finalise and give full effect to the Proposed Share Buy-Back Authority 
with full powers to assent to any conditions, modifications, revaluations, variations and/or 
amendments (if any) as may be imposed by the relevant authorities.”

9. ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS
CONTINUATION IN OFFICE AS INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

[Please refer to Explanatory 
Note 7 on Special Business]

“THAT approval be and is hereby given for Mr Chu Kan who has served as an Independent 
Non-Executive Director of the Company for a cumulative term of more than nine (9) years, to 
continue to act as an Independent Director of the Company to hold office until the conclusion 
of next Annual General Meeting of the Company.”

(Ordinary Resolution 9)

“THAT approval be and is hereby given for Ms Rita Tai Lai Ling who has served as an 
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company for a cumulative term of more than 
nine (9) years, to continue to act as an Independent Director of the Company to hold office 
until the conclusion of next Annual General Meeting of the Company.”

(Ordinary Resolution 10)

“THAT subject to the passing of Resolution 4 above, approval be and is hereby given for Mr 
Hau Hock Khun who has served as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company 
for a cumulative term of more than nine (9) years, to continue to act as an Independent 
Director of the Company to hold office until the conclusion of next Annual General Meeting 
of the Company.”

(Ordinary Resolution 11)

10. To transact any other business of which due notice shall have been given.

By Order Of the Board

WONG WAI FOONG [SSM PC NO. 202008001472 (MAICSA 7001358)]
NG BEE LIAN [SSM PC NO. 201908003459 (MAICSA 7041392)]
YAP SIT LEE [SSM PC NO. 202008001865 (MAICSA 7028098)]
Company Secretaries 

Kuala Lumpur
30 March 2021

NOTES:- 

1.	 For the purpose of determining who shall be entitled to attend this 26th AGM, the Company shall be requesting Bursa Malaysia Depository Sdn. 
Bhd. to make available to the Company, the Record of Depositors as at 21 April 2021. Only a member whose name appears on this Record of 
Depositors shall be entitled to attend this 26th AGM or appoint a proxy to attend, speak and vote on his/her/its behalf.

2.	 A member entitled to attend and vote at this 26th AGM is entitled to appoint a proxy or attorney or in the case of a corporation, to appoint a 
duly authorised representative to attend, participate, speak and vote in his/her place. A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company.

3.	 A member of the Company who is entitled to attend and vote at a General Meeting of the Company may appoint not more than two (2) proxies 
to attend, participate, speak and vote instead of the member at the General Meeting.

4.	 If two (2) proxies are appointed, the entitlement of those proxies to vote on a show of hands shall be in accordance with the Listing Requirements 
of the stock exchange.

5.	 Where a member of the Company is an authorised nominee as defined in the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991 (“Central 
Depositories Act”), it may appoint not more than two (2) proxies in respect of each securities account it holds in ordinary shares of the Company 
standing to the credit of the said securities account.

6.	 Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners 
in one securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint 
in respect of each omnibus account it holds. An exempt authorised nominee refers to an authorised nominee defined under the Central 
Depositories Act which is exempted from compliance with the provisions of Section 25A(1) of the Central Depositories Act.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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7.	 Where a member appoints more than one (1) proxy, the proportion of shareholdings to be represented by each proxy must be specified in the 
instrument appointing the proxies.

8.	 The appointment of a proxy may be made in a hard copy form or by electronic means in the following manner and must be received by the 
Company not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the General Meeting or adjourned General Meeting at 
which the person named in the appointment proposes to vote:-
(i)	 In hard copy form
	 In the case of an appointment made in hard copy form, this proxy form must be deposited at the Share Registrar of the Company at 11th 

Floor, Menara Symphony, No. 5, Jalan Prof. Khoo Kay Kim, Seksyen 13, 46200 Petaling Jaya, Selangor.
(ii)	 By electronic means via facsimile
	 In the case of an appointment made via facsimile transmission, this proxy form must be received at 03-7890 4670.
	 For option (ii), the Company may request any member to deposit original executed proxy form to its Share Registrar before or on the day 

of meeting for verification purpose.
9.	 Any authority pursuant to which such an appointment is made by a power of attorney must be deposited at the Share Registrar of the 

Company at 11th Floor, Menara Symphony, No. 5, Jalan Prof. Khoo Kay Kim, Seksyen 13, 46200 Petaling Jaya, Selangor not less than forty-
eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the General Meeting or adjourned General Meeting at which the person named in the 
appointment proposes to vote. A copy of the power of attorney may be accepted provided that it is certified notarially and/or in accordance 
with the applicable legal requirements in the relevant jurisdiction in which it is executed.

10.	 Please ensure ALL the particulars as required in this proxy form are completed, signed and dated accordingly. 
11.	 Last date and time for lodging this proxy form is Monday, 26 April 2021 at 11.00 a.m.
12.	 Please bring an ORIGINAL of the following identification papers (where applicable) and present it to the registration staff for verification:-

(a)	 Identity card (NRIC) (Malaysian), or
(b)	 Police report (for loss of NRIC) / Temporary NRIC (Malaysian), or
(c)	 Passport (Foreigner).

13.	 For a corporate member who has appointed a representative instead of a proxy to attend this 26th AGM, please bring the ORIGINAL certificate 
of appointment executed in the manner as stated in this proxy form if this has not been lodged at the Company’s registered office earlier.

EXPLANATORY NOTES ON ORDINARY BUSINESS 

1.	 Audited Financial Statements for the Financial Year Ended 31 October 2020 

	 This item is meant for discussion only as the provision of Section 340(1) of the Companies Act 2016 does not require a formal approval of the 
shareholders for the Audited Financial Statements. Hence, this item of the Agenda is not put forward for voting.

2.	 Ordinary Resolutions 1 and 2 – Payment of Directors’ Fees and Benefits

	 Pursuant to Section 230(1) of the Companies Act, 2016, the fees of the Directors and any benefits payable to the Directors of a listed company 
and its subsidiaries shall be approved at a general meeting.

	 The proposed Ordinary Resolution 1 is to facilitate the payment of Directors’ fees for the current financial year basis, calculated based on the 
size of the current Board of Directors (“Board”).

 
	 The proposed Ordinary Resolution 2 for the Directors’ benefits are benefits payable to the Executive Directors and meeting allowances payable 

to Non-Executive Directors and in determining the estimated amount, the Board has considered various factors including the current Board 
size and the number of scheduled Board and Committee meetings as well as additional two Board/Committee meetings (if required) for the 
period from the conclusion of the 26th AGM until the next AGM. 

	 In the event the proposed amount of Directors’ fees and/or benefits are insufficient (e.g. due to more meetings or enlarged Board size), 
approval will be sought at the next AGM for the under-provision. 

3.	 Ordinary Resolutions 3 to 5 – Re-election of Directors

	 Ms Tan Sook Yee, Mr Hau Hock Khun and Mr Lim Hock Aun are standing for re-election as Directors of the Company and being eligible, have 
offered themselves for re-election at the 26th AGM. 

	 The Board has through the Nomination Committee, considered the assessment of Ms Tan Sook Yee and Mr Hau Hock Khun and agreed that they 
meet the criteria as prescribed by Paragraph 2.20A of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) Main Market Listing Requirements 
(“Listing Requirements”) on character, experience, integrity, competence and time to effectively discharge their roles as Directors.

	 The Nomination Committee had prior to the appointment of Mr Lim Hock Aun on 21 October 2020 conducted assessment on him, and the 
Nomination Committee and Board agreed that Mr Lim Hock Aun meets the criteria as prescribed by Paragraph 2.20A of Bursa Securities Listing 
Requirements on character, experience, integrity, competence and time to effectively discharge his role as Director.

	 The Board has also through the Nomination Committee conducted an assessment on the independence of Mr Hau Hock Khun and satisfied 
that he has complied with the criteria on independence as prescribed by the Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities.
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4.	 Ordinary Resolution 6 – Re-appointment of Auditors

	 The Board has through the Audit Committee, considered the re-appointment of Grant Thornton Malaysia PLT as External Auditors of the 
Company. The factors considered by the Audit Committee in making the recommendation to the Board to table the re-appointment of Grant 
Thornton Malaysia PLT at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, included an assessment of the Auditors’ independence and objectivity, 
calibre and quality process/performance.

EXPLANATORY NOTES ON SPECIAL BUSINESS

5.	 Ordinary Resolution 7 – Authority to Issue and Allot Shares pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act 2016

	 The proposed Ordinary Resolution 7 is the renewal of the mandate obtained from the members at the last Annual General Meeting (“the 
previous mandate”). The previous mandate was not utilised and accordingly no proceeds were raised.

	 The proposed Ordinary Resolution 7, if passed, would provide flexibility to the Directors to undertake fund raising activities, including but not 
limited to placement of shares for the purpose of funding the Company’s future investment project(s), working capital and/or acquisition(s), 
by the issuance of shares in the Company to such persons at any time as the Directors may deem fit provided that the aggregate number of 
shares issued pursuant to the mandate does not exceed ten per centum (10%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) 
of the Company for the time being, without having to convene a general meeting. This authority, unless revoked or varied by the Company in 
a general meeting, will expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or at the expiry of the period within which 
the next Annual General Meeting is required to be held after the approval was given, whichever is earlier.

6.	 Ordinary Resolution 8 – Proposed Renewal of Authority for Share Buy-Back

	 The proposed Ordinary Resolution 8, if passed, will allow the Company to purchase its own shares through Bursa Securities up to ten per 
centum (10%) of the total number of issued shares of the Company. 

	 Please refer to the Statement to Shareholders dated 30 March 2021 in relation to the Proposed Renewal of Authority for Share Buy-Back for 
further information.

7.	 Ordinary Resolutions 9 to 11 – Continuation in Office as Independent Directors

	 Pursuant to the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance, it is recommended that approval of shareholders be sought in the event the 
Company intends to retain an Independent Director who has served in that capacity for more than nine (9) years. 

	 Mr Chu Kan, Ms Rita Tai Lai Ling and Mr Hau Hock Khun were appointed to the Board on 2 September 1997, 23 June 2009 and 5 August 2009 
respectively and have therefore served as an Independent Director of the Company for a cumulative term for more than nine (9) years.  

	 The Board has through the Nomination Committee assessed the independence of Mr Chu Kan, Ms Rita Tai Lai Ling and Mr Hau Hock Khun, and 
recommended them to continue to act as Independent Directors of the Company based on the following justifications:- 

(i)	 they have fulfilled the criteria under the definition on Independent Director as stated in the Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities and, 
therefore, were able to bring independent and objective judgement to the Board;

(ii)	 they have been with the Company for many years and were familiar with the Company’s business operations and the plastic mould 
injection industry market, thus enabling them to contribute actively and effectively during deliberations or discussions at Board meetings; 

(iii)	 their length of services on the Board does not in any way interfere with their exercise of independent judgement. They have remained 
objective and independent in expressing their views and participating in deliberation and decision making of the Board and Board 
Committees;

(iv)	 their vast experience in audit, finance and laws enable them to provide the Board, as the case may be, with pertinent expertise, skills and 
competence;

(v)	 they have continued to exercise their independence and due care during their tenure as Independent Directors of the Company and 
carried out their duties in the interest of the Company and shareholders; and  

(vi)	 they have devoted sufficient time and commitment to discharge their responsibilities as Independent Directors. 

	 The proposed Ordinary Resolutions 9 to 11, if passed, will enable Mr Chu Kan, Ms Rita Tai Lai Ling and Mr Hau Hock Khun to continue to act as 
Independent Directors of the Company until the conclusion of next Annual General Meeting of the Company.
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KUMPULAN H&L HIGH-TECH BERHAD 	 PROXY FORM
[199401032123 (317805-V)]  
(INCORPORATED IN MALAYSIA)

I/We,  Tel.: 
		  [Full name in block and as per NRIC/Passport/Company Registration No.]

of 
(Address)

being a member of Kumpulan H & L High-Tech Berhad, hereby appoint:-

Full Name (in Block and as per NRIC/Passport) NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings
No. of Shares %

Address

and / or* (*delete as appropriate)

Full Name (in Block and as per NRIC/Passport) NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings
No. of Shares %

Address

or failing him/her, the Chairperson of the Meeting as ^my/our proxy to vote for ^me/us and on ^my/our behalf, at the Twenty-Sixth Annual General 
Meeting (“26th AGM”) of the Company to be held at Green III, ClubHouse, Tropicana Golf and Country Resort, Jalan Kelab Tropicana, 47410 
Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan on Wednesday, 28 April 2021 at 11.00 p.m. or any adjournment thereof, and to vote as indicated below:-

NO. RESOLUTIONS FOR AGAINST

1. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of up to RM76,000 for the financial year ending 31 October 2021.

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ benefits of up to RM130,000 for the period from the conclusion of the 
26th AGM until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

3. To re-elect Ms Tan Sook Yee, who retires pursuant to Clause 76(3) of the Company’s Constitution, as Director.

4. To re-elect Mr Hau Hock Khun, who retires pursuant to Clause 76(3) of the Company’s Constitution, as 
Director.

5. To re-elect Mr Lim Hock Aun, who retires pursuant to Clause 78 of the Company’s Constitution, as Director.

6. To re-appoint Messrs Grant Thornton Malaysia PLT as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors 
to fix their remuneration.

7. To grant authority to Directors to issue and allot shares pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies 
Act 2016.

8. To approve the Proposed Renewal of Authority for Share Buy-Back.

9. To approve Mr Chu Kan to continue to act as an Independent Director.

10. To approve Ms Rita Tai Lai Ling to continue to act as an Independent Director.

11. To approve Mr Hau Hock Khun to continue to act as an Independent Director.

Please indicate with an “X” in the space provided whether you wish your votes to be cast for or against the resolutions. In the absence of specific 
direction, your proxy will vote or abstain as he/she thinks fit.

Signed this  day of 	

*Manner of execution:-	 	
(a)	 If you are an individual member, please sign where indicated.
(b)	 If you are a corporate member which has a common seal, this proxy form should be executed under seal in accordance with the constitution of your corporation.
(c)	 If you are a corporate member which does not have a common seal, this proxy form should be affixed with the rubber stamp of your company (if any) and executed by:

(i)	 at least two (2) authorised officers, of whom one shall be a director; or
(ii)	 any director and/or authorised officers in accordance with the laws of the country under which your corporation is incorporated.

NOTES:-
1.	 For the purpose of determining who shall be entitled to attend this 26th AGM, the Company shall be requesting Bursa Malaysia Depository Sdn. Bhd. to make available to the 

Company, the Record of Depositors as at 21 April 2021. Only a member whose name appears on this Record of Depositors shall be entitled to attend this 26th AGM or appoint a 
proxy to attend, speak and vote on his/her/its behalf.

2.	 A member entitled to attend and vote at this 26th AGM is entitled to appoint a proxy or attorney or in the case of a corporation, to appoint a duly authorised representative to 
attend, participate, speak and vote in his/her place. A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company.

3.	 A member of the Company who is entitled to attend and vote at a General Meeting of the Company may appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend, participate, speak and 
vote instead of the member at the General Meeting.

4.	 If two (2) proxies are appointed, the entitlement of those proxies to vote on a show of hands shall be in accordance with the Listing Requirements of the stock exchange.
5.	 Where a member of the Company is an authorised nominee as defined in the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991 (“Central Depositories Act”), it may appoint not 

more than two (2) proxies in respect of each securities account it holds in ordinary shares of the Company standing to the credit of the said securities account.
6.	 Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners in one securities account 

(“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds. An exempt 
authorised nominee refers to an authorised nominee defined under the Central Depositories Act which is exempted from compliance with the provisions of Section 25A(1) of the 
Central Depositories Act.

7.	 Where a member appoints more than one (1) proxy, the proportion of shareholdings to be represented by each proxy must be specified in the instrument appointing the proxies.
8.	 The appointment of a proxy may be made in a hard copy form or by electronic means in the following manner and must be received by the Company not less than forty-eight (48) 

hours before the time appointed for holding the General Meeting or adjourned General Meeting at which the person named in the appointment proposes to vote:-
(i)	 In hard copy form
	 In the case of an appointment made in hard copy form, this proxy form must be deposited at the Share Registrar of the Company at 11th Floor, Menara Symphony, No. 5, Jalan 

Prof. Khoo Kay Kim, Seksyen 13, 46200 Petaling Jaya, Selangor.
(ii)	 By electronic means via facsimile
	 In the case of an appointment made via facsimile transmission, this proxy form must be received at 03-7890 4670.
	 For option (ii), the Company may request any member to deposit original executed proxy form to its Share Registrar before or on the day of meeting for verification purpose.

9.	 Any authority pursuant to which such an appointment is made by a power of attorney must be deposited at the Share Registrar of the Company at 11th Floor, Menara Symphony, 
No. 5, Jalan Prof. Khoo Kay Kim, Seksyen 13, 46200 Petaling Jaya, Selangor not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the General Meeting or 
adjourned General Meeting at which the person named in the appointment proposes to vote. A copy of the power of attorney may be accepted provided that it is certified 
notarially and/or in accordance with the applicable legal requirements in the relevant jurisdiction in which it is executed.

10.	 Please ensure ALL the particulars as required in this proxy form are completed, signed and dated accordingly. 
11.	 Last date and time for lodging this proxy form is Monday, 26 April 2021 at 11.00 a.m.
12.	 Please bring an ORIGINAL of the following identification papers (where applicable) and present it to the registration staff for verification:-

(a)	 Identity card (NRIC) (Malaysian), or
(b)	 Police report (for loss of NRIC) / Temporary NRIC (Malaysian), or
(c)	 Passport (Foreigner).

13.	 For a corporate member who has appointed a representative instead of a proxy to attend this 26th AGM, please bring the ORIGINAL certificate of appointment executed in the 
manner as stated in this proxy form if this has not been lodged at the Company’s registered office earlier

Signature*
Member

CDS Account No.

No. of Shares held



1st Fold Here

Then Fold Here

Fold this flap for sealing

KUMPULAN H & L HIGH-TECH BERHAD 
[199401032123 (317805-V)]  

c/o Boardroom Share Registrars Sdn Bhd
11th Floor, Menara Symphony 
No. 5, Jalan Prof. Khoo Kay Kim
Seksyen 13, 46200 Petaling Jaya
Selangor Darul Ehsan.

AFFIX
STAMP





KUMPULAN H & L HIGH-TECH BERHAD
[199401032123 (317805-V)]

������������������

�
�
�
��
���

��
��
����

��
�
�����

�
��
�
��
���
�����

�
�
����

��	
�������

KUMPULAN H & L HIGH-TECH BERHAD
[199401032123 (317805-V)]

������������������������������
��
����	�
������
���������	�
�������������	�����������
���������

��

���������������������� �­����������������

�������
	���������

20
�����	����
�	
	�������

�������

������������
��
��


